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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Youzan Limited (the “Company together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group, “Youzan” or “We”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make this report or any statement
herein misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RS IEE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

MEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-_A=+—HLEE

2022 2021 Changes
—®--x —=-_—i i
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AREBFRT AR®BTT %
Revenue W= 1,496,977 1,569,991 4.7)
Gross profit EF 961,922 952,263 1.0
Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%) 64.3 60.7
Loss before tax PRI ATES1E (658,407)  (3,251,782) (79.8)
Loss for the year REEEIR (645,760)  (3,293,020) (80.4)
Loss attributable to owners of KNABIHER AEILEE
the Company (303,089) (2,509,498) (87.9)
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KAERFERETER
depreciation and amortisation BiERIEE REER)
(unaudited) (339,537) (876,549) (61.3)
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year BB FEIFEBHHFRSE
(unaudited) BB CREBER) (394,791) (904,037) (56.3)
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS BB REE
As at 31 December
w+ZBR=+—H
2022 2021 Changes
—®--x —=-_—i g1
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AREFRT AR®BTET %
Current assets RYEE 4,951,702 4,903,752 1.0
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,608,023 1,969,223 (18.3)
Total assets BELLE 6,559,725 6,872,975 (4.6)
Current liabilities REAR 5,251,897 5,097,324 3.0
Non-current liabilities FERBas 262,833 438,828 (40.1)
Total liabilities BRAELE 5,514,730 5,536,152 (0.4)
Net current liabilities MEBEFE (300,195) (193,5672) 55.1
Equity attributable to owners of RABHEE AELER
the Company 1,413,178 1,346,466 5.0
Non-controlling interests R R (368,183) (9,643) 3,718.1
Total equity TEm 4B %R 1,044,995 1,336,823 (21.8)
FEAEARAT —S- 4R 005



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERESE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, and
| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all shareholders
and express my appreciation to all the staff of the Group for
their unremitting efforts.

2022 was a particularly difficult year for the entire industry. The
operations of our brand merchants and offline store retailers
faced tremendous challenges in the past year. The undulating
COVID-19 pandemic also posed great challenges to our own
operations.

However, we still achieved gratifying results in 2022.

We upgraded the “private domain operation solutions” to
help merchants attain GMV of approximately RMB101.4 billion,
and the GMV of channels other than Kuaishou increased by
approximately 19% yearon-year. The average annual sales of a
single merchant exceeded RMB1.2 million in 2022, representing
an increase of approximately 9% year-on-year. The proportion
of targeted merchants increased to 47%, with a renewal rate
exceeding 75%.

In the past year, Youzan WeiMall continued to update and
iterate, which contributed major updates and gained industry-
leading advantages in the segments of community group
purchase and distribution, Video Account e-commerce and
Xiaohongshu, etc. Mini-programs and solutions for various
industries continued to maintain their industry-leading
advantages. Youzan Chain, Youzan WeCom Assistant, Youzan
Salespeople Assistant, and Youzan CRM which are related to
Youzan New Retail all developed into matured products and
gained industry-leading advantages. Youzan Beauty made
a series of solution upgrades for chain stores and medium
to large merchants, maintaining absolute leading industry
advantages. AllValue maintained its clear value point in the
overseas Chinese market with absolute leading advantages.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERE=

Thanks to the improvement of customer acquisition capabilities
in the market, especially the improvement of capabilities
of the content marketing and growth laboratory (M2L) and
telemarketing team, as well as the improvement of business
capabilities of direct sales and channel partners, the sales
efficiency of new paying merchants and comprehensive sales
efficiency have both improved significantly in last year.

Through the optimization of personnel structure and collaboration
processes, the improvement of the professionalism of service
personnel and upgrades of tools, etc., we achieved an annual
revenue of nearly RMB1.5 billion. The annual output value per
capita increased from RMB380,000 to RMB570,000, with a
consecutive increase in net cash balance in the third quarter
and fourth quarter and the adjusted earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation in the fourth quarter was
approximately RMB7.15 million.

From an internal perspective, our growth over the past year was
tremendous.

Through a series of activities such as the “New Retail Private
Sharing Meeting” and “Reality Stream (Youzan Top-tier
Merchants Club) we have implemented two core strategic
organizational capabilities of “truly understand the needs of
merchants” and “become a true value creator, and achieved
80% of Youzan people are frontline workers directly facing
merchants.

We achieved a leap forward in our management and
operational capabilities. It is not only the improvement of the
management team’s operation awareness, the clarification
and implementation of management principles, and the
establishment of systematic management mechanisms but also
the achievement of the capability to timely adjust strategies and
manage budgets in conjunction with changes in the external
environment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERESE

The accumulation and transmission of knowledge of the
professionalized team have changed substantially. For example,
a summary of best practices like “Customer Success Guiding
Book" not only helps the service team to improve the efficiency
of helping merchants to achieve success in commerce but
also helps the sales team to attain the rapid development of
exclusive solutions for merchants. For example, the “Youzan
SaaS Workbook” has been recognized by many peers after
comparison due to unexpected external sharing; etc.

In 2023, the keynote of Youzan will be “striving to pursue the
accumulation of a better business base and organizational
capabilities while maintaining healthy profitability and
reasonable human resources efficiency; to be one of the first
batch of profitable medium-sized enterprise service companies
in China, and the first echelon of enterprise service companies
capable of greeting the recovery of the general environment’.

Firstly, continuous value creation is the fundamental driving
force of our work. With more advanced product experience
and traffic resources, we need to gradually strengthen our
system delivery capability to merchants and our capability to
help them implement their operation strategies, so that more
merchants can better use Youzan's system through support
actions other than these products, and expand the proportion
of private domain business in the customer’s business portfolio,
thus enabling us to get more customer renewals. We will
change our software service from a SaaS-based system to a
more comprehensive solution service and upgrade from “A
Better Business with Youzan” to “Coming to Youzan for a Better
Business” In addition to these support actions, we should
also have more operational services and value-added services
to help merchants continue to increase their GMV, while also
increasing our own value-added revenue.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERE=

Secondly, in 2023, we need to achieve small-scale operating
profitability under the premise of steady business growth and
eventually enable all our businesses to become profitable.
At the same time, we need to continue to improve the
accumulation and transmission of knowledge and continuously
enhance the efficiency of collaboration by optimizing the
operation process, so as to achieve the continuous increase
of annual per capita output. We need to refrain from recruiting
intermediate roles and increasing personnel at managers and
management levels, and deploy more resources to be directly
invested in merchant service by allocating more personnel to
the front line.

Organizational growth is a topic we have been constantly facing,
as excellent organizational capabilities can not only help to attain
strategies but also expand a greater space for strategic options.
Outstanding organizational capabilities coexist with society and
also develop together. Only by realizing the mutual benefits of
the stakeholders can the long-term sustainable development of
an organization be assured. A good organization should enable
everyone in it to create their own value, gain growth and receive
rewards, and should be able to bring positive influence to
society, allowing us to recognize the significance of this career
from the bottom of our heart.

The year 2022 marks the beginning of Youzan's watershed. We
have gradually grown from “rampaging” young people to adults
who “focus on creating value for merchants and maintaining
stable business operations”’ For the future, however, we are still

teenagers full of passion.

Heartfelt thanks to all of you!

Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, the PRC, 23 March 2023
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ABOUT YOUZAN
FRBEE

The Company is an innovative investment holding company
with limited liability committed to providing online and offline
e-commerce solutions which also known as SaaS (Software
as a Service) and various payment services for merchants.
Our Group consists of the Company, Shenzhen Zhongchuang
Internet Service Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, Country Praise
Enterprises Limited (“CPE") and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“CPE Group”) and Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Youzan Group”). We are principally engaged in the
merchant service and payment service business in the People's
Republic of China (the “"PRC"). As of 31 December 2022,
our operation consists of five operating segments, namely (i)
merchant services — provision of a variety of SaaS products and
comprehensive services in the PRC through Youzan Group; (ii)
third party payment services; (iiij Onecomm — provision of third
party payment system solutions and sales of integrated smart
point of sales devices; (iv) general trading and (v) others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

}E u—,tuHHEZ \jtﬁ

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Youzan provides merchants with powerful social network-based
SaaS systems with multi-channel operations and integrated new
retail solutions, applying PaaS cloud service to create business
customization options, while providing extended services such
as Youzan Worry-free Shopping, Youzan Distribution and Youzan
Promotion. We help every merchant who values products and
services privatize customer assets, expand internet customer
base, improve business efficiency, and help their business
comprehensively succeed in all aspects.

We offer a wide variety of cloud-based commerce services
to merchants through our subscription solutions, a suite of
SaaS products such as Youzan WeiMall, Youzan Retail, Youzan
Chain, Youzan Beauty and Youzan Education. In addition,
leveraging our Youzan Cloud platform and our PaaS capabilities,
we also provide customised services for merchants and offer
applications by third-party developers on our Youzan App
Market.

We also provide merchants with merchant solutions, a series of
value-added services to address merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including payment services, merchandise
sourcing and distribution, consumer protection and online traffic
monetisation. Merchant solutions mainly include Youzan Worry-
free Shopping, Youzan Distribution, and Youzan Promotion.

In 2022, we achieved significant improvements in operating
efficiency and annual per capita output reached to
approximately RMB570,000, increased by approximately 51%
yearon-year. In early 2022, we restructured the organisational
structure to clarify development strategic direction, optimise
business development path and enhance organisational
collaboration efficiency. We optimised the deployment of middle
and back-ends departments, and recalibrated job duties and
division of labour to optimise the collaboration process. At the
same time, we achieved a quarteron-quarter decrease in sales
expenses ratio by optimising and improving sales efficiency,
and a yearon-year decrease in R&D expenses by focusing our
R&D resources on the core scenario demands of our target
customer base. In 2022, we increased our focus on precise
costs and expenses control, with significant year-on-year
decrease in various expenses and significant quarteron-quarter
improvements in operating cash flow and operating results. We
achieved two consecutive quarterly increases in cash balances
in the third and fourth quarters. Adjusted earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation was approximately
RMB7.15 million in the fourth quarter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB

In the first half of 2022, Youzan announced that its business
has been fully upgraded from “store opening marketing
solutions” to “private domain operation solutions’ which is
to help customers to make plans and strategic priorities for
private domain business based on the customer’s overall
business planning and phased business challenges, and provide
a suitable portfolio of products and services to help customers
who are treasuring private domain to create incremental
value and achieve digital upgrades. The new “private domain
operation model” of Youzan is consumercentered, which opens
up the consumer journey of “connection, reach, conversion and
loyalty” It clarifies the value creation, key indicators and key
actions of each step to help customers opening up online and
offline business scenario and improve consumers’ end-to-end
experience.

We divide the core customer into three categories: content
monetization, brand DTC and store digitization. According to
the respective characteristics and challenges of these three
categories of customers, we provide them with comprehensive
solutions based on their industry attributes, development
stages and business goals. Our sales teams are more focused
on the precise expansion of target customers, and take into
account the specific business scenarios of customers to
promote and sell solutions that match their demands. For
e-commerce customers, we focus on the four core scenarios
of distribution, community, membership and live streaming
to develop e-commerce private domain operation solutions
through offering product and service portfolios. For store
customers, we focus on the scenario of integrating online and
offline operations to develop store private domain solutions
through offering product and service portfolios. For customers
with customer operation demands, we provided “Youzan
customer operation solutions” to help merchants seamlessly
connect consumer information from all public and private
operation channels, analysed and focused on the demands of
target consumers at various stages according to their whole
life cycle, formulated precise customer profiles through data
insights, and carried out automated precision marketing
and membership value-added marketing to help merchants
achieving performance improvements in whole-life cycle, whole-
scenario and whole-chain.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Solutions of Youzan New Retail focused on two major customer
bases: store digitisation and brand DTC, assisting chain stores
and brand merchants in establishing private domain traffic
pools, invigorating online and offline consumers, and deeply
exploring the value of private domain assets by “focusing
on consumers” Through offering the Youzan's self-developed
consumer operation platforms, including the product matrix
which comprising of Youzan CRM, Youzan WeCom Assistant,
Youzan Salespeople Assistant, Youzan Chain (B EE#H ),
Marketing Canvas (&#52 #5) and New Retail Integration Module
FZERISHR), as well as services such as operation escort
and consultation planning, we facilitated enterprise customers
to gain access to the multi-channel data, improve their
marketing and sales capabilities and realize incremental results.

We also provided enterprise consulting services to large
customers with digital upgrade needs, providing one-stop
services including branded private domain business strategy,
effect marketing, private domain operation escort, agency
operation, private domain product design and customisation,
with consulting services as the entry point, operation escort
and customised system as the main means to assist large
enterprises to establish and improve their private domain
operation capacities. In 2022, we conducted in-depth annual
cooperation with nearly 100 large enterprises, covering various
industries such as liquor, fast-moving consumer goods, vehicles,
department stores, shopping centers and beauty products.

In 2022, our product development teams are more focused
on the demand in business scenarios of core customers and
the development and iteration of product capabilities. We
continued to maintain our industry-leading product capabilities,
continued to optimise online mall capabilities, and focused on
improving store operation capabilities, consumer operation
management capabilities, automated marketing capabilities,
distribution promotion capabilities, and merchant operation
data analysis capabilities. We optimised our merchant operation
experience and increased the penetration rate of each functional
module through a more streamlined operation chain and more
convenient and easy-to-use operation links.
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Our service teams, in addition to providing basic delivery
services, also provide private domain onboarding services
and private domain operation consulting services according
to the merchants’ respective industry attributes, development
stages and business goals, so as to help their private domain
operations to run smoothly. We recalibrated and summarised
the best practices of our core customers in different business
scenarios and formats, and empowered more Youzan
merchants, which improved delivery rates and activity of
merchants to make progress in helping merchants to succeed
commercially and increasing merchants renewal.

We continue to expand the ecosystem and cooperate with
partners to provide more value to merchants, and meet their
operation demands in all aspects. In 2022, we cooperated with
more than 300 agents to help us promote and sell our products
and services nationwide. There are more than 3,000 active
developers on Youzan Cloud plaform, with over 800 apps being
launched, and an average of more than 500 million daily visits
to APl interfaces. Through Youzan Cloud plaform iPaaS, we have
already connected with 34 third-party systems (such as ERP
system), helping merchants to attain comprehensive digital
upgrade. There are nearly 300 merchants using our customised
system services, and the customised projects involve system
integration and connection, transaction and marketing
expansion, and personalised page display.

In June 2022, Youzan officially launched Youzan Jarvis, the first
artificial intelligence engine product based on private domain
operation scenarios, which is a portfolio of artificial intelligence
technologies especially developed for private domain scenarios
to help merchants and users doing much better through artificial
intelligence. Youzan Jarvis has five engine capabilities, namely
machine learning engine, natural language processing engine,
computer vision engine, deep learning engine and knowledge
graph engine, which are applied to products of Youzan Mall,
data center, Youzan CRM, Youzan WeCom Assistant and Youzan
Salespeople Assistant to help merchants doing business well in
terms of sales, operations and services.
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In early 2023, in order to better meeting different types
of merchants needs and offer better services, we made
commercial adjustments to some of our mall products, which
had improved the usability of the basic version and professional
version, upgraded the flagship version to solution version and
newly launched the supreme version solution that included in-
depth private domain operations services and technical support
services. Such commercial adjustment will help us meet the
needs of different customer bases in a more targeted manner
and help to promote the upgrading of merchant structures by
optimizing the use experience of merchants and creating more
value for merchants.

Based on our understanding of customers’ needs, we
created more explicit value for merchants through solutions
that included both products and services, which improved
merchants’ satisfaction and generally improved merchants'’
operating performance. In 2022, the gross merchandise
volume generated by the merchants through Youzan's solutions
reached approximately RMB101.4 billion, of which the gross
merchandise volume from channels other than Kuaishou
increased by approximately 19% yearon-year as compared
with that of 2021. The gross merchandise volume of store
SaaS business was approximately RMB42.5 billion, accounting
for 42% of the gross merchandise volume, representing an
increase of approximately 53% year-on-year. The average annual
sales of a single merchant exceeded RMB1.2 million in 2022,
representing an increase of approximately 9% year-on-year.
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As of 31 December 2022, we had 83,439 paying merchants,
of which approximately 63% were those subscribing for
e-commerce SaaS; approximately 37% were those subscribing
for store SaaS, including Youzan Retail, Youzan Chain, Youzan
Beauty, Youzan Education and WowShop etc.

The number of new paying merchants in 2022 was 40,443, of
which the new paying merchants of store SaaS accounted for
50% of the total new paying merchants.

We consider our employees as our most important assets
and competitive advantage. We highly value the contribution
of every employee and we are dedicated to develop a
sound organisation enabling outstanding talents to become
successful. We continued to optimize the organizational
structure and improve the efficiency of organizational
cooperation. For the year ended 31 December 2022, we
have 1,952 employees, with 54% in sales, 27% in product
and technology, 14% in service and operation and 5% in
management and support.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

o In 2023, we will continue to make continuous
improvement in operating efficiency as our primary
business objective. While achieving a stable growth in
cash income, we will continue to improve operating
cash flow and operating results by investing resources
in a scientific and rational manner, so as to achieve the
long-term sustainable and healthy development of the
Company.

o We will continue to focus on our core customer base
for market expansion purpose and continue to upgrade
customer structure in a bid to achieving higher fee
renewal rates and higher renewal revenue for the
continuous optimization of business results.

o We will always adhere to the vision of “customercentric’
continue to deepen our understanding of core customer
base's business, and take “creating value for customers”
as the direction to improve our solution capabilities and
help merchants to increase their sales.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2022, the Group's revenue was approximately
RMB1,496,977000 (2021: approximately RMB1,569,991,000),
representing a decrease of 4.7% as compared to 2021, which
was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue from
subscription solutions which was partially offset by the increase
in revenue from merchant solutions.

The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown by major
products and services for the years indicated.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2022 2021 Changes

—E-_F T —F Hig

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

ARBTT AREF T %

Subscription Solutions STRIRR G2 890,223 973,813 (8.6)

Merchant Solutions EEN: FVES 597,780 584,778 2.2

Others HAth 8,974 11,400 (21.3)

Total #act 1,496,977 1,569,991 (4.7)
Subscription Solutions sIRIRRAE

Revenue from subscription solutions primarily include
subscription fees for SaaS products and a pertransaction
cloud service fee for each extra order beyond a pre-specified
order number threshold that consumers made to such
merchants through SaaS products. Revenue generated from
subscription solutions was approximately RMB890,223,000
(2021: approximately RMB973,813,000), representing a year
on-year decrease of 8.6%, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in cloud service fees to approximately
RMB48,253,000 (2021: approximately RMB94,983,000) and the
decrease in the subscription fees for SaaS products.
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Merchant Solutions

The Group offers merchant solutions which comprise
comprehensive value-added services addressing merchant
needs that arise in daily operations. Revenue from merchant
solutions mainly include transaction service fee charged for
transaction service, service fees charged for Youzan Distribution,
as well as Youzan Worry-free Shopping (formely known as
“Youzan Guarantee”) and Youzan Promotion. Transaction service
fee and service fees for Youzan Distribution and Youzan Worry-
free Shopping are determined with reference to the GMV
generated by merchants through solutions.

In 2022, revenue from merchant solutions was approximately
RMB597,780,000 (2021: approximately RMB584,778,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.2% which was
basically in line with the increase in GMV for 2022.

Others

In 2022, revenue from other businesses was approximately
RMB8,974,000 (2021: approximately RMB11,400,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 21.3%, mainly due to
the decrease in the revenue from providing catering services
which were ceased since May 2021.
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Cost of Sales tHE A
The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs by nature = TFREFILEIRFEEIREE S 78I AR
for the years indicated. Mo

For the year ended 31 December

BHET-A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021 Changes
—g-- “ET-F -]
Percentage Percentage

RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) %

ARETR 1&itE% ARETTT 1tE% %

Staff costs ATR® 157,399 29.4 173,618 28.1 (9.3)

Server and SMS costs AR 7528 RSMSH A 86,989 16.3 111,488 18.1 (22.0)

Transaction costs Bz 198,718 371 233,974 379 (15.1)

Costs of goods sold HEERMA 3,972 0.7 6,754 1.1 (41.2)

Depreciation of right-of-use-assets ~ {FFAEEERE 3,621 0.7 7475 12 (51.6)

Technology services expenses B R 21,446 4.0 21,874 35 (2.0)
Contracted customer services HESEYRE i3

expenses 312 0.6 7298 1.2 (574)

Taxes and surcharges MRIE RN 6,944 13 8,335 13 (16.7)

Insurance premium costs RREMA 10,464 2.0 22,075 3.6 (52.6)

Others Hith 42,390 79 24,837 4.0 70.7

Total st 535,055 100.0 617728 100.0 (13.4)

In 2022, the Group’'s cost of sales was approximately
RMB535,055,000 (2021: approximately RMB617,728,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 13.4%, which was
mainly because (i) transaction costs decreased by 15.1% from
approximately RMB233,974,000 in 2021 to approximately
RMB198,718,000 in 2022, due to Hangzhou Youzan ceased
its transaction service since February 2021 and the Group's
continuing optimization on cost structure of transaction
service, (ii) staff costs decreased by 9.3% from approximately
RMB173,618,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB157399,000
in 2022, mainly due to the decrease in headcount as a result
of the optimization of organization structure, (iii) server
and SMS costs decreased by 22.0% from approximately
RMB111,488,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB86,989,000 in
2022, mainly due to precise costs control measures.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

In 2022, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB961,922,000 (2021: approximately RMB952,263,000),
representing a yearon-year increase of 1.0%, due to the
increase of gross profit from merchant solutions which was
partially offset by the decrease of gross profit from subscription
solutions.

In 2022, the Group's gross profit margin increased from 60.7 %
in 2021 to 64.3% in current year, primarily due to the increase
of gross profit margin of subscription solutions as well as
merchant solutions.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2022 2021
b k- 3 ZETF

Gross Gross

profit profit

margin margin

RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%)

ARETT EME% ARET T EFEY

Subscription Solutions B SNES 660,006 74.1 696,684 715

Merchant Solutions HER: P ES 298,902 50.0 255,520 43.7

Others Hith 3,014 33.6 59 0.5

Total 45t 961,922 64.3 952,263 60.7
Subscription Solutions SIBIRRR A &

In 2022, the gross profit of subscription solutions was RZZ__F ;JRBRAREEFNNR/A

approximately RMB660,006,000 (2021: approximately R#660,006F 7 (ZZ2—F AR

RMB696,684,000), representing a yearon-year decrease of
5.3%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in the revenue of cloud service fees. Apart from cloud
service fees, the gross profit from other subscription solutions
increased by 1.7%.

In 2022, the gross profit margin of subscription solutions
increased from 71.5% in 2021 to 74.1% in current year,
primarily due to the decrease in the cost of sales of subscription
solutions.
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Merchant Solutions

In 2022, the gross profit of merchant solutions was
approximately RMB298,902,000 (2021: approximately
RMB255,520,000), representing a yearon-year increase of
17.0%, which was mainly due to the decrease in transaction
costs.

In 2022, the gross profit margin of merchant solutions increased
from 43.7% in 2021 to 50.0% in current year, mainly due to the
increase in the gross margin of transaction services benefited
by cost structure optimization.

Others

In 2022, other gross profit was approximately RMB3,014,000
(2021 approximately RMB59,000), and the gross profit margin
increased from 0.5% in 2021 to 33.6% in 2022.

Expenses and others

In 2022, the Group recorded a 13.4% vyearon-year decrease
in selling expenses to approximately RMB830,816,000 (2021:
approximately RMB959,106,000). It was mainly due to the
decrease in promotion and advertising expenses, sales staff
costs as well as the channel commission expenses.

In 2022, the Group recorded a 12.6% year-on-year decrease in
administrative expenses to approximately RMB293,043,000
(2021: approximately RMB335,312,000). It was mainly due to
the decrease in administrative staff costs as a result of the
optimization of the organizational structure and lower legal and
professional fees related to the Listing, which was partially
offset by the one-off severance packages of approximately
RMB92,211,000 for the year.
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In 2022, the Group recorded a 48.7% year-on-year decrease in
other operating expenses to approximately RMB312,268,000
(2021: approximately RMB609,294,000). It was mainly due
to the reduction in research and development expenses as a
result of the rational arrangement of research and development
investment and the optimization of the organizational structure
to reduce the research and development staff costs by the
Group.

In 2022, the Group recorded a 65.8% yearon-year increase
in equity-settled share-based payments to approximately
RMB88,068,000 (2021: approximately RMB53,130,000).

In 2022, the Group recorded a 22.4% year-on-year decrease in
investment and other income to approximately RMB49,517000
(2021: approximately RMB63,786,000). It was mainly due to
the decrease in super deduction of value-added tax and bank
interest income.

In 2022, the Group recorded other net gains of approximately
RMB36,100,000 (2021: other net losses of approximately
RMB2,186,924,000). It was mainly due to the absence
of impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, goodwill and intangible assets in 2022 (2021:
approximately RMB2,184,139,000).

In 2022, the Group recorded a 13.2% year-on-year increase
in finance costs to approximately RMB25,631,000 (2021:
approximately RMB22,642,000). It was mainly due to the
increase in interest expenses as a result of the new bank loans
in June 2022.

The Group also presents alternative performance measurement
indicators. Adjusted performance is an alternative performance
measurement indicator which is used to align internal and
external reporting, identify and quantify items that the
management considers to be significant and reflect how the
management assesses period-on-period performance.
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Non-HKFRS measures

IFERMB RS ERFE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Loss from operations K& 18 (558,304) (3,252,681)
- Equity-settled share-based payments —REEERAD ZIRIE 88,068 53,130
— Depreciation of property, —E - -BERREITE
plant and equipment 13,818 21,528
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —(FRAREETE 28,639 53,372
— Amortization of intangible assets —mFEEEH 81,648 124,964
— One-off severance packages —— R B E 92,21 -
- Other (gains)/losses, net —Hfth (W) E538 0 BB (36,100) 2,186,924
— Investment and other income —KEREMIEA (49,517) (63,786)
Adjusted loss before interest, tax, KA RFE~FRIE
depreciation and amortization (unaudited) e KSR R 18
CREER) (339,537) (876,549)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr ARETT
Loss for the year KEEEE (645,760)  (3,293,020)
- Equity-settled share-based payments —REEERMDZIRIE 88,068 53,130
— Amortization of intangible assets — B EEH 81,648 124,964
— Impairment of goodwill —EERE - 1,622,083
— Impairment of intangible assets —BEERE - 459,553
— Impairment of property, plant and —E - BERRENER
equipment and right-of-use assets HEERE - 102,503
— Impairment of investment in an associate 1) L/N=1 4
KERE 1,289 -
- Listing and other one-off expenses —FmEREM—REER - 45,495
— One-off severance packages ——RIEEER A E 92,211 -
— Adjusted for tax on non-HKFRS —JEEAMBREER
adjustments (unaudited) AETHNRERE
CRE&E) (12,247) (18,745)
Adjusted non-HKFRS loss for the year AR EEIEEBUERE
(unaudited) ZHIEE CREER) (394,791) (904,037)

Note: These unaudited non-HKFRS measures should be considered
in addition to, not as a substitute for, measures of the Group's
financial performance prepared in accordance with HKFRS. In
addition, these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB

Annual Impairment Test - CGU

The Company has engaged an independent professional valuer
to assess the recoverable amounts the Group's cash generating
units (“CGU") as at 31 December 2022, for the purpose
of annual impairment test in accordance with accounting
standards.

Cash generating unit

REELE

FEREANR - REEEEN

AR EEREBILERGHEMUFEERE
BRTELEMN (REEEEM) KT
— T+ ZR=t+—HRzAEKEE XU
ARRESsHERETEERERS

Valuation date

sl & B A

Third party payment services (“CGU A")
FZFZARE ((REeEEEMNAL
Merchant services (“CGU B")
ERRTS (BREELEEAIB])

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method, which is defined as the present value of the future
cash flow expected to be derived from the cash generating
units. When conducting the valuation, the valuer has taken into
account factors including but not limited to expected revenue
of each cash generating units provided by the management,
expected cost and other expenses of each cash generating
units, capital expenditure, operation plan, discount rate

31 December 2022
TEITF+"A=+—H
31 December 2022
TEITF+A=+—H

REeELBEUZAWOERESEERMIR
RenEitHEREEREE  £HE
BEEABHRELEEREEEBMUZRK
RERBZRE -ETHER HEMES
R#EZRZ GEEARIBEEERM
WEREELEBUNAHRBA-BREE
EEUNARAMAREMAS B4R
BESEREEMAENBRE -RITE
BRIBEBITH 5 KA & BEIR A R KA 5

calculated by the valuer, the current conditions of the market EZF - RFTHIBREEF T EEMFAERADN
and the Group and estimated trend in the future provided by an 21T :
industry expert, etc. The parameters adopted in the valuation
process were as follows:
Budgeted
revenue CAGR
in the 5-year Terminal Pre-tax
forecast growth rate  discount rate
R FMBE
FERI PRy FEHA
EXEEERE
HERE KEBIERE G IEERES
CGU A 6.37% 2.08% 20.35%
HWEEFEAA
CGUB 6.37% 2.08% 19.67%
HREELEBUB
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying amount of
approximately RMB341,326,000 (2021: RMB341,326,000) had
been allocated to CGU A. Computer software, certain property,
plant and equipments and certain right-of-use assets were
allocated to this CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rate used to discount
the forecast cash flows for CGU A is 20.35% (2021: 20.7%).
As at 31 December 2022, in CGU A within third party payment
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated based on
value in use exceeded carrying value by approximately RMB211
million (2021: RMB125 million) and therefore, no impairment
change was concluded necessary. Management believes that
any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount. Management conducted a
sensitivity analysis and determined that an increase of 10.47%
in pre-tax discount rate used for the value in use calculation
would result in the headroom dropping to zero as at 31
December 2022, assuming all other variables remain constant.

CGUB

For the year ended 31 December 2022, CGU B recorded
operating losses amounting to RMB596 million. Management
has identified an impairment indicator for the carrying amount
of assets allocated to CGU B, including trademarks, certain
property, plant and equipment, and certain right-of-use assets
as at 31 December 2022. At end of reporting period, the pre-
tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flow for CGU B
within merchant services segment is 19.67%. The recoverable
amount, calculated based on value in use, exceeded the
carrying amount by approximately RMB161 million, and
therefore, no impairment charge was considered necessary.
Management conducted a sensitivity analysis and determined
that an increase of 3.83% in pre-tax discount rate used for the
value in use calculation would result in the headroom dropping
to zero as at 31 December 2022, assuming all other variables
remain constant.

TEEEHARAT T _EFR

REEEENA

IREELN AR K341,326,00050 (ZF - —
F 1 AR%8341,326,00070) UL (BT
BER) ENREIRSESLBMUAHEIK
R -ETYE -BRERSERETERE
BENEEILIREEEE -

PSR AUIRRSES BEAUATE
AR REZFRATLEEA20.35% (T
T—F:1207%) RIZEZZFE+A
=+—B RE=ZFZARBPEIZERE
EXEMNAMS RERAEAESENTK
[l 8 HREELAARE211,000,0007T
(Z&2=—%: AE%125,000,0007T) * A
R EFETHRESFE - EEBERA I
il LA REBR 2 ERNSIETER &8
K@%%ﬁzﬁ%&iﬁuzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁa_ﬂ&
O3 - BIEE B ETHRE D W
BREMBEMESRIFTAE ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁ
FREENRRRATITIREIGNN10.47 %882
BE_ZE - _F+"B=+—HZEH

EZo

REELENB
BE_Z-__F+"A=+—BL*HF
E - REEFBUBRELEBBAR
#596,000,000c R ZZEZZF+H
=+—B BEEECHINSETFTREESE
BAUBZEE (BEBR - BETYWE KR
REBEBUREGETHERHREE) 2REEH
WHERBETR -RIREHR BLUMIIR
ERIRFDBZIREELEMUBERIRSE
MEBZRNATLEEA19.67% R ERBE
SFENTWEEEBHEREEOARKE
161,000,0007c > AL BRI E B
EEBETHRRES T LR AREME
HtEERFAE AR EEREEDN
BRIRAIITIRRIE N3 83 % EHRHE _Z
T+ A=+ —HZBERLVES-
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At 31 December 2021, Goodwill (before any impairment)
with carrying amount of approximately RMB1,622,083,000
had been allocated to CGU B. E-commerce applications and
trademarks with indefinite useful life as set out in note 22 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, and certain
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were
allocated to this CGU.

As at 31 December 2021, due to the challenging market
competition in the e-commerce platform industry and the
continuing impact brought by the unexpected prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group's merchant services segment
recorded significant loss for the year ended 31 December
2021, and the business performance did not achieve the
expected results. As a result, an impairment losses of
RMB1,622,083,000, RMB459,553,000, RMB22,110,000 and
RMB80,393,000 were recognised for CGU B's goodwill,
intangible assets, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2021. The pre-
tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows for CGU B is
19.16%.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning, aged 40, joined the Company in April 2018.
He was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company in May 2018 and was further
appointed as the chairman of the Board in February 2021. Mr,
Zhu is the founder and the chief executive officer of Youzan
Group (comprising Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries) and is responsible for
formulation of the overall development planning and business
strategies as well as the daily management of Youzan Group. He
is one of the pioneer user experience designers in China. Before
establishing Youzan Group, Mr. Zhu was a product experience
planner of Alipay and an interaction designer of Baidu and has
profound experience in the realm of internet, including but not
limited to online payment, e-business, internet communities
and online search services. He graduated from Henan Radio &
Television University with a diploma. He is also the executive
officer of China Prepay Group Limited (“China Prepay”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Cui Yusong, aged 36, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
technology officer of the Company in May 2018. Mr. Cui is the
co-founder and the chief technology officer of Youzan Group. Mr.
Cui is responsible for technology reserve, artificial intelligence
and product strategic planning as well as management of the
research and development (“R&D") team of Youzan Group.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Mr. Cui served in a number of
R&D or R&D management positions in Alipay, Alibaba Cloud
and Taobao. Mr. Cui graduated from Shaoxing University with
a bachelor degree in management. He is also the technology
officer of China Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

FEESEHERAT —SFFR
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Mr. Yu Tao, aged 35, joined the Company in April 2018. He was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company in May 2018 and was further appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in February 2021. Mr.
Yu graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor degree in
accounting and is a member of each of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada. Mr. Yu joined Youzan Group in 2014 as
the chief financial officer and is responsible for financial planning
and management, investment and investor’s relations of Youzan
Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he worked in Ernst &
Young, Shantui Equipment Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd. and Alipay.
Mr. Yu is also the financial officer of China Prepay, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, aged 41, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
service officer of the Company in May 2018. She is responsible
for management of the help center, talent development
and organisation operation. Ms. Ying graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University with a bachelor degree in
economics and a master degree in engineering, majoring in
science management and engineering. Ms. Ying joined Youzan
Group in 2014 as chief service officer and is responsible for
the management of client services and contract compliance
of Youzan Group. Ms. Ying is also the service officer of China
Prepay, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Prior to joining Youzan Group, Ms. Ying worked in Lexmark
Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FJEB4TENH GRII) BIEAE),
Huarun Sun Hung Kei Real Estate (Hangzhou) Co. Ltd. (ZEE#T
BEEME () BFEAE])and Tang Shuo Education (BB

B).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 60, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since December 2003.

Dr. Fong has over 26 years of extensive experience in various
sectors of the financial industry including direct investment,
project and structured finance and capital markets, having
worked for KPMG, the American International Group in Asia,
and the ING Group in Beijing and Hong Kong. In his last position
within the ING Group, he served as a Director of the Baring
Capital (China) Management Limited that managed ING Beijing
Investment Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Fong has been the Chief Financial Officer of Citychamp
Watch & Jewellery Group Limited, a company listed on the
HKSE, since September 2004 and Company Secretary since
February 2007 He has also served as Director of its subsidiary,
Bendura Bank AG in Liechtenstein, since September 2016.
Besides, he served as a Non-independent Non-executive
Director of Cordlife Group Limited, a company listed on the
Singapore Exchange from January 2019 to November 2021.

Dr. Fong holds a Bachelor's degree, majoring in Management
Sciences (Economics) from the Lancaster University, United
Kingdom. He also holds three Master's degrees including a
Master of Business Administration from the Warwick University,
United Kingdom, a Master's degree in Investment Management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
and a Master's degree in practicing accounting from the
Monash University, Australia. He has a Doctorate in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a Juris Doctor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a CFA charter holder, a member of the Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts, a fellow of the CPA (Australia), a fellow of the
HKICPA, a member of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants, Australia, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors.

Dr. Fong attended executive courses in Harvard Business
School, Said Business School of Oxford University, and Lee
Kuan Yew School of Public Policy of National University of
Singapore.
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Mr. Deng Tao, aged 68, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since May 2018. He
obtained his bachelor degree at the Beijing Foreign Studies
University and his executive master of business degree at the
China Europe International Business School. Mr. Deng has
more than 27 years of working experience in human resources
management. He commenced his career of human resources
by working in a Chinese joint venture company established by
Hewlett-Packard Company in 1984 and served in that company
for around 11 years. He then successively served in a number of
human resources managerial positions in different multinational
companies including but not limited to Maersk Line Limited,
Allied Signal Inc., AstraZeneca Plc, Whirlpool Corporation and
Google. Mr. Deng joined the Company on 8 May 2018.

Mr. Li Shaojie, aged 45, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since March 2022.
He obtained his bachelor’'s degree at Henan University. Mr. Li
founded and managed Henan Rich Flag Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* (AR ZEEBKMBRAE)in 2007 and is
currently the chairman of Rich Flag Sci & Tech Group Co., Ltd.*
GRIEREEEAR/AS]) . Mr. Li has about 21 years of ample
experience in internet brand marketing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Huan Fang, aged 34, joined Youzan Group in September
2018 and served as the chief operating officer of the
Company, responsible for business data assessment, product
commercialization, market investment, sales channel policy,
resources allocation, etc. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he was
the deputy president of Hillhouse Capital Group, responsible for
the investment in high technology, enterprise services, artificial
intelligence and intelligent manufacturing, leading/participating
in over 20 projects with an investment amount of more than
US$1 billion. The typical cases include Youzan Group, NIO
INC., YITU Technology, Horizon Robotics and other well-known
technology companies. He graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University and obtained a bachelor's degree in energy and
power engineering and finance.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Xia, is currently the director of securities affairs of
the Company. She served as the investment director of Beijing
Shangyin Investment Consultancy Co., Limited (FE$RR%E (A6
R) BWEZHAE R AT]) from March 2010 to June 2018. Ms. Han
graduated from Renmin University of China in June 2020 with a
master of business administration degree. Ms. Han possesses
experience in financial and operational management and is
familiar with the daily operations, internal management and
financial management of the Group. Ms. Han was appointed as
a company secretary of the Company on 18 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional
services provider specialising in corporate services. He has over
10 years of experience in corporate secretarial field. Mr. Cheng
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in finance from the University of Queensland,
Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law from
the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheng was appointed as a
company secretary of the Company on 24 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Directors present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 17 August
1999 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). Its shares have
been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 April 2000.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The Group's operation consists of five operating segments,
which are (i) merchant services — provision of a variety of SaaS
products and comprehensive services in the PRC through
Youzan Group; (ii) third party payment services; (ii) Onecomm —
provision of third party payment system solutions and sales of
integrated smart point of sales devices; (iv) general trading and
(v) others.

An analysis of our Group’s revenue, segment result and assets
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 8
and 12 respectively to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

CUSTOMERS & SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentage of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 5% (2021: less than 5%), while the five largest
suppliers of our Group accounted for approximately 52.2%
(2021: 54.3%) of our Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier of our Group accounted for approximately 24.0%
(2021: 18.9%) of our Group's total purchases. As far as the
Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their associates, or
any shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’'s share capital) had a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers and suppliers of
our Group.
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RESULTS

Details of our Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out on pages 150 to 151 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
(2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB889,944,000 (2021:
approximately RMB711,527000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had borrowings of
approximately RMB480,986,000 (2021: Nil). Details of
borrowings of the Group are set out in note 41 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITY

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 52 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Details
of contingent liability of the Group are set out in note 51 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no pledge of assets
(2021: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC,
its transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in Renminbi. The Group monitors its foreign
currency risks and will consider hedging significant currency
exposures should the need arises.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, details of material
investments or acquisition of capital assets please refer to note
25 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 838 (2021: 629)
trademarks registered, of which all trademarks have been
approved. At the same time, the Group had 52 software
copyrights (2021: 52) and 18 patents (2021: 9) in the PRC.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has 1,952 employees
(2021: 4,494). The decrease in employees was mainly
attributable to the Group’s rational arrangement of R&D
investment and optimization of its organizational structure.
The Group's Employees are remunerated according to their
performance and work experience. In addition to basic salaries
and retirement scheme, staff benefits include performance
bonus, share options and share awards etc. The Directors
believe that good quality of its employees is a company asset
which affects growth and improves profitability. The Group
recognizes the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance
their skills and knowledge.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has no material
outstanding litigation.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 45 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the directors confirm that the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding
convertible bonds.

WARRANTS

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding warrants.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Options Scheme

The Company adopted one share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), namely the share option scheme adopted on
12 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme 2019").
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Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2019 during
the year ended 31 December 2022:

Share Option Scheme 2019

Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercise

L/{—F%Z@J@:t 7__¢+ B=+—H
LHEERBE-T-—hEBREFEIREZ
rﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁ%lﬂﬂgz“*@#lﬁ :

—E-hFRERESE

Position held Date of Asat  Grant during during during during Exercise
within the Company ~ grant 112022 the year theyear  theyear  theyear Asat31122022 price HKS  Exercisable from Exercisable until
:S::\ - Juk
RERAREZES  HYAH -A-H EREY EMEN  EREE ERGE TZRST-R fiE@  FftEd AffEE
(Note 1) Note 1)
) )
Name of Selected Directors
BrEsgs
Mr. Zhu Ning Executive Director and
chief executive officer  9.9.2019 100,000,000 - - - - 100,000,000 HKS1.00 1 July 2021 30 June 2024
RERE ARESRERHTE 1008 ZZZ-FtE-H “E_MERA=TR
Mr. Cui Yusong Executive Director 9.9.2019 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 HKS0.90 1 July 2021 30 June 2024
ERARE wnEs 090%r ZEZ-FtB-H “E_MERA=TH
Mr.YuTao Executive Director 9.9.2019 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000 HKS0.90 1 July 2021 30 June 2024
(e HTES 08T “F--FtA-H ZB_MEARAZHH
Ms.Ying Hangyan Executive Director 9.9.2019 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000 HK$0.90 Ju\yZOZ 30 June 2024
- anEz 090%n  “F--%tA-H TZTNERAZTH
Subtotal 9.9.2019 150,000,000 - - - - 150,000,000
gt
Qther employess (include
2 senior management
of the Group] 9.9.2019 140,804,000 - (12,000,000) - - 128,804,000 HKS0.75 1 July 2021 30 June 2024
RS (AEFEDD
EREEEAS) 075%n  “F-%tA-H “EMERAZTR
Total 290,804,000 - (12,000,000) - - 278,804,000
EE
Note 1 Vesting schedule
Wi BEREE
1July 2020 25%
“ZTEETE-H
1 July 2021 25%
“ZT-EtE-H
1July 2022 25%
“$°FtA-H
1July 2023 5%
“ZTCEtR-H

Details of the Share Option Schemes are set out in Note 49(a)
to the consolidated financial statement.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the "Adoption Date") aimed
to recognise the contributions by eligible persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Adoption Date unless early terminated by the
Board. For details of these share awards, please refer to Note
49(b) to the consolidated financial statement.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 47 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 155 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders. However,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately RMB6,420,355,000 (2021: approximately
RMB6,098,424,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 18 January 2022, the Placing was completed in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement. A
total of 810,792,000 Placing Shares have been successfully
placed by the Placing Agent to not fewer than six Placees at
the Placing Price of HK$0.385 per Placing Share pursuant to
the Placing Agreement. The net proceeds from the Placing
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs,
fees, expenses and commission, amount to approximately
HK$309.01 million. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the Placing for the following purposes: (i) system
upgrade, product development and marketing expenses; (ii)
additional funding for potential strategic investments and
acquisitions; and (iii) general working capital of the Group.
Details are set forth in the Company’s announcement dated on
18 January 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Bye-Laws and the laws in Bermuda in relation to the
issue of new shares by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries and associates are
set out in notes 23 and 24 respectively to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Details of the Group’s Share Option Schemes and Share
Award Scheme are set out in note 49 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 54 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, other than the
continuing connected transactions of the Group set out below
which should be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules,
no related party transactions disclosed in note 54 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022

On 27 April 2022, the Company entered into a
supplemental loan agreement 2022 with Youzan
Technology Inc. (“Youzan Technology”), pursuant to which
the parties have agreed to revise the previous annual
caps for an unsecured loan facility from HK$480 million
to HK$900 million, HK$900 million and HK$00 million
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2024,
respectively. The above transaction has been approved
by the independent shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2022. For
further details of the above transaction, please refer to
the announcement and circular of the Company dated 27
April 2022 and 20 May 2022, respectively.
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Major terms

The principal terms of the Supplemental Loan Agreement
2022 are as follows:

Date

Lender
Borrower
Revised Loan

amount

Proposed Revised
Annual Caps

Conditions
precedent

27 April 2022

The Company
Youzan Technology

Not exceeding HK$900 million at
any time every year, inclusive of the
principal loan amount and interest.

The proposed Revised Annual
Caps in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Supplemental
Loan Agreement 2022 for each of
the three financial years ended 31
December 2024 is HK$900 million,
HK$900 million and HK$900 million,
respectively.

The abovementioned Revised Annual
Caps are determined with reference
to, among others, the current
business plan of Youzan Technology
Group.

The Supplemental Loan Agreement
2022 shall be effective upon the
obtaining of the approval from
the Independent Shareholders by
the Company in relation to the
transactions contemplated under the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022
in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Reasons for and benefits of entering into the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that the loan facility to be provided
to Youzan Technology is a mark of the continuous
support the Company given to Youzan Technology, being
a subsidiary of the Group which provides significant
revenue contribution to the Group and is crucial to
the Group’s business operations. To facilitate Youzan
Technology Group’s business expansion, the Company
expects that a proposed Revised Annual Cap for the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022 of HK$900 million
is appropriate, after having considered the business
development plan of Youzan Technology which mainly
focusing on research and development and marketing,
in order to maintain its competitiveness coping with
the challenging market competition of ecommerce
platform industry and the continuing impact brought
by the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic. For research
and development, Youzan Technology Group plans to
(i) widen product range of ecommerce applications, (ii)
expand and strengthen construction of new system
functions and (iii) enhance in infrastructure construction,
with an aggregate estimated spending of approximately
RMB620 million. For its marketing plan, it plans to spend
an estimated RMB260 million approximately, mainly for
advertising through various online channels and engaging
more distribution agents by the Youzan Technology
Group. Youzan Technology Group plans to execute the
abovementioned business development plan by utilising
the loan amount from the Loan Agreement 2022 (as
supplemented) throughout the three years ending 31
December 2024.
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The 2020 Third Party Payment Services
Framework Agreement
2020 Third Party Payment Services Framework

Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Terms:

12 March 2020

(i) Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Gaohuitong”); and

(i) Hangzhou Youzan

The 2020 Third Party Payment
Services Framework Agreement is of
a term commencing from the date
on which the conditions precedent
contained in such framework
agreement were fulfilled (i.e. 12 May
2020) and ending on 31 December
2022 (both days inclusive).
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Scope of
services:

PEEEHRAT

it S 35

Beijing Gaohuitong shall provide
the following types of third party
payment services to Hangzhou Youzan
subject to the terms and conditions
of the third party payment services
framework agreement:

1.

offline integrated payment
transactions services, including
but not limited to, point of
sales-based business handling
services for bank cards for offline
transactions;

online payment services for
“WeiMall’, including but not
limited to express checkout,
Wechat Pay and Alipay services;

cross-border RMB payment
settlement services for “WeiMall”
overseas merchants;

physical and virtual prepaid cards
services for merchants of Youzan

Group; and

other payment related services.
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Pricing policy
and payment
terms:

The service fee under the third
party payment services framework
agreement is determined principally
by arm’'s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the upstream channel
costs and operating costs incurred
in relation to the provision of the
similar payment services by Beijing
Gaohuitong and (ii) the quotation
arrangement of similar payment
services by Beijing Gaohuitong to
independent third parties. In any
event, the service fee charged under
the third party payment services
framework agreement shall not (i) be
less favourable than those available to
independent third parties for similar
guotation arrangement of similar
payment services provided by Beijing
Gaohuitong; or (ii) be lower than the
upstream channel costs and operating
costs incurred in relation to the
provision of similar payment services
by Beijing Gaohuitong plus a markup
of 20%.

Under the terms of the third party
payment framework agreement,
the upstream channel costs and
operating costs incurred in relation
to the provision of payment services
will be payable by the end users
directly to Beijing Gaohuitong and the
remaining service fee will be payable
by Hangzhou Youzan. The end users
of the internet payment services have
entered into separate agreements
with Beijing Gaohuitong in relation to
the payment of the service fees.
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Proposed caps:  The annual caps in respect of the BELR

transactions contemplated under the

2020 Third Party Payment Services
Framework Agreement for each of the

BH_S_ZFEFE=H%{
REERBZEE T RETZ

three years ended 31 December 2022 RALBEEELRDAA
is RMB80,000,000, RMB110,000,000 AE#80,000,00070 AR
and RMB150,000,000 respectively. #110,000,000T R AR &
150,000,0007z ©

Reasons for and  Following the integration of Youzan H A ERBEEE THER RHE
benefits of Group’s “WeiMall” and its other B MEERBEXLETHRET
entering into  ancillary and specialised e-commerce £=H SHREEZE=AZMER
the 2020 Third  platforms with the Group’s third party LR BERSHEREGE ££F
Party Payment payment services infrastructure, BIER BEZZ2—tHFR—EEAH
Services the Group has been providing third HEL i T e BRES (R M
Framework party payment services on all online Bik EHAR LEHREE=F

Agreement: stores opened with “WeiMall” as the 18 ZARE

platform’s authorised payment service
provider since 2017

The Directors consider that the terms
of the 2020 Third Party Payment
Services Framework Agreement
(including the proposed annual caps)
and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are on normal commercial
terms after arm’s length negotiations
and in the ordinary and usual course
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of business of the Group, fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a
whole.
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Advertising Service Framework Agreement
The Services Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Hangzhou Youzan (an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Services Framework Agreement with Hangzhou
Aiguang Network Information Service Co., Ltd.
(“Hangzhou Aiguang Network”), pursuant to which
Hangzhou Youzan shall provide various services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network, including but not limited
to workplace leasing, computer and server leasing,
customer service advisory, administrative management
consulting and other services. The major terms of the
Services Framework Agreement are as follows:

Date: 31 July 2020
Parties: () Hangzhou Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

Terms: The Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from 1
August 2020 and ending on 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
the following types of services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network subject
to the terms and conditions of the
Services Framework Agreement:

Scope of
services:

1. Workplace leasing services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
office space and equipment for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network's
staff to carry out its day-to-day
business activities;
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Computer and server leasing
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
computer and server facilities for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network to
carry out its day-to-day business
activities;

Customer service advisory
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall assist
Hangzhou Aiguang Network in
resolving customer enquiries;

Administrative management
consulting services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
consultation services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network concerning
administrative management
issues;

Other services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
other miscellaneous services
to Hangzhou Aiguang Network
pertaining to its day-to-day
operations.
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Pricing policy
and payment
terms:

Workplace leasing services

The service fee was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to and shall not be lower
than the quotations obtained (from
time to time) from Independent Third
Parties in relation to similar services
provided by them.

Computer and server leasing
services, customer service advisory
services, administrative management
consulting services and other service.

The service fees was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the operating costs
incurred in relation to the provision of
the services by Hangzhou Youzan to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network and (ii)
the service fees of similar services
provided by the Group (including
Hangzhou Youzan) to Independent
Third Parties (if any).

The service fees shall not be lower
than (i) the service fees charged to
Independent Third Parties for similar
services provided by the Group
(including Hangzhou Youzan) and (ii)
the operating costs incurred in relation
to the provision of the services
by Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network plus a markup of
5%.
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Proposed annual The proposed annual caps in respect
caps: of the transactions contemplated
under the Services Framework
Agreement for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2022 is
RMB9,100,000, RMB29,000,000 and

RMB29,000,000 respectively.

The Advertising Service Framework Agreement

On 31 July 2020, Tianjin Youzan Information Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Youzan”) (an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the Advertising
Service Framework Agreement with Hangzhou Aiguang
Network, pursuant to which Tianjin Youzan shall provide
advertising services to Hangzhou Aiguang Network. The
major terms of the Services Framework Agreement are
as follows:

Date: 31 July 2020

Parties: (i) Tianjin Youzan; and
(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

Terms: The Advertising Service Framework
Agreement is of a term commencing
from 1 August 2020 and ending on 31

December 2022 (both days inclusive).

Scope of
services:

Tianjin Youzan shall provide advertising
services to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network subject to the terms and
conditions of the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement. Pursuant to
the agreement, Tianjin Youzan will
assist Hangzhou Aiguang Network
or its designated third parties in
obtaining traffic for its shopping
platform.
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Pricing policy and The service fees for the service
payment terms: contemplated under the Advertising
Service Framework Agreement are
determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations between the
parties with reference to the service
fees of similar services provided by
the Group (including Tianjin Youzan) to
Independent Third Parties.

In any event, the service fees
charged under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement shall not be
lower than the service fees charged
to Independent Third Parties for
similar services provided by the Group
(including Tianjin Youzan).

Proposed annual The proposed annual caps in respect
caps: of the transactions contemplated
under the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement for each
of the three years ending 31
December 2022 is RMB10,000,000,
RMB29,000,000 and RMB29,000,000
respectively.

As at the date of signing the Services Framework
Agreement and the Advertising Service Framework
Agreement, Hangzhou Aiguang Network was held
(through contractual arrangements) as to 100% by Guang
Holdings Limited (“Guang Holding”). Guang Holdings,
in turn, was owned as to approximately 48% by Mr. Zhu
Ning and his associates.
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Mr. Zhu Ning is an executive Director and substantial
Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Zhu Ning is a
connected person of the Company. Therefore, the
transactions contemplated under both the Services
Framework Agreement and the Advertising Service
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Reasons For and Benefits of Entering into The Services
Framework Agreement and The Advertising Service
Framework Agreement

The Company considers that the provision of services
to Aiguang Group, which the Group owns a minority
interest, could foster business integration between the
Group and Aiguang Group, which in turn is ultimately
beneficial to the value of the Group.

The Directors consider that the terms of the Services
Framework Agreement (including the proposed annual
caps) and the Advertising Service Framework Agreement
(including the proposed annual caps) and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are on normal commercial
terms after arm’s length negotiations and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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Confirmation from Auditor of the Company and the
Independent Non-executive Directors in relation to the
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 "Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group as mentioned above in accordance with Rule
20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined

in the Listing Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing the transactions on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company'’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing NABZ ZHENE RS FEBRER

connected transactions: 5

1. have been approved by the Board; 1. EHESGHE;

2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with 2. P R A £ B4R 2 oh B AR
the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions BHRXZMe  EMBEEKRS
involve the provision of goods or services by the HETEAEERNEBEC ;
Group;

3.  were entered into, in all material respects, in 3. AFMEERTEHERERE
accordance with the relevant agreement governing RZHERWZRTL ; &

the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap. 4. B FFRe
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Placing

of New Shares Under General Mandate on 18
January 2022

On 18 January 2022, a total of 810,792,000 Shares have been
placed by the placing agents to not fewer than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.385 per Share under general mandate
(the “Placing of New Shares”). The following table sets forth the
Company’s use of the proceeds from the Placing of New Shares
as of December 31, 2022. The net proceeds from the Placing
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs,
fees, expenses and commission, amount to approximately
HK$309.01 million.

Original allocation of the

net proceeds as disclosed in

the announcement dated

11 January 2022 and 18 January 2022

Actual use of
net proceeds up to
31 December 2022

proceeds as at

31 December 2022
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Remaining balance of net

Expected timeframe for utilising
the remaining unused net Proceeds

S RZEZZ
AA-2__f-A+—-HkK +ZA=+—-HZ +ZA=+—-Hz
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() Approximately HK$24721 million  Approximately HK$211.46 Approximately HK$35.75 million
will be used for system upgrade, million was used for the to be used for the original
product development and original purpose purpose
marketing expenses
() #9247210,000E AR RAAKR  £211,460,0008 012 R FARE) 435,750,000 TR A ik
EmlEREHER F B
(Il Approximately HK$30.90 million  Approximately HK$23.23 millionApproximately HK$7.67 million
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(0]

Approximately HK$30.90 million
will be used for general working

Approximately HK$23.50 millionApproximately HK$7.40 million

was used for the original

to be used for the original

capital of the Group purpose purpose
(I #730,900,0008TAEAEREZ— #%I23,500,0008LRRARE  £7400,000ETHZRAR
fReEEES B B
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to bye-law 178 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
the directors, managing directors, alternate director, auditors,
secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own willful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty
respectively, and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or
for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any
bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or
for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which
any moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or
for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation
thereto, except as the same shall happen by or through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

Such provision was in force during the year. In addition, the

Company has also maintained directors and officers liability
insurance during the year.
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EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Grant of Share Options

On 20 January 2023, the Company offered to grant 14,450,000
share options (the “Options”) to 36 eligible participants (the
“Grantees”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in the share capital of the Company (the “Shares”) under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 12 June 2019
(the “Share Option Scheme”) and the scheme mandate limit
under the Share Option Scheme as refreshed on 12 May 2020,
subject to the acceptance of the Options by the Grantees.
Exercise price for each Share Option is HK$0.385 per Share.
Details are set forth in the Company's announcement dated on
20 January 2023.

Besides on the above event, further events after the reporting
period are set out in note 55 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Ning

Mr. Cui Yusong

Mr. Yu Tao

Ms. Ying Hangyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Deng Tao

Mr. Li Shaojie (appointed on 18 March 2022)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Ning, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Mr. Cui Yusong, an executive director, has renewed a service

agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.
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Mr. Yu Tao, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, an executive director, has renewed a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 May 2021.

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 19 December 2021. Dr. Fong has
served on the Board for more than 10 years but he has never
held any executive or management position in our Group nor
has he throughout such period been under the employment of
any member of our Group. Dr. Fong has demonstrated his ability
to provide an independent view to the Company’s matters. The
Directors noted the positive contributions Dr. Fong made to the
development of the Company. Dr. Fong Chi Wah has given the
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules to the Company.

The nomination committee of the Company has assessed and is
satisfied of the independence of Dr. Fong. The Board considers
that the long services of Dr. Fong would not affect his exercises
of independent judgments, notwithstanding his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the
Board is of the view that Dr. Fong is able to continue to fulfill his
roles as required.

Mr. Deng Tao, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 8 May 2021.

Mr. Li Shaojie, an independent non-executive director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with Company for a term of
three years commencing from 18 March 2022.

In accordance with bye-laws 99 and 102(B) of the Bye-Laws,
Mr. Zhu Ning, Mr. Cui Yusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan
will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the "AGM") and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

TEEEHARAT T _EFR

ﬁﬂ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁé?ﬁiﬂﬁ—i$’&ﬂ%$ﬁﬁﬁ“%
BIE T —FhAMHMBAR=F-

HITEFEME L L EHARTEMRS
“E--FHA/N\BRBB/E=

o)

o

BUYFNTESHSERIEHARRTE
HEEFR B _E_—F+_RB+hHE
WA =ZF - ABLITEREETTBBE+
FOoEBAENRAEREEEATHRIE
EE% AERTIEZENLAEEEM
HEAT - ABEINETHEERERTS
RABIEBREBIRREZEN EEFE
RIFEEBTHARBDERBELA
Bl FEEB LT ERIZGEM LETRAE
5.09E M A A B) B E B L M o

AABZIRREEEENEREMSIEL
ZEIUM -EFERXR/ T BT ZRBRS
FETEEMFHBUYE BEAELE
BEERARBBUFATESTZF HES
R BB LA NEERITHRERS

BUFATEFHELECEEATEN

AR BT —FHA/\HRBSH
=%
BUFATESF VREEERAERTR

SIZER-BZZ__F=Ht/\BR%
A=

RIB A B A FE991% K 102(B) K > RE T
£ EERMEE AL ENENESE L &
RERBDEERIBERE (REBEKR
) LRE EFEERBEE T

057



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEREE

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company which is not determinable by
our Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")) which (i) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (iii) were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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Long Position in Shares

RRBZFE
Interest in
underlying Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares shares in shares Shareholding
£ BiRpZER | RERARMZES MRz Ha =R BT SLE
Mr. Zhu Ning 1,440,601,703 100,000,000 1,931,771,804 10.49
KREHRE (Note 1) (Note 4)
(B$3E1) (Mf5%4)
363,170,101
(No'ge 2)
(MF3E2)
28,000,000
Mr. Cui Yusong 241,885,127 20,000,000 270,785,127 1.47
= ERNEE (Note 3) (Note 5)
(MF3E3) (MI5E5)
8,900,000
Mr. Yu Tao 13,848,000 15,000,000 28,848,000 0.16
BERATE (Note 5)
(MF3E5)
Ms. Ying Hangyan 852,000 15,000,000 15,852,000 0.09
fEt S 2z + (Note 5)
(HF5E5)
Dr. Fong ChiWah 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.01
FEERLT
Mr. Li Shaojie 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.01
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Note 1: The shares are held by Whitecrow Investment Ltd.
("Whitecrow"). Whitecrow is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Ning.

Note 2. The shares are held by Youzan Teamwork Inc. (“Youzan
Teamwork”). Youzan Teamwork is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. As at 31
December 2022, Youzan Teamwork was owned as to 8% by
Mr. Zhu Ning, and 18% by Whitecrow.

Note 3: The shares are held by V5.Cui Investment Ltd. (“V5.Cui”).

V5.Cui is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by Mr.
CuiYusong.

Note 4: The Company granted the share options under New Share

Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise price
of HK$1.00.

Note 5: The Company granted the share options under New Share

Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options is valid until 30 June 2024 and has an exercise price
of HK$0.90.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERRNAXE) R « HEEARN
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES, S EERENERERKE
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2022, there was PR TFXFIEEEN R_Z2__F+_A
no other person (other than a director or chief executive of the =+—H AKX ATREFEF KAGHEAG
Company) who had any interests and short positions in the 5533617 ‘BEFHIECMPTCER > B M
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in AL (RABEFHESITEAERIN

the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO. KRB RAERRMD PR E R
Yoy =1

Long Position in Shares

RiHZzHEE
Name of Number of interest %
Substantial Shareholders Capacity in shares Shareholding
IERRLE S1p Rigfp 2z E SRR HEE S LL
Whitecrow Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,440,601,703 782
(Note 1) (Ff5E1) EREBA
Double Peace Limited Iﬂterests of controlled corporation 1,440,601,703 782
Rt EEER
Tricor Equity Trustee Limited Trustee 1,440,601,703 782
XA
Poyang Lake Investment Beneficial owner 1,036,766,038 5.63
Limited (Note 2) (Hf¥2) BERBEEA
Tencent Holdings Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,036,766,038 5.63
(Note 2) \ REGZEER
EAERBRAT (F2)

Note 1: Whitecrow is a company incorporated in the British Virgin ~ FisE1 : Whitecrow it SR E R X B BsEMAILZ A

Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Double fR‘AE] > i Double Peace LimitedZ® &%k
Peace Limited. Mr. Zhu Ning is the settlor of a discretionary BoRBEERFFADouble Peace Limited
trust which holds the entire issued share capital of Double EWEETREANBBEEENEZTA-
Peace Limited. Tricor Equity Trustee Limited holds the entire Tricor Equity Trustee LimitedtF3EIE SR
issued share capital of Double Peace Limited as trustee of the M= 5EAFFBDouble Peace LimiteddyZ B
discretionary trust. BT

Note 2: Poyang Lake Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary ~ Fii5E2 : Poyang Lake Investment Limitedzs#&f%

of Tencent Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: RERRAT EEAFTRMHASE 1 700) I2E
700), which is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by ME AR RIRES REERG) BRIER
Poyang Lake Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO. ARABHRARIEI Poyang Lake Investment

Limited 5 A Z B H REER -

TEERERAT —S-_EER 061
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.

FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of financial position of our
Group is set out on pages 351 and 352 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
RSM Hong Kong, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 23 March 2023

062

EEEGH
Fpy HETUNERREARRERE
MEBEBERERTHABNEL

HEMBHRE

AEBNGEEEB @R RGESHHRR
REFEZ D RIE A F R E361 KR HE3528

A Gl

FREMBRREABEFEGMEBME
%o HiFR{E T A EREEEE-

AEEZD
EFSTE
KRELYE

BB "B =—F=-H"+=H

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TPEEBHRS

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2022. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company's
corporate governance and makes necessary changes at an
appropriate time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The Company’'s corporate
governance practices are based on principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Code during
the year ended 31 December 2022, except for the deviation
from code provision C.2.1 of the Code, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the standard of dealings set out in rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions in securities of the
Company. Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each director
has confirmed that during the year ended 31 December 2022,
he/she had complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board’s fundamental responsibility is to exercise its best
judgment and to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board is responsible for overseeing the
management’s efforts to promote the Company’s success while
operating in an effective and responsible manner. The Board is
able to delegate and confer on any executive director any of its
powers, authorities and discretions for such time and on such
terms as it thinks fit.

The Board may at any time appoint any person who is willing to
act as a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board. The total number of directors shall not be less
than two nor should it exceed fifteen. Newly-appointed directors
shall retire at the general meeting following the appointment
and shall be eligible for election. The Board may appoint any
director to hold any employment or executive office and may
revoke or terminate any such appointment. Shareholders may,
by ordinary resolution, appoint a person as a director or remove
any director before the expiration of his or her period of office.

The Board regularly formulates our Group’s overall business
strategies and monitors management’'s execution of such
strategies.

By discharging its responsibilities, the Board has defined the
business and governance issues for which it needs to be
responsible, and these matters reserved for the Board have
been separately defined, and are reviewed periodically, to
ensure that our Group maintains the proper level of corporate
governance and to ensure they are up to date. In this regard,
the Board:

° determines our Group’s mission, provides its strategic
direction and is responsible for the approval of strategic
plans;

° approves the annual business plan and budget proposed

by management;
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o retains full and effective control over our Group and
monitors management with regard to the implementation
of the approved annual budget and business plan;

o appoints the Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the
Board, and ensures that succession is planned;

o approves our Group's consolidated financial statements,
interim and annual reports;

o determines our Group's communication policy;
o determines director selection, orientation and evaluation;
o ensures that our Group has appropriate risk

management, internal control, internal audit and
regulatory compliance;

o procedures in place and that it communicates adequately
with shareholders and stakeholders;

o establishes Board sub-committees with clear terms of
reference and responsibilities as appropriate;

o defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters,
with required authority to Board sub-committees and
management;

° monitors non-financial aspects pertaining to the business

of our Group;

° considers and, if appropriate, declares the payment of
dividends to shareholders; and

° regularly evaluates our Group's performance and
effectiveness.
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To better serve the long-term interests of our stakeholders,
the Board dedicates certain matters which require particular
time, attention and expertise to be devoted to its committee.
The Board has determined that these matters are better dealt
with by the committees as they require independent oversight
and specialist input. As such, the Board has established
five committees to assist the Board: Audit Committee, Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Inside Information Committee. Each of the committees
has a terms of reference which clearly specifies its powers and
authorities. All committees report back to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board should the need arise.

The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited
to entitling the Directors and Committee members to seek
independent professional advice on matters relating to the
Company where appropriate at the Company's expense, to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
These mechanisms in place are subject to annual review by the
Board that underpins a strong independent Board.

Biographical Details of Directors

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, consisting of four executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhu Ning, Mr. CuiYusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi
Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and Mr. Li Shaojie. Biographical details of
the directors are set out on pages 27 to 30 of this annual report.
The Board complies with the minimum requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has the
appropriate professional qualifications required under Rule 5.05
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Meetings

The Board has adopted good corporate governance practices
and procedures, formal notice of at least 14 days will be given
in respect of a regular meeting. For special board meeting,
reasonable notice will be given. Directors participated, either
in person or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board meets regularly at least
four times every year. The directors participated in person or
through electronic means of communication. All notices of
board meetings were given to all directors, who were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
finalized agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to
all directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting.
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All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group's businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company's expense, if necessary. The Company Secretary
records the proceedings of each board meeting in detail by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed
(if any). All minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on request by any director.

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance of each director at Board, committee meetings,
annual general meeting and special general meeting, whether in
person or by means of electronic communication, is detailed in
the table below:

FIBESEN S BRNENTERERERE
BHEAXES > S1EH AR EREE
S BEENAREERSREIEXRR
METHEERE EFRBEAABKIE-
REIMENEBRESTEZNERIFHEF
MM EELR BEMBESIARAETKRE
FREMEEIRENEZ WA) - FM
EFENERMEENREERMA Y ST
580

EEHECE

REFHFEEFE ZETT2 RREBEF
RERRRRFHIARE (MRS UE TR
MBI NIBEREFEHN TR

Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk Annual General
Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BrZEY RLZEE HHZEE RIRZEE BREFAE
Mr. Zhu Ning 4/4 N/A " " N/A on
RBRE AER AER
Mr. Cui Yusong 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 111 on
EENEE TER TEHR TEH
Mr. Yu Tao 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1”1 1”1
AERE TER AEA TEA
Ms. Ying Hangyan 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A on
fEnst i+ AER FEA AER AER
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 4/4 4/4 " i N/A 1”1
hEERT TER
Mr. Deng Tao 4/4 4/4 " " 11 0N
BERE
Mr. Li Shaojie 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A N/A on
e AEA TEA TEA

FEESEHERAT —SFFR
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An annual general meeting was held on 21 June 2022, except
for the above annual general meeting, the Company did not hold
any other general meeting during the year ended 31 December
2022.

At the Board meetings, the Board discussed on a wide range
of matters, including the Group’s overall strategies, financial
and operational performances, approved the annual, interim and
quarterly results of the Group, the appointment of directors,
business prospects, regulatory compliance and corporate
governance, and other significant matters. The company
secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and the senior
management team, prepares the agendas for each meeting
and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary also
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in relation to
the Board meetings are followed. The company secretary sends
notice of the Board meeting to each of the directors at least 14
days in advance of each regular Board meeting. The company
secretary also sends the agendas, board papers and relevant
information relating to the Group to each of the directors at
least three days in advance of each regular Board meeting
and committee meeting, and keeps the directors updated on
the Group’s financial performance and latest developments. If
any director raises any queries, steps will be taken to respond
to such queries as promptly and fully as possible. If there is
potential or actual conflict of interests involving a substantial
shareholder or a director, such director would declare his
interest and will abstain from voting on such matters. The
directors may approach the Company's senior management
team when necessary. The directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company's expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since 19 February 2021, Mr. Zhu Ning, who has been an
executive director and the chief executive officer of the
Company since May 2018, has also been appointed as the
chairman of the Board. Such practice deviates from the code
provision C.2.1 of the Code.

Mr. Zhu Ning has been the key leadership figure since joining
the Group who has primarily participated in formulation of
business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group,
and has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the
implementation of our business plans, the Directors consider
Mr. Zhu is the best candidate for both positions and this
arrangement is beneficial and in the interests of our Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board
considers the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the
Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of the
Company are entered into a service contract and letter of
appointment with the Company for a term as stated in pages
56 to 57 of this report. Besides, the procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company's Bye-Laws. According to the Bye-Laws, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election
at annual general meetings of the Company. Any new director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall be eligible
for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting and
any new director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
Board shall be eligible for re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers
all the independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Directors’ Training

All directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as
a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place training and development programmes for
the directors including: an on-going training and professional
development programmes for directors. The Company regularly
organizes seminars for the directors. In addition, individual
Directors also participated in other courses relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director or further
enhancement of their professional development by way of
online aids or reading relevant materials.
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The following table set out the training records for each director
during the year ended 31 December 2022:

TREJSESRBE_ZT__F+°8
=+—BHiI-FEREIEE

Reading

training

materials

relating

to the Company'’s

business,

duties and

responsibilities

of being

a Director and

Attendance of regulatory

training sessions requirements

BEARRNEER

EREENREMN

BEUREEENX

Name of Directors EEN4Y R IEEIERTE M RARYIZ AN A

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Zhu Ning KRB v /

Mr. Cui Yusong EERMmAgE 4 4

Mr. Yu Tao BIEE A v v

Ms. Ying Hangyan FEtSE L+ 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors B JEHITES

Dr. Fong Chi Wah TEEL 4 4

Mr. Deng Tao BELE v 4

Mr. Li Shaojie FMERE 4 4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company's policy and structure of remuneration of
Directors and the senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (b) to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, provident/retirement benefits and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors; (c) to review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time; (d) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors, senior management in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company; (e) to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual terms and
that any compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and (f) to review and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive
director, namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-
executive directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao. Mr.
Deng Tao is the chairman of the committee. Details of the
remuneration of Directors are set out in note 16(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting for the determination of the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of
the Group.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the
remuneration of the members of the Board and the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out below:

BE_Z__HF+__RB=t+—HLFE"
FMEZEERT—RGHR UEELEHE
EEREREEABHFINGE-

RETRNTRMEXEENF B#E_F
TTHE+ZR=t+T—HIEFE RHEES
PHEFETHERSREEASRFHFMU
T

Number of
Individuals
Remuneration Band riNEEE A¥
Nil to RMB2,000,000 T F ARK12,000,0007T -
RMB2,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR #2,000,0017tE A E84,000,0007T 5
Over RMB4,000,001 H8i A R 14,000,0017T 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.3.1 of
the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
mainly include, (a) reviewing and monitoring the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board in light of the Group’s
strategy; (b) identifying qualified individuals to be new Board
members; (c) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors; (d) reviewing and monitoring the
implementation of the board diversity policies of the Group; and
(e) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of Directors and the senior management personnel with
reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the Nomination
Committee members.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive director,
namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-executive
directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Deng Tao is
the chairman of the committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; and to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspective of the board is maintained.

NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to nomination policy, when considering the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors, the Nomination
Committee will consider various factors including the
background, experience and qualification of the proposed
candidate to ensure that he/she possesses the requisite
experience, characters and integrity to act as a Director, and
other criteria with regard to the benefits of diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, skill, knowledge, or professional/business
experience and taking into account the Group's business model
and specific needs.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
supervising annually the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the board of directors according to the Group
strategy, identifying qualified individuals to become new board
members, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors, reviewing and supervising the diversity
policy of the board of directors of the Group implementation.
The Board currently comprises of seven Directors, one of which
is female. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender
Board.

The Nomination Committee considered that the Group achieved
the objectives of its board diversity policy and shall review the
policy and measurable objective at least annually to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.
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Workforce Diversity

The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced, at 46.52%,
representing 908 females out of 1,952 employees (including
senior management), with a slightly higher female employee
base driven by the Organisational Growth division. To support
diversity across all facets, the Group is enhancing diversity
and inclusion efforts through employee networks, mentoring
programmes, equitable hiring practices, policies and awareness
raising events and training for all employees to support inclusive
behaviours.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 30 June 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
mainly include, (a) overseeing the relationship with the external
auditors (b) meeting with the external auditor regularly to
discuss any area of concern during the audit; (c) reviewing
the Group's financial data and information, quarterly results,
interim results and annual consolidated financial statements; (d)
monitoring compliance with statutory and listing requirements;
(e) engaging independent legal or other advisers as it
determines is necessary and to perform any investigations; (f)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures; and (g) reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and
Mr. Li Shaojie. Dr. Fong Chi Wah, who possess the appropriate
processional qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2)
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules, is the chairman of the
committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit
Committee held four meetings to discuss the Group's
announcements and reports for quarterly results, interim results
and annual results. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
the management’s reports and representations with a view to
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
has provided advice and comments thereon.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the external
auditors.

External Auditor

The Group engaged RSM Hong Kong to provide services in
connection with the audit of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and other professional services.

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company's auditors, RSM Hong Kong, is set out as follows:

BE_Z__F#+_RA=+—HLEE"
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SMNES R B
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NBAZEEMBRERAMEBERDIRM
AR o

A5 G
CIEEFER > B A4 A B % HEMZE &
S EHEMEHFIRIM T

Fees paid/
payables
Services rendered R HY AR5 e EEHER
HK$'000
FET

Audit services ZEBRTS
— Annual audit —FEEET 2,200
Other non-audit services HAIEZBARTS 215
2,415
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DIRECTOR’S AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
in accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
in this annual report.

RISK COMMITTEE

The Risk Committee was established on 30 May 2016. The
primary duties of the Risk Committee are to review the
responsibilities of risk management and internal control
system and internal audit function, and effectively fulfills other
responsibilities set out in the Code.

The Risk Committee consist of two executive directors, namely
Mr. Cui Yusong and Mr. Yu Tao, and one independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Yu Tao is the chairman of
the committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Committee
held one meeting to review and make recommendation to the
Board on the current risk exposures and future risk strategy of
the Company, and the effectiveness of the risk management
system and internal control system of the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company's internal audit department reviews the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group's internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate. And then provides
independent opinion to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management concerning the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. To further strengthening the
supervision of related work, the internal audit department
conducted special internal audits on the security of anti-
money laundering, payment sensitive information, and personal
financial information in 2022.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of
meetings with management of business groups, internal control
department, legal, and the external auditor, reviewing the
relevant work reports, information of key performance indicators
and the management self-assessment on internal control and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company.

Risk Management Report

Risk management is an integral part of the Group's business
planning, implementation and review process. Apart from
traditional management of operational risks such as safety
and plant integrity, the Group’s risk management universe
encompasses a broader scope of risks that include risks
associated with strategies, policies, financial, human resources,
intellectual properties, techniques and network management.

Principal Risks

The Group’s business operations and financial conditions may
be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to the Group's
businesses, which mainly include the operational risks, financial
risks, market risks and regulatory risks.
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Operational risks are those relating to the Group's internal
processes, including but not limited to potential misconduct
of employees and fraud, which may bring significant adverse
impact on the Group's business operations and reputation.
Failures of information technology systems will result in
interruption of the operation of the Group and potential leakage
of confidential information. Operational risks may also result
from emergencies and unexpected events such as natural
hazards. In view of such risks, relevant operation policies and
procedures have been adopted and are in place to ensure
that the daily operation of the Group is in compliance with the
relevant requirements of laws and regulations. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected
case of employee misconduct and/or fraud arises, any staff can
report directly to the management. The staff handbook has also
stipulated that employee misconduct and fraud are prohibited.
The Group places considerable value on data security and
data privacy. The computer systems are secured with access
controls, while maintenance and update are conducted regularly
by the information technology services providers.

Financial risks include liquidity risk in the Group’s normal
course of business. Liquidity risk refers to the Group's ability in
maintaining sufficient fund to meet the liquidity requirements.
To ensure the Group maintains sufficient capital and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements, the cash flows projection
of the Group is reviewed on a regular basis. For the business
of the Group, the financial resources are regularly reviewed
to ensure that the financial reserve of the Group can meet
the liquid capital requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations.

Market risks relate to the change in macroeconomic conditions
and fluctuation of market variables such as gross domestic
product, exchange rates, equity prices and property prices in
China. These risks may generally affect market and merchants’
demands, especially the uncertain impact of the novel
COVID-19 outbreak on the macroeconomy since December
2019, which may lead to adverse impact on the Group's
revenue. The Group would from time to time fine-tune the
Group's business strategies, policies and procedures according
to the market situation.

FEESEHERAT —SFFR

EERBRERAFCERERNSEAERZEA
o BEEARRETERETATE KRR
FEoREHAEEEREERBELNR
ERMEE BB ARWEREER
AEBEZFPEHRAERBRBEN -E
BRRTAEARKEFEZBERAERZ
Sh2EHER-ERNEREAR xEEE
RN AAREERRKEN BRA
EENHESEBNLARMEREERNR
EoAMEABENCSERY > HHREME
BRI RBRER/ RENEAEMN
EEFNEEODEEE LR -BETFMIFR
ERILEEFHRERRFTR AEH
ERERENREZREN R -BIEAMK
BEGFIEHFRE  BARKRGHERS
AIERMEE R BN R

MERBOEAEREEEBBRERZR
LR - RBERRIEREBRETITE
BZLURERBEERZE 5 T HRRF
rEBFEAERRESREEBENUNTEER
FMERE GERERRE AR -MEH
= AEESERBRSMBER BRA
EENMBREBEIERENOERTH
MBETRE

mIHARY R ERBEE BRI TS 2
HEKE AP EAAMEEBEE
KREBERRPEEE - ZFRAL AL

FETERERPNER LHEBEZZE
—hWE+ZAMURIBENNE GRS
KREBHRREENTREETE P8
HAEBZEXRERTHNEE -F&EEH
SIRETH N FRIARE BRI EF RS
BRKRIZR °

079



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

Regulatory risks may arise from potential default of the Group in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group’s business and any future
changes in the relevant laws and regulations. Non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations may bring various
consequences to the Group.

The Board is of the view that for the year ended 31 December
2022, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by
staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and
that such staff receives appropriate and sufficient training
and development. Based on the result of work of the Risk
Committee, the Board also believes that sufficient resources
have been obtained for the Company’s internal audit function
and that its staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budgets are sufficient.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of
the Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company'’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of GEM Listing Rules on
Securities Transaction, Code of Conduct, and the Company’s
compliance with the Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
The joint company secretaries of the Company are Ms. Han Xia
and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit is an assistant
vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
corporate services. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit's primary corporate
contact person at the Company is Ms. Han Xia.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Han Xia and
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of special general meeting and putting
forward proposals

Pursuant section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
shareholders shall have a right to request the Board to
convene a special general meeting of the Company (“SGM").
Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth
(10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company may send a written
requisition to the Board to request for convening a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the SGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and must be deposited at the
Company'’s principal place of business at Unit 1511, 15/F, Shui
On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three (3) months from the said date.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATIONS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Company’s performance to shareholders through
the publication of quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
report. In addition to dispatching circulars, notices and financial
reports to shareholders, additional information is also available
to shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.
hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.chinayouzan.com), which
is updated regularly. The annual general meeting provides a
useful forum for shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
annual general meetings for which the Company gives at
least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman, Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company’s
businesses at the meeting. The Company values feedback from
shareholders on its effort to promote transparencies and foster
investor relationships.

The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Company and believes that it was effective during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or
requisitions to bring to the attention of the Board through the
following methods:

Address: Unit 1511, 15/F

Shui On Centre

No. 6-8 Harbour Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Email: investor@youzan.com
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Shareholders, investors and members of the public should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's Hong Kong Share Registrar. The contact details for
the Hong Kong Share Registrar are as follows:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers cash or other methods deemed
appropriate by the Board to declare and pay dividends
to shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). In
recommending dividends to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits, the Board would also
ensure the Company has adequate reserves for future growth.
The Board's decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of Shareholders. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to
any applicable restrictions under the laws of the Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye Laws and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
not made any changes to its Bye-Laws.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Youzan Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred
to as the “Group” or “we") are pleased to publish our
environmental, social and governance report (hereinafter
referred to as "ESG Report” or this “Report”) to
demonstrate our environmental, social and governance
(hereinafter referred to as “ESG"”) responsibilities, as
well as our overall strategy, objectives and regulatory
effectiveness for achieving the long-term value of ESG.
This Report should be read in conjunction with the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report to obtain a comprehensive understanding
of the Group's ESG performance.

1.1 Reporting Standard

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (hereinafter referred to as the “Guide")
as contained in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). This Report is prepared
on the basis of four reporting principles, namely:
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
and it has complied with the “Comply or Explain”
provisions of the Guide.

Materiality: We have identified and disclosed the
process and criteria for material ESG issues in
the report. We have also identified and disclosed
key stakeholders, the process and results of
stakeholder engagement in the ESG Report.

Quantitative: The statistical criteria, methods,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used in the
ESG Report for reporting emissions, and the
sources of conversion factors are defined in the
Report.
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1.3

1.4
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Balance: The ESG Report presents the Group's
performance during the reporting period in an
impartial manner, avoiding choices, omissions or
presentation formats that may unduly influence the
decisions or judgments of readers.

Consistency: The statistical methods used to
disclose data in the ESG Report are consistent
with those of last year. If there is any change, it
will be clearly stated in the Report for stakeholders’
reference.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, this Report focuses
on the performance of the core business of the
Group from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
(this “Year”). The environmental key performance
indicators during this Year cover Hangzhou, Beijing,
Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Chengdu and
Hong Kong.

Reporting Language

This Report is published in traditional Chinese
and English version. In case of discrepancies, the
traditional Chinese version shall prevail.

Approval and Confirmation

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Group
is fully responsible for what is reported in this
Report. The internal control and formal review
procedures of the Group have been established to
ensure that all data presented in this Report are as
accurate and reliable as possible, and the identified
ESG material issues are covered. This Report has
already been reviewed and approved by the Board
on 23 March 2023.

“BCFFR

12

13

14

T (ESCRE TR
WAEEREHAANBIRIET B
RAESNEEMF EE
RERAEHEZ BRNZE
WAETLo

—E M ESGER S E BUIET
ERMNME HEHREER
RF—R -MELE RIS
hERRA HEHESE -

RS EHE

PRIES BB ARERELR
EER_E-__F#—F—H
E_E g+ "B=+—
B(XFEE) WZLEHZ
RIB-AFEMNRIZHIZME
BRIEEEENIMNIER £
BN EYI AR BB

LA

7 ¥R 5 LU RS AP SOM B 33
fiio A > UERE P XhR
iAo

Bt R FERTD
rEENEFE(EFE)Y
AR EPMERNANBTEES
BEE - REB I BFIEF K
FAEREFBREAKRSE
25 BPT A IR E e 2
pI 5 W B R EFrs A BIESG
EMRE-FAEREEHES
SERIN_ZT_=F=H
“T=HESEFgHZe

085



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS -t g MERRS

2.

086

1.5 Feedback Mechanism

We attach great importance to your views and
suggestions on this Report, and you are welcome
to contact us via email (investor@youzan.com).

ESG MANAGEMENT

2.1

Board Statement

The Board assumes the responsibility for
supervising the ESG matters of the Group, and
is responsible for approving the Group's material
issues, supervising ESG performance and regularly
assessing ESG-related risks and opportunities. The
Board assumes full responsibility for the Group's
ESG and sustainable development, authorizes
the ESG Task Force, which comprises multiple
departments, to be responsible for the specific
development of ESG works and continues to
facilitate the Group’s ESG works to determine the
Group’'s ESG management methods, strategies,
priorities and objectives. This Year, the Board
reviewed the prioritization of ESG issues and
the management of ESG matters. In order to
continuously improve the work of sustainable
development, we have reviewed and discussed
the environmental objectives related to business
operations that were set last year and their
progress during this Year.
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ESG Governance Structure

The Group is well aware of the importance of
integrating ESG into the Group’s management
policies, strategies, business plans and policies for
the sustainable operation of the Group. Therefore,
the Group has established an ESG governance
structure, which included three levels: decision-
making level, organizational level and execution
level. The ESG governance is implemented from
top to bottom, and the roles and responsibilities
of each level in the ESG governance structure
are specified. The Board acts as our decision-
making level, the ESG Task Force acts as the
organizational level and representatives of
various departments act as the execution level.
Through close cooperation at all levels, we are
convinced that we can integrate the concept of
sustainable development with the Group's overall
strategies, policies, daily operations and business.
The followings are the Group’'s ESG governance
structure and the composition and responsibilities
of the ESG Task Force within the governance
structure:

ESG Task Force
ESGE&E/VH

ESG representatives of each
functional department in every region
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The ESG Task Force consists of the Administration
Department, Organisational Growth Department,
Supervision Department, Product Centre,
Marketing Department (Public Welfare Line) and
Legal Department, and its responsibilities are as
follows:

° Identify, evaluate, review and manage major
ESG issues, risks and opportunities;

o Formulate ESG management policies,
strategies, plans, annual work and goals for
approval by the Board, and promote relevant
implementation work;

° Responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the group’s ESG policies and practices to
ensure that the group complies with relevant
legal and regulatory requirements;

° Collect, understand and respond to the
opinions of stakeholders on material ESG
issues through appropriate channels;

o Participate in the preparation of the annual
ESG report and maintain communication
with the ESG consultant team;

o Continue to track and review ESG-related
performance and target progress to ensure
that each ESG matter is properly managed
and relevant ESG policies are implemented;

° Coordinate and promote the implementation
of each ESG policy by each department,
and monitor the ESG-related work of each
functional department; and

° Put forward ESG-related suggestions to the

Board at an appropriate time to improve the
group’s performance in ESG.
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement 23 FpESHE
The opinions of stakeholders can contribute to FhENBRREAEERE
the stable development of the Group's business. BHRBEERE AL A&EH
Therefore, the Group attaches great importance ¢§BUE§%§Q@%§?§€%%§ﬁ%%§ E54
to the communication with stakeholders. We fEdEEREE EZERED
communicate with stakeholders through various BRI LT RPN
channels to understand their expectations, and use G A I E %3 I 5T AR EE B AY 7]
this as an important reference for formulating the FEERKTBRNEEDZ K
Group's sustainable development strategies. o
Major Stakeholders Communication Channels
FTERFNRE
Customers o Customer advisory group
g)fl %‘)5 DEIEI /J\
o Customer service center
ERRBH O
o Activities to enhance customer loyalty
RAXRTHENEH
° Customer satisfaction survey and comment form
ERPRERERETMERR
o Daily operations/communication
HEEE N
° Online service platform
HERBES
° Phone
° Mailbox
EalPe]
Employees ° Staff opinion survey (forms, suggestion boxes, etc.)
BT BTRERAE EK RREH)
° Work performance evaluation and interview
T ERIF T LB
° Group discussion
/NR 5T
o Conference meeting
GRER
o Volunteering activities
RELEE
o Special Advisory Committee/Thematic Discussion
Group
BREAEE g HEEstm/ A
° Staff communication meeting
BTEBRE
o Staff intranet
BT Ak

TEERERAT —S-_EER 089
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Major Stakeholders Communication Channels
FTERFNRE BBRE
Shareholders/Investors o Annual general meeting and other general meetings
KRR HEE of shareholders
RRBFASEAMRREAS
° Quarterly report, interim report and annual report
FTERS PHRETEFTR
o Corporate communications, such as shareholder
letters/circulars and meeting notices
B MBRREHBRRGHRBH
o Results announcement
ES YNl
o Investor meeting
CEEE®E
Business partners ° Meeting
FBBEH g5
o Visit
5%
° Report
wE
Suppliers o Supplier/contractor evaluation system
AR HAER AT E I E
° Meeting
EE
Regulatory authority ° Meeting
EEHE g5
Media o Press release
B rETE
o Results announcement
ES YNl
Community/ ° Volunteering activities
Non-Governmental ELEH
organisation ° Donation
H& IEEATERE E=1
Peers ° Group announcement
IS EEBES
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24

Materiality Assessment

The support of stakeholders is the cornerstone
of our steady development. Therefore, we always
consider the expectations and opinions of major
internal and external stakeholders. Last year, we
identified and assessed the materiality issues with
reference to the Guide of the Stock Exchange and
the materiality map issued by the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB), taking into
account the expectations and opinions of major
internal and external stakeholders, as well as the
advice of professional consultants. We identified
23 material issues, which were categorized into
three levels: high materiality issues, moderate
materiality issues and general materiality issues.

24
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High materiality issues

EEEEERE

Anti-corruption, supply chain
management, intellectual
property protection, customer
satisfaction, product
responsibility, user privacy,
data security, employee
training and development,
employee safety and

health, diversity and equal
opportunities, attracting and
retaining talents, rights and
interests of employees, and
energy management

Moderate materiality issues
hEEERSE

Waste management,
greenhouse gas (GHG)
management, employment
management, compensation
and benefits

General materiality issues
—REERE

Water resources management,
climate change, community
investment, responsible
marketing, product health

and safety and compliance
operation
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This Year, there was no significant change in
our stakeholder group, business and operating
environment. Therefore, the Board, the
management and the ESG Task Force confirmed
that the results of the materiality assessment in
the previous year are still applicable to this Year,
which can still respond to the expectations of
stakeholders and will continue to be used for this
Year. The identified material issues will be disclosed
in this Report under a targeted approach. We wiill
also review and improve the Group's sustainable
development plan based on these material issues.

BUSINESS ETHICS

3.1

Anti-corruption and Promoting Integrity
The Group is committed to creating a working
environment of honesty, integrity, mutual respect
and trust. We strictly abide by related laws and
regulations such as the Company Law of the
People's Republic of China, Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People's Republic of China, Supervision
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Criminal
Law of the People’'s Republic of China and operate
our business cautiously. To comply with the
above laws and regulations, the Group has also
formulated a series of rules and regulations such
as the Anti-Corruption Regulations, Youzan Code of
Work Conduct, Youzan Code of Business Conduct
and Youzan Reimbursement Manual. The aforesaid
rules and regulations set forth the basic principles,
important policies and procedures that should
be followed in business activities to regulate the
behavior of employees. According to the rules and
regulations, employees are required to resolutely
eliminate any corruption, such as bribery, extortion,
and money laundering. Employees are not allowed
to solicit or accept any personal benefits or gifts,
nor to offer or give any bribes, kickbacks, private
commissions, or payments or gifts of a private
benefit, nor to use company secrets to gain
benefits for themselves or others.
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We also provide safe and confidential reporting
channels, and encourage employees or other
persons in the know to report incidents suspected
of violating business ethics. Our Disciplinary
Committee will carefully handle the information we
obtain, conduct a fair and impartial investigation
of the reported incident, and take corrective
measures for the discovered misconduct. If the
reported incident is confirmed to be true after
investigation, we will deal with the relevant person
according to law.

We have established a Disciplinary Committee to
deal with matters related to the above-mentioned
standards of the Group. It has the highest authority
to make decisions and interpretations to further
strengthen the management of anti-corruption.
The Disciplinary Committee is directly led by our
leading members include our chief executive
officer, chief technology officer, and chief financial
officer. We require employees to disclose potential
or existed conflicts of interest to the Disciplinary
Committee in a timely manner. They are not
allowed to participate in related activities without
approval or exemption. Subsequent to every
year end, employees are required to submit a
statement to the responsible persons designated
by the Disciplinary Committee within one month,
stating that no conflicts of interest have arisen, or
listing out conflicts of interest that have arisen. This
Year, we had recalibrated anti-corruption-related
regulations and codes of conduct, and actively
conducted training activities on related topics for
the members of the Board, management and
general employees to enhance the anti-corruption
and integrity awareness of all employees.

it S 35

HATRHZE2FRENER
RE > XBETHEMABA
TREIRERBEERN
EH-RMNLCEZEERIE
EREFMF/HNER BERE
HETAFRAENHREE LTE
HEPMERNAETHEREN
A IEFE I - B IRBI = A5
EREBE BERALRER
RIERRIE

KM T HLREEE R
AEE FMERERER
WARERSRREREERE
NE-FMEREENEE-
ZAEEEENRENES
BREMANEFEATE BRKX
MENEBREVBE HME
KRETRBOLREEZEGH
BEENECERFENA
mER RERE R T
B2NEREE -BEERER
B B8IHRIN—ERRBERG
CREETEENETAR
R—IN B RAENnER
BRI RHBHE HERAYA
mER-FFEE > HAMET
REMBREBERETHE
Al > A5 15 79 = AR BA £ R RV 155
EEMEFERE - EEEMN
EEET RAZEEINK
BB S BRR = o

093



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS (g RERRE

094

For anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism, we
have also established Anti-Money Laundering
and Anti-Terrorist Financing Management Basic
System, and have formulated corresponding
internal control systems, including the Customer
Identity Identification System, Customer
Identity Information and Transaction History
Record Preservation System, Large Transaction
and Suspicious Transaction Reporting System,
Customer Money Laundering and Terrorist
Financing Risk Classification Management
Measures, Customer Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risk Assessment Measures,
Anti-Money Laundering Audit System, Anti-
Money Laundering Confidentiality System, Anti-
Money Laundering Publicity System, Anti-Money
Laundering Training System, Measures for Freezing
Assets Involved in Terrorist Activities, Measures for
Coordinating Anti-Money Laundering Supervision,
and Measures for Assisting in Administrative
Investigations on Anti-Money Laundering, so as to
cope with various new and traditional methods of
Internet money laundering.
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Our Board is responsible for the Group's overall
anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing
work. We deeply aware of the need to maintain
independence and confidentiality in our anti-money
laundering to ensure fairness and justice and have
therefore established an Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group, and authorized senior management
personnel to take the lead in managing money
laundering risks and to report directly to the
directors. The Board is responsible for supervising
the performance of the Anti-Money Laundering
Leading Group. The Anti-Money Laundering
Leading Group has a Compliance Management
Department comprising department heads and
anti-money laundering specialists, which is
responsible for the implementation of anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing. The duties of
the Anti-money Laundering Leading Group are as
follows:

° Review and publish anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing regulations and
implementation rules;

° Responsible for the overall planning of the
Group’s anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing work, and supervise
implementation of the work;

° Build the Group's anti-money laundering
organisational structure, recruit and dismiss
anti-money laundering staff;

° Clarify the specific responsibilities of each
anti-money laundering department and
business personnel;

o Check violations of anti-money laundering

regulations and working procedures and
punish relevant personnel;
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° Coordinate and resolve major issues in anti-
money laundering work, and report major
money laundering risk to directors in a timely
manner,;

° Designate departments for implementation
of anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist
financing work, and supervise and urge
the implementation of relevant policies and
procedures;

° Other anti-money laundering duties required
by the directors of the Group.

The Compliance Management Department is a
department under the Anti-Money Laundering
Leading Group, which is comprised of department
heads and anti-money laundering specialists and is
responsible for the implementation of anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing, and is also
responsible for the specific implementation of anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing. The
Anti-Money Laundering Leading Group convenes at
least one anti-money laundering meeting every six
months to review the anti-money laundering and
anti-terrorist financing work of the Group.
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We will also conduct an anti-money laundering
performance appraisal every six months. Directors
of the Group and the Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group will inspect the performance of the
anti-money laundering responsibilities of relevant
departments and branches. The assessment
content includes the construction of anti-money
laundering internal control system and mechanism,
customer identification and transaction history
record keeping, customer and business risk
rating, cooperation with supervising anti-money
laundering work, anti-money laundering monitoring
and analysis and large-value and suspicious
transaction reporting, anti-money laundering
promotion and training and other anti-money
laundering performance. For employees who do
not meet the assessment criteria, we will require
them to rectify the problems. For departments
and employees that have made outstanding
contributions to the Group's anti-money laundering
work, upon the proposal of the Compliance
Management Department, we will give them
bonus points during performance appraisal.

This Year, the Group did not have any lawsuits
related to corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud,
money laundering and terrorist financing against
the Group or its employees.
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3.2

Information Security

The Group strictly complies with related laws
and regulations such as Regulations of the
People's Republic of China for Safety Protection
of Computer Information Systems, Cybersecurity
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Provisions
on the Technical Measures for the Protection
of the Security of the Internet, Administrative
Measures on Internet Information Services and
Measures for Security Protection Administration
of the International Networking of Computer
Information Networks, so as to fully protect
information security. Also, we formulated about
30 relevant policies such as the Youzan Business
Code of Conduct, Youzan Information Security
and Privacy Protection Management Manual,
Youzan Information Security and Privacy Protection
Strategy, Youzan Product Privacy Protection
Design Guidelines, Youzan Information Security
Risk Assessment Management Regulations,
Youzan Data Security Specification and Youzan
Cryptography Use Security Management
Regulations. Through these policies, we
standardize procedures and responsibilities
for behavior such as collecting, using, and
protecting customer data. In addition, we also
provide employees with personal information
protection training to enhance their awareness
and responsibility for protecting customers’ private
information.
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Our business involves collecting, using, analyzing
and storing the personal information of merchants
and consumers. Therefore, ensuring the security of
business information is an essential aspect of the
Group's operations. The Group provides customers
with bank-level information security protection
system. Our information security management
system has been accredited with certifications for
information security and data privacy, including
CSA C-STAR certificate (EstEZ2F1EFES),
ISO 27001-Information Security Management
System Certificate (EEB L2 BIREADEETDR)
and ISO 27701-Privacy Information Management
System Certificate (BFAEEEBIERRDFEE
2£), which are solid proofs of the security of our
system.

For merchants and users, we will sign the Personal
Information User Authorization, User Authorization
Agreement, Information User Authorization Form
and Youzan Authorization Service Agreement with
them, so that they can clearly understand the
types and purposes of the personal data collected
and rights of both parties before using our products
and services. We have also established a personal
information protection department. If customers
have any doubts, suggestions or complaints about
the privacy policy or the use of personal data, they
can contact us by email (privacy@youzan.com), and
we will investigate as soon as possible and reply to
customers.
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3.3 Respecting Intellectual Property Rights

In order to establish the brand image of Youzan
and accurately convey the brand value, the Group
strictly complies with laws and regulations such
as Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Patent Law of the People's Republic of
China, Detailed Rules for the Implementation
of the Patent Law of the People’'s Republic of
China, Trademark Law of the People’'s Republic of
China, Law on Intellectual Property Rights of the
People's Republic of China, and Copyright Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and regulates
intellectual property management including
trademark rights, patent rights, copyrights by
formulating and implementing Youzan Code of
Business Conduct, Guidelines on the Use of
Intellectual Property Rights for Youzan Employees,
Youzan Brand Use Specification (Visual and
Material Chapter) and Youzan Brand Logo
Specification (Channel Chapter), so as to respect
and protect the intellectual property rights of
ourselves and the market. We continue to increase
investment in product research and development
and the transformation of technological
achievements, form the core independent
intellectual property rights of the enterprise, and
provide reliable technical support for merchants,
with a view to improve the service experience of
agents and customers.
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According to our rules and regulations, our
employees and agents are required to strictly
abide by the Youzan Brand Use Specification. All
marketing materials related to the Group's brand
image (including but not limited to the use of the
Group’s trademarks, use of the Group’'s product
image), such as event posters, event details pages,
brochures, leaflets, display racks, display boards,
three-dimensional models, employee uniforms,
customized gifts, etc., must be reviewed and
approved by the marketing department of the
Group before they can be released to the outside
world to prevent false and misleading information.
No one may confuse/fake the official identity of
Youzan, or disclose company license information
to third parties in private, or disclose company
trademarks and license information to merchants
or partners. For employees, we provide them
with detailed guidelines to avoid infringement,
establish a procurement application process, and
formulate measures for infringement complaints.
We require employees never commercialize
non-paid copyrighted works unless expressly
authorized. If employees need to purchase paid
copyrighted works due to work reasons, they must
apply to the Group in advance. For Youzan agents,
they need to sign the Youzan Regional Agency
Agreement with the Group. If relevant agreement
is violated, we have the right to impose penalties
on Youzan agents in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Regulations on the Supervision
and Management of Youzan Agents.
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We have established Youzan Intellectual Property
Protection Centre and established an intellectual
property complaint and appeal platform on the
Group's official website, so as to better protect
the interests of intellectual property owners. If the
goods/services provided by the operator in the
Youzan environment infringe on the intellectual
property rights of others and are complained, or
are complained in bad faith, after ascertaining the
facts, we will double the liability of infringers and
those who make the malicious complaint to pay
compensation in accordance with the law.

This Year, the Group had a total of 18 registered
patents and 10 new patents.

Superior Quality

As a merchant service company, we seize the
development opportunities brought by technology,
cater to customer needs and market changes, and
continue to provide more efficient and diversified
products and services. The Group strictly abides
by industry-related laws and regulations including
the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests,
with the mission of “helping every merchant
who values products and services success in
commerce’
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e "POSER" is the Group's corporate value,
namely, more Professional (P), Ownership (O),
Service (S), Execution (E) and Result (R), and
“system stability is above all else” as our belief.
Our services include providing merchants with
comprehensive services including system services,
traffic orders, business recommendations, and
talent services. Based on SaaS services, we
provide a full range of services to merchants
in the course of their businesses. We gradually
improve the quality and depth of the service to
address the actual needs of merchants and bring
them long-term value services, including providing
more efficient transaction processes, more quality
consumer experience, and healthier ecological
environment. If our core services are unable
to work as usual, which affects the customers’
business, we will give 102.4 times compensation
according to the unavailable time.

In order to create a fair and honest agent system,
we have formulated the Regulations on the
Supervision and Management of Youzan Agents,
which sets out the responsibilities and obligations
of agents. We only cooperate with conscientious
merchants who abide by the local laws and
regulations of the sites of operation, have a stable
source of high-quality resource, have excellent
service capabilities, integrity, and value aftersales
service and consumer reputation.
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3.5

Customers’ Rights and Interests

We are committed to protecting consumer rights
and interests, and have a professional customer
service team to answer questions and solve
problems for merchants and customers in a
timely manner. We have set up risky trading early
warning system, quick emergency solutions,
buyers’ consumption warning column, seller’s
hotline for enquiries and questions, buyers’ after
sales problem assistance team and consumption
security technical team, respectively, so as to
monitor consumption risks to reduce losses
of consumers, alert abnormal data in a timely
manner, and conduct rights protection publicity and
education to customers, respond to inquiries from
agents and consumers in a timely manner, properly
handle consumption disputes between agents and
consumers and assist consumers in solving after
sales problems.

We welcome merchants and consumers to put
forward their opinions on the services of the
Group. We have established a comprehensive
customer complaint mechanism to efficiently
and properly deal with complaint and dispute.
Channels for receiving information include
mailboxes, complaint hotlines, online complaints,
etc. In order to prevent complaint being handled
inappropriately, we record the complaint, determine
the responsibility for handling complaint, analyze
the reasons of complaint, propose specific solution,
implement the solution, communicate promptly
with the complainant and then communicate with
the relevant business departments to improve
countermeasures.

This Year, the Company received a total of 14
complaints, with a conclusion rate of 100%.
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Responsible Procurement

In order to ensure the stability of the service,
we have established the Youzan Procurement
Process, Bidding Process and Supplier Safety
Management Regulations. Business parties are
required to independently investigate the functions
and prices of products in the market and match
their own business needs, and form a procurement
team with the Finance Department and the
Legal Department to shop around and jointly
promote the selection of suppliers and business
negotiations. We will also review suppliers based
on business needs, and those suppliers that do not
meet the criteria will be removed from our supplier
database.

In the process of supplier selection and evaluation,
we will evaluate the service and product price,
quality, service attitude of the supplier. We will
also consider the environmental impact of the
production process of such supplier, health
and safety of employees, compliance, welfare
system, equal opportunity, and ethical business
practices. We tend to cooperate with suppliers
with sustainable development concepts, and give
priority to suppliers providing environmentally
friendly products and services with lower
environmental impact.

This Year, we had approximately 31 suppliers, the
service categories provided by them were mainly
server, payment and SMS services, hardware
and lecturer services, all of which were located in
China, including Zhejiang, Beijing, Shanghai and
Shenzhen.
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COMMON GROWTH

The Group understands that human talents are our
valuable assets. The Group strictly abides by laws and
regulations such as Labour Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, Regulation on the Implementation of the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law
of the People’'s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors, and Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labour.

We continue to promote the building of talent teams,
effectively protect the rights and interests of employees,
and strive to create an equal, inclusive, healthy and safe
working environment, annihilating any discrimination
related to gender, marital status, age, race, color,
disability, nationality, religion, etc., to achieve the
common development of the company and employees.
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Employment Management

We fully aware that our development is greatly
influenced by talents recruitment. The human
resources department will formulate a recruitment
plan on a quarterly basis according to business
development needs, and recruit talents through a
variety of methods, taking education background,
work experience and other relevant conditions
into consideration. We select suitable candidates
through multifarious ways, and require the Human
Resources Administration Department to carefully
check personal data by requiring applicants to
produce identification documents, in order to
ensure that the recruited employees comply with
laws and regulations, and to eliminate child labour
as defined by laws and regulations. At the same
time, we prohibit forced labour and ensure that
newly recruited employees sign legally effective
labour contracts with us on the basis of equality,
voluntariness, compliance with legal regulations
and consensus, to protect the rights and interests
of both parties.

At the same time, as stated in the Staff Handbook,
both the Group and employees maintain the
right to terminate the employment relationship.
When an employee makes a resignation request,
the person in charge of the human resources
department will interview him to understand the
reason for his/her resignation, so as to identify the
employee's resignation-related issues and improve
the human resources management system of
the Group when necessary. We have created a
variety of internal communication channels such
as internal networks, newspapers, questionnaires,
and employee forums, so that employees can
communicate with the management to have
a better understanding of the needs of every
employee and improve employee turnover.
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4.2

Taking into account the particularity of the
industry of the Group, we have formulated and
implemented the Attendance Management.
According to the needs of different positions,
the working hours of employees are divided into
standard working hours and irregular working
hours. We have also implemented flexible working
time management to respect each employee’s rest
habits. We avoid and do not encourage employees
to work overtime, and employees can apply for
compensation leave as a result of requiring to work
overtime.

This Year, the Group did not have any case of child
labour or forced labour. As of 31 December 2022,
the Group had a total of 1,952 employees.

Safe Operation

The Group pays attention to the health and
safety of employees and strictly complies with
the requirements of laws and regulations such
as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, Production Safety Law of the People's
Republic of China, Provisions on the Supervision
and Administration of Occupational Health at
Work Sites and Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances to implement a series of measures to
protect the health and safety of employees. In the
future, we will continue to improve our employee
health and safety management system to reduce
employees’ work-related injuries.
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In terms of training, we offer general safety
education for new employees and employees
starting a new job, including company safety
regulations and emergency measures; provide
special training on the dangers that employees
may encounter at work and how to protect
themselves; and regularly hold rescue and fire
escape drills to enhance employees’ safety
awareness and self-rescue ability. In terms of
prevention and emergency, we have established
a safety early warning system to report dangers,
injuries, diseases, etc.; and established emergency
measures, such as fire or explosion response
plans, so that employees can respond immediately
to dangers and injuries.

Owing to the epidemic, we released work
schedule adjustments in a timely manner based
on the situation of the pandemic, and provided
tutorials on working remotely, office health
measures, and out-of-home health protection to
ensure the safety of employees and the smooth
transition of work. We have also disinfected the
office and provided masks and disinfectants to
employees so that they can resume work at ease.

We also equipped with fitness and leisure places,
hoping that employees can relieve stress through
sports and entertainment, and protect their
physical and mental health. We have established
an online medical care platform “Youzan Doctor’
so that employees can have timely access to
professional medical guidance when they are not
feeling well. At the same time, in order to give
employees more relief, we allow them to bring a
family member for free physical examination each
year.

In the past three years including this Year, the
Group had no work-related fatalities. This Year, the
lost days due to work injury of the Group was 138
days.
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4.3

Attracting Talent

We have formulated the rules of Performance
Evaluation Score and Salary Concept to provide
employees with market-competitive salaries.
Our salary is determined comprehensively
based on the salary level of similar positions in
the same industry, our salary portfolio strategy,
and post salary structure. There are two salary
review each year. Based on the results of the
Performance Evaluation Score, we will also provide
corresponding sales bonuses, daily performance
bonuses and yearend bonuses, as well as options,
equity, etc., in order to encourage employees to
grow together with us.

We have also formulated the Welfare System to
provide employees with a series of benefits. In
addition to the statutory holidays and the statutory
“five insurances and one pension” benefits
stipulated by the Chinese government, we provide
employees with paid holidays, sick leave, marriage
leave, prenatal check-up leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, funeral leave, work injury leave,
etc. We set every Wednesday as “Family Day”
so that everyone can leave work early to be with
family and friends. In addition, employees will
receive transportation subsidies and monthly
subsidies for them to consume and shop. On the
anniversary of the Group and holidays, as well
as the birthdays of employees, we will provide
ample gifts. If employees have newborn children,
we will also send gifts to congratulate them. We
also organise various team building activities and
club activities from time to time to strengthen the
communication and connection among employees.
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4.4

PEEEHRAT

Talent Development

We also hope that each employee can continue
to grow in the field they are good at. Therefore,
we provide employees with two growth paths,
namely the professional path and the management
path. Each path is divided into three systems, and
each system contains the corresponding position.
We ensure that the entire promotion process
is also fair and equitable, and established rules
for the promotion of employees. We will make
multidimensional assessments for employees who
apply for promotion or are nominated, including
performance, professional knowledge, professional
skills, occupational ability, internal return (such as
serving as a trainer) and cultivation of successors
(nominating qualified candidates for their current
positions), etc. They can only be promoted after
passing the review by the review committee.

We believe that the ability of our employees
is of paramount importance to maintain and
strengthen our competitiveness. Therefore, we
provide diversified training which aims at improving
employees’ relevant industry knowledge and
skills. We will review the effectiveness of training
according to the need of employees, in order to
plan the training content for the coming year. We
have implemented the “336 Talent Cultivation
Plan’ and we plan to train more than 36 senior
management talents under the age of 36 within
3 years, who will be responsible for most of the
business units, and 300 talents under the age of
30 responsible for important positions. We have
also formulated corresponding training plans
according to the needs of employees at different
levels.
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We have established a Youzan online learning
platform to facilitate employees to learn in a
timely manner. We have set up Youzan new Zaner
training and new topics for new employees to
help them integrating into the Group quickly. We
have set up talented management growth camp,
promising management growth camp, course for
management position code of conduct, leadership
salon, and SHL executive talent assessment
project for management to help managers
strengthening their professional skills and
leadership. We have offered customer satisfaction
centre professional ability courses, technical centre
professional ability courses, service operation
centre professional ability courses, product centre
professional ability courses, certified interviewer
courses and Youzan Education professional ability
courses for employees in different departments.
In order to strengthen the comprehensive
business ability of all employees, we have
provided trainings such as structural thinking,
office software skills, crucial conversation, honours
moment, project management, personal character
recognition, visual guidance, story-telling ability,
cultural precipitation, training/cultural project
visualization. We will also hold joyful reading club,
vision upgrade workshops, cultural precipitation
promotion activities, the most outstanding Zaner
MVP club, and cultural ambassador promotion
activities.

We welcome employees to serve as lecturers to
share expertise in their fields with other colleagues
and promote common growth. We also hire
external training institutions according to the needs
of our employees. We ensure the effectiveness
of training through methods such as problem
diagnosis, telephone interviews, focused lectures,
example guidance, learning applications, reporting
results and evaluation of outcome.
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This Year, the percentage of male employees
of the Group received training was 53.5%, and
the average training hour was 20 hours; the
percentage of female employees trained was
46.5%, and the average training hour was 18
hours.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group strives to create a sustainable development
society where mankind and nature can coexist
harmoniously. It strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People's Republic of China, Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste,
Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Pollution from Environmental
Noise. Although the Group's business have no significant
impact on natural resources, we still try our best to
reduce the environmental impact caused by operation
and management activities. This Year, the Group did
not violate any environmental protection laws or cause
major accidents affecting the environment and natural
resources, and did not receive any notice of penalties or
litigation in the area of environmental protection.

In addition, we actively take corresponding environmental
protection measures, encourage employees to participate
in various activities hold by environmental protection
groups, and spread environmental protection knowledge
to employees through e-mails, posters, internal networks
and other media, so as to enhance their environmental
awareness and improve the environmental performance
of the Group.

FEESEHERAT —SFFR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS -t g RERRE

REE > AEBBEHEETZ
BOtEA3.5% TR
HA20NE B TRIE
DEEA46.5% 0 FHZHIRFE
#18/\FF o

IRIRREE
AEESNITEANEBAMBHRE
NAFEERIULE > BIRET(F
EARHEMBIRFREE)  (FEA
REMBIACTRITRZEZ) (FEAR
HANEE RS RE )5 RIRIZPAED
(PEARHAMBEHLIERZE) ~ (F
EARANBERIBIRE S RMIGE)
SHEEERER BEREENES
WA RERAERNERTE I
MNEAEREEECEEEEEHT
ERHIRER B AFE > AEET
BEEREAARBRIEREN LA
NEMTERERBABRNEKR
SHO TR ARIEABARIRERE
BY Bz E1 K sfr sA BRI

ItE5b > 4P 78 i £R BN A FE BV IR fR B
it > 5B 8 T2 NNIRRE ISR MRIIR
fRAE) WiBBEBI B]  NERAE
REEBME IS REIRMERMM =
BTHRERHR  BRAXERIRIES
ERIRE

13



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS -t g MERRS

14

5.1

5.2

Reduction of Emissions

Vehicle exhaust emissions are our main source
of emissions. In order to reduce emission
generation, we coordinated with the Chinese
government’s actions to control vehicle emissions.
By understanding the fuel consumption of the
vehicles operated by the Group this Year, we
planned and implemented targeted emissions
reduction measures, including: promoting the use
of public transportation, planning driving routes
in advance, and prohibiting vehicle abuse and
arranging regular maintenance, etc.

Reduction of Greenhouse Gases

The Group's scope 1 of greenhouse gas emission
is mainly from vehicle fuel consumption, and scope
2 is from the power consumption of the Group’s
operations. In order to reduce greenhouse gas
generation, we choose direct flights for inevitable
business travel, and use video conferencing to
replace non-essential overseas business trips. We
also promote low-carbon technology innovation
and actively promote the use of new low-carbon
technologies and products. More measures
in relation to the reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions will be further elaborated in the “Use of
Energy” section of this Report.
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This Year, we continued to conduct investigation
into greenhouse gas within environmental scope
in this Report in accordance with the Greenhouse
Gas Protocol developed by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development and the 1SO14064-1
formulated by the International Organization for
Standardization. The performance is as follows:

REE > HBEIRBHTR
&R B 2T B £t 5RO 5 4 8
BRIBEBEEgRENC(RER
BRERTE) MEBRIEE®L
4BEEERI(1SO14064-1) » 2
RRENRIEHEESHE
ETTRERBRET HEREB
mr

2022 quantitative

GHG Emissions Unit values

= R AR HE B i 20222 1L1E

Scope 1 Tonnes of COz-equivalent 0.01

& [Z]1 NEZHICHRES

Scope 2 Tonnes of COz-equivalent 2,002.18

& [E]2 NE_SEHREE

GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz-equivalent 2,002.19

AERBEIRAEE (FEE1/2) NRE_FEHRES

GHG emissions per employee Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.71
employee

AN REREHNE AB_FEREE BT

GHG emissions per square metre Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.06

BYHARKRERBEHFNE

square meter
AP FRER

This Year, in order to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions, we have reviewed the target of
reducing greenhouse gas emissions that was
set last year, achieved a reduction in emissions,
and we will also continue to maintain and reduce
greenhouse gas emissions level based on the 2021
target.
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5.3

Use of Energy

We actively adopted various energy saving
measures in the office mainly for lighting systems,
other electronic equipment and electrical
appliances, and air conditioning systems. In terms
of lighting systems, we keep the lighting devices
and electric lamps clean to maximize their energy
efficiency, divide the offices into multiple different
lighting areas to set up independently controllable
lighting switches in different lighting areas, and
use lamps with high energy efficiency (such as
T5 fluorescent lamps and light-emitting diodes). In
terms of other electronic equipment and electrical
appliances, we purchase electronic equipment with
energy efficiency labels, use virtualized computer
equipment to reduce power consumption and
hardware installation, use a timer to completely
turn off the printer during non-working hours, and
set the computer to enter automatic standby/
sleep mode when idling. We also conduct
monthly electricity statistics to monitor power
consumption, identify abnormalities and find out its
cause in time to make necessary improvements.
In terms of air conditioning systems, we reduce
gaps between doors and windows to reduce loss
of cool air, regularly check and replace the pressure
gauge, pressure hose and the connector of the air
compressor to reduce the possibility of refrigerant
leakage, and use low-emissivity glass to block
ultraviolet rays that generate heat.

This Year, the power consumption within
environmental scope in this Report during
operation was 3,445,824.40 kWh, the per capita
power consumption was 1,226.71 kWh, and
the power consumption per square meter was
102.12 kWh. This Year, we reviewed the power
consumption target that was set last year and
reduced power consumption, and will continue
to review and optimize power-saving measures
based on the 2021 target to achieve the target of
maintaining or reducing power consumption.
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5.5

PEEEHRAT

Use of Water

Since the water consumption data within the
environmental scope in this Report is managed
by an independent property company, we have
difficulties in recording and monitoring water
consumption data, thus we are unable to disclose
the relevant data and water consumption targets,
but we are still reducing water consumption to
the extent feasible. Our property management
company installs equipment with water-saving
labels for toilets, and regularly checks the water
meter readings and whether there is any hidden
water leakage. We will also cooperate with the
property company, and if a leaking faucet is
found, we will immediately contact the property
company to arrange maintenance work as soon as
possible so as to reduce unnecessary waste. In
addition, the property company reduces the water
pressure to the lowest feasible level, and improves
water efficiency. At the same time, we put up
water saving labels in the restrooms to remind
employees to save water. The water used by the
Group comes from municipal water supply, and
there is no problem in obtaining water.

Waste Management

The Group encourages employees to recycle
and reuse office supplies and recycle garbage
through classification to reduce waste. This Year,
we implemented various resource optimization
measures. In addition, since non-hazardous
wastes are collected by the property management
company, the Group has difficulties in recording
and monitoring waste generation data, thus we do
not disclose the data generated and also the waste
reduction targets. Nonetheless, we will continue to
improve our resource use and waste management
practices to minimize waste generation.
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We promote paperless office, make full use of
the online office system, and transmit documents
electronically as much as possible to reduce
the frequency of paper data printing and using
facsimile. For necessary paper data, we advocate
the use of recycled paper and double-sided printing
to improve paper usage efficiency. In addition, we
try our best to avoid using disposable and non-
recyclable products by reusing envelopes, binders,
file cards and other stationery items, and reusing
pen barrels through using refills. At the same time,
we regularly evaluate the amount of materials used
to avoid excessive inventory and waste.

In terms of training and education, we
implemented a variety of measures including
optimising publicity facilities, innovating publicity
and education methods, and implementing
stringent supervision as follows:

° Invited community staff to the office to
carry out garbage classification training,
and explain the latest garbage classification
knowledge and relevant policies and
regulations to employees on a regular basis,
so as to update their knowledge reserve in
a timely manner and enhance the garbage
classification standard;

° Integrated the knowledge of garbage
classification into novel games. Employees
who won the games will receive prizes, and
also consolidated the knowledge of garbage
classification in such relaxing and pleasant
process.

We hope to continuously improve the
environmental protection awareness and garbage
classification standard of our employees by
planning various activities, so as to effectively
reduce the generation of waste from the source.
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PEEEHRAT

Response to Climate Change

Response to climate change and managing
carbon emissions is one of the most urgent global
environmental problems. Different sectors of the
community also bear the responsibility for the
problems. Therefore, the Group will continue to
implement and strengthen measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, continuously monitor
the impact of climate change to the Group,
thereby making greater contributions to the green
environment and climate change. This Year, the
Group identified and assessed climate change
risks such as physical risks and transition risks, as
well as related policies of mitigation measures and
responsive actions.

In terms of physical risks, as no high carbon
emissions are generated from our businesses, and
our geographical location is unlikely exposed to
extreme weather (such as hurricane, heavy rainfall
and flooding, etc.) or chronic risks (such as the
rise of sea level), the physical risks are assessed
as low risks. Therefore, we strictly abide by the
relevant extreme weather guidelines issued by the
government to deal with related risks.

In terms of transition risks, we understand
that more and more stakeholders put forward
increasing demands for the enterprises on
climate change. As failure to meet stakeholders’
expectations may result jeopardizing our
reputation, losing customers and even losing our
competitive edge, hence, market risks in terms of
transition are identified as high risks. Therefore,
we pay close attention to the development
of international climate change policies and
regulations to deal with related risks.
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In this regard, we will combine the existing risk
management policies of the Group to improve
the identification and assessment mechanism
of climate change risks and opportunities, and
consider the transition to sustainable product and
service mechanisms by consulting professional
consultants through taking reference to the
requirements of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD").

COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION

In addition to “donation” and “good cause’, public
welfare also requires sustainable self-development and
self-regenerating ability. Therefore, in order to allow
organizations to devote more focuses on public welfare,
we are committed to helping non-profit organizations to
reduce the costs of channel and system development, so
as to enhance their independence.

We hope to help non-profit organisations open online
public welfare shops for free in an all-round way by
launching the “Free Store Opening of Non-profit
Organizations (‘A 4B 4% % & E) | program. We provide
operational support for non-profit organizations, including
training on operational course, online Q&A and regular
public welfare seminars. We also provide resource
support, which helps non-profit organisations to promote
and market their products in a variety of methods. These
methods include the market (“Zan Fair"”), live streaming
of opinion leaders, increase exposure through Youzan
Distribution market and increase exposure through online
activities.
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Case 1: The 2nd “Charitable New Year's Shopping Zh—  F_EBEE AmFEE
Festival” of Youzan

This Year, 46 public welfare shop products were launched REE INmFEMEHPEERT
in the “Charitable New Year's Shopping Festival” event, AR AMIEHEm DHEMIHER
with more than 1,000 shops exposed to the resource (LB 548 1,000% » 545K
positions of the distribution market. In addition, 45 B2 EERENDHE ER3ERXK
shops were recruited to participate in live broadcast or SHER ETEREaIXEKRT
distribution activities, of which 3 merchants participated A-HEWHABE - mRMtLE
in the live broadcast event. The benchmark merchants E-hEEE -URESERFEMR

include Wenfeng Great World (X I# At 5R) | Rizhao New
World Department Store (HER#MTEREE), Nanjing
New Century Department Store (HRIHALEE),
Zhongyuan Department Store (/R B &)and Shandong
High-speed Railway Service Account (LI 58 = IRFS5E) .
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Case 2: Jointly launched the “Spring Rain Program (&
RHETESTE) ) environmental public welfare activity with
PE.T.

On 17 June, which was the “World Day to Combat
Desertification’, Youzan and PE.T. jointly launched the
“Spring Rain Program (EFrRFTESTE) ) environmental
public welfare activity. Plastic bottle recycling stations
were set up in every office area of Youzan to recycle
the discarded plastic bottles, which were subsequently
used to make charitable school uniforms by PE.T. The
cooperative third-party foundation was responsible for
formulating the conditions of those schools receiving the
donation and distributing school uniforms to students in
need.
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Case 3: “All in Zan U Bazaar (1 E&URIEUR£E) | of
UBP

In September, UBP settled in Youzan and organized a
public welfare bazaar with a variety of products such as
various snacks, games, cultural creations, fluid bears with
BOE black technology and prints via 30 selected high-
quality merchants. Youzan Charity invited public welfare
shops to participate in the offline public welfare bazaar
together, through which speaking out for the public
welfare.
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ELEM BERARBAARIEHS
HETAmmE —BAAREE-

TEEEHARAT T _EFR
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APPENDIX 1: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY
INFORMATION

The following is a summary of sustainability information of the
environmental scope for this Year:

ftir— : AIENRBIERE

UTRAFENRELEIFELERER
TE

2022
Quantitative
Environmental Values
RIGEEIR 2022F EE1EE
Air emissions’
ERAEEY
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kilogram 17.32
RAACHINON) T
Sulfur oxides (SOx) kilogram 0.00004
REE¥(SOx) T
Particulates (PM) kilogram 1.61
FEHI(PM) TR
Greenhouse gas emissions?
BERERE
Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) Tonne of CO2- 0.01
equivalent
BERRERBEIN EE1) RS EE
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) Tonne of COq- 2,002.18
equivalent
BROAERIEEHIR EE2) RBE_SCHEE
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of CO2- 2,002.19
equivalent
BERBHIEE EHE1KR2) R _EEEE
GHG emissions per employee (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of CO2- 0.71
equivalent/employee
ATRERBHNE (BE1K2) NE_SCHEE
BT

! This is calculated in accordance with Appendix 2 Guidelines for
Reporting Environmental Key Performance Indicators published
by Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

2 The greenhouse gas emissions are inspected with reference
to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol published by World Resources
Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, and the 1SO14064-1 standard by International
Organization for Standardization.
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2022

Quantitative
Environmental Values
RIGEEIR 2022F EE1EE
GHG emissions per square metre (scopes 1 and 2) Tonne of CO2- 0.06

equivalent/square
metre

ST KRERIHINE (BE1R2) AW S
Waste
BEEY
Hazardous waste
BEEEY
Battery Quantity 748
BEEE) (53
Ink and toner cartridges Quantity 36
BEEZ EHRHNER (&5
Paper consumption
HRAE
Paper consumption Kilogram 15,157.00
MRAE T
Paper consumption per employee Kilogram/employee 5.40
ANBFHRRAE Fr/E8T
Energy consumption
REIRIHFE
Total power consumption kWh 3,445,824.40
MIEES T ELE
Total power consumption intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 1,226.71
MEERE (BRED FERE /8T
Total power consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/square metre 102.12
MEBBE (BTHK) TRE,/FHK
Gasoline consumption Liter 2.88
HHAES NGRS
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The following is a summary of the Group's social sustainability U TFTRAFEREENM GHIBEIIFES

information for this year: BREREE :

2022
Quantitative

Social i Values

=g E (Y 2022F EE1EE

Number of employees?®

30-50%%

N 4

BTAE

Total number of employees Number of people 1,952
BTHEH N

Total number of employees by gender

IR E 7 HIE TN

Female Number of people 908
ek N

Male Number of people 1,044
sM N

Total number of employees by employee type

RIESEDE| IS T ANE

Full-time junior employees Number of people 1,810
SRR ET N

Full-time middle management Number of people 116
PEPREIEE Nt

Full-time senior management Number of people 26
ZHSREIEE N

Total number of employees by age group

RFEAFE| 7 BIE T N2

Total number of employees under 30 Number of people 1,143
30T A#

Total number of employees aged 30-50 Number of people 808

Total number of employees over 50

50 ML £

Number of people

A#

s Number of employees as of 31 December 2022.

126

¢ IERRFEEHIE12A3MANE T AR

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS g kERRS

2022
Quantitative

Social i Values

HEEHE B 2022F EE1E{E

Total number of employees by geographical region

e & 7898 TN #

Hangzhou Number of people 1,262
LN N 4
Beijing Number of people 202
IR N
Shenzhen Number of people 181
el N
Shanghai Number of people 128
i N
Guangzhou Number of people 13
&M N
Chengdu Number of people 65
PR AT N
Hong Kong Number of people 1
BHE N
FEEEERA 127
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2022
Quantitative
Social i Values
HEHE B 2022F EE1EE
Employee turnover rate*
BT Rk

Employee turnover rate by gender

BILFE| 7B E LK EE

Female % 24.7
el
Male % 40.3
St

Employee turnover rate by age group

REFHRAEFEI ZBIE LK ILE

Total number of employees under 30 % 45.4

0B A T

Total number of employees aged 30-50 % 19.5

30-505%

Total number of employees over 50 % 0

505 M £

4 Employee turnover rate (the number of turnover employees 4 ETREAE BRABTREETFREBEL

does not include those who have not passed the internship EEH) = nEAKEBEAE - (RKEE
period) = number of turnover employees =+ (number of turnover ANB+FRES ANE) X100%
employees + number of employees at the end of the year) X
100%
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2022

Quantitative
Social [ Values
HEEE B 2022F EE1E{E
Employee turnover rate by geographical region
iz E| 7898 Tk EE
Northern China % 6.7
Eiheiy
Eastern China % 44.6
ERER
Central China % 19
FErhE
Southern China % 11.8
A&
Other regions % 0
Hithi& 5
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2022

Quantitative
Social [ Values
HEEE B 2022F EE1E(E
Occupational health and safety
WERRERS
Number of work-related fatalities (2020, 2021 and 2022) Number of people 0
R TIET AR (2020 ~ 20215 E 520225 F) AN#
Lost days due to work injury Number of days 138
HAIBERITIEEHH HE#
Development and training
2 R BLIE |

Percentage of employees trained by gender®

RIEFIE| 78I ZE S B 77 L

Female % 46.5
o
Male % 53.5
St

Percentage of employees trained by employee type®

RIESFIZ| 7B Z 5 1S B 77 L

Short-term/part-time employees % 0

SHREHREET

Full-time junior employees % 92.8

ERPIRET

Full-time middle management % 5.9

TR EIRE

Full-time senior management % 1.3

ZHEHREIERE

5 The percentage of employees trained for this Year is calculated ~ ° AEENETISINIETERLHAER

as the number of employees trained by each category =+ the FASENREEZIABE-EESI
total number of employees trained x 100%. 48 N #ix 100% °
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2022
Quantitative

Social i Values
HEHE B 2022 EE1EE
Average training hours of employees trained by gender®

L5 &7 BY A 1B S F 1515 | 20

Male Hour 20
sM N
Female Hour 18
el a\:s3

Average training hours of employees trained by employment type®

RIEIBLEFZ) 77 B9 % 5|1E S “F 191550 2

Average training hours per full-time junior employee Hour 18
SE2BARE T FI153IR 3 2\
Average training hours per full-time senior employee Hour 10
BE2BERE T TR TN

6 The average training hours of employees for this Year is @ KEENBE T FHEINN#ES X

calculated as the total number of training hours of employees AEEHEENEZ IR -Z5E5
by each category = the number of employees by each HEE A# -
category.
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APPENDIX II: INDEXTO THE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

wEESI) RS

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE

STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental

Pigk— : RPR (IR LB RER

Related chapters

IRIZEE
A1 ‘Emissions

A1)

Gl
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 5. Environmental
Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact protection
—RIEE on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, | 5IRIE{RE
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and nonhazardous waste.
BRBERMAZERBIR AAkRKI NS - BERES
BEVNELSHN (aBR ; ROEBETHETABEARE
RERE B RRAINE R,
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix 1: Summary
B e R AR R B o of sustainability
information
figk—: AIREERE
KHEE
A12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 5.2 Reduction of
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | greenhouse gases
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). b2/ RE RS
B @A) MEREE GE2) AERBINE CUMEET | Appendix 1: Summary
B Kk WER BE MUSEEEM BERMHE) o of sustainability
information
Migx— : AIEERE
EHEZ
A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Appendix 1: Summary

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FMEXEEREEYEE LIS k WER BE WUE

= oo

S8 BERMHE)

of sustainability
information

fig—: AIREERE
Kz
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIBHE R B
A14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | The non-hazardous
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | waste is recycled
facility). collectively by the
FTELEZEEYAE CUETE) &k WEA) ZE WS | property management
EBEA -BEXREHH) o company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BRERREYVHMEE
BREMS—RI o K&
B maEEE > Fibr
e 2
A15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to 5.2 Reduction of
achieve them. greenhouse gases
WIFrET INBINEE R R AETELEERMRENT R | 5.2R LV BERE
A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes The waste is managed
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and | collectively by the
steps taken to achieve them. property management
HEEEENEEREEYN A X RIBMPTEIIIAVRER | company. The Group
R AETE L B R REE A B o has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEEYHYEEER
Af—BE AEEE
ERAEUE R 1ER
B
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 5.3 Use of energy
Resources Disclosure water and other raw materials. b.38EREA
A2 I BRER | —RKE BWERER (B3EER K REMERME) BIBER
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 5.3 Use of energy

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERENNERKR/ FEBER E RIh B2
UFETFRFNE) MEE MUSESEM  SERM
8o

5.38 R A

Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information

figk—: AIREEREER
REE

FEESEHERAT —SFFR
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Environmental Related chapters
RIBHE A B
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of The water
production volume, per facility). consumption is
BEAEREE MUBEEBEM BERMHE) managed collectively
by the property
management
company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
EXKERMEEER
AMf—EE AEER
1ERAEUE > R 1ER
B
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | 5.3 Use of energy
taken to achieve them. 5.3 R 1 F
fIRPrET LM AERE RN S B R R A EIE LB R RE
Ry B o
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | The water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and consumption is
steps taken to achieve them. managed collectively
KR BGERKR ) B E R UKRFIETIIRAKME | by the property
EREAEINEEERMEMNT R management
company. The Group
has no relevant data,
and therefore it is
impossible to set a
target
HKEHMEEER
Af—EIE AEERE
MHREE Rt AR
TER
A25 Total packaging material used for finished products (in The Group's business
tonnes) and, where appropriate, per unit produced. does not involve
i mPTAEEMRNEE (UBEEE) & (ER) 84 & | packaging material
BfhEe FEREB NI RE
gkt
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIBHE R B
A3: General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | 5. Environmental
Environment Disclosure environment and natural resources. protection
and Natural —MRiRE BEBTAHBRERARERENEATENBER 5.IRIE R
Resources A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 5. Environmental
A‘3_: \%iﬁ&f environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | protection
AR manage them. b IRIE(RE
MINEBETHHRBERRARERNEAZERBHNER
BT ENTE -
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | 5.6 Response to
Change Disclosure related issues which have impacted, and those which may climate change
Ad . RiEEE | —RIEE impact, the issuer. b.6EH R IEEE
A REHERRAIEEHETAELER ENEAREE
FAEENER
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 5.6 Response to
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and | climate change
the actions taken to manage them. b.6ME ¥ mIREL
BB AR EEHETAELER ENEXRRIEERE
B REHTH -
B. Social
Bi#tE
B1: General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4. Common growth
Employment Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact AFEBERE
B1: B —RIEE on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BRI E BEREH  TIERE - R FEHE -
by RIEBEUREMEBERER (@R ; kb)ET
HETANBERXENEREERROAINER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, Appendix 1: Summary
full- or part- time), age group and geographical region. of sustainability
Rl EEEE (R RE)  FiER K& EI D8 | information
BEEEH- Migx— : AIEERE
KHEE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Appendix 1: Summary
geographical region. of sustainability
B ERA R ER DI EERKLLER information
Migx— : AIEERE
EHEZ
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIBHE A B
B2: Health and | General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4.2 Safe operation
Safety Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 42%2T1E
B2 : R — R E impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
Z5 environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
BREHZETERERFEREEREBEEREN QK
% ROBTHETABEAFENERAEERANNE
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each 4.2 Safe operation
of the past three years including the reporting year. 422 THE
BE=F (BIEEREE) SERITHNABRIE- Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Miti—: AIREERE
R
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 4.2 Safe operation
EITEEATIEEH- 4292 THE
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Migx— : AIREERE
RGeS
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 4.2 Safe operation
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. 422 T
IR IR B R R R B 2 24 U BT RERA
V& o
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Environmental

HE

Related chapters

RIBHE R B
B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 4.4 Talent development
Development Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. | 44 A\A 3
and Training —MRiRE BRI A RS EIT LRI B RIR 8 K 1% SRV SR o Ha st sg 5l
B3:#EK EE]
EEl B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 4.4 Talent development
employee category (e.g. senior management and middle 4ANT R
management). Appendix 1: Summary
BRI RETHERN MShEEE - PREEES) 29T | of sustainability
HETHDLE- information
Mitx— : AIREERE
KHEE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 4.4 Talent development

gender and employee category. AANT R

BRI RETHERE D 828 T RMTIIN TR - Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
Mitx— : AIREERE
KHEE

B4: Labour General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4.1 Employment

Standards Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact | management

B4 B T#R] | —RIKE on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour. | 4.1E A E®E
BRAEE TR E% T ((@BER ; kOBTHETAE
BEAXENHREERARANEK -

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | 4.1 Employment
avoid child and forced labour. management
iR E RS PIA B L B e 8 T Reag bl Lo 41EREE
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | 4.1 Employment
discovered. management
MM IR ERBERFERE BB R 4 58 41EREE
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Environmental
RIBHE

B5: Supply
Chain
Management
B5 : fitAEsE
=i

Related chapters

A B

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 3.6 Responsible

Disclosure supply chain. procurement

—MRiRE BIRHERENIRIE R 8 RBEEER J6EEFHKE

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.6 Responsible
BB R D HEEEHE - procurement

J6EEEHKE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 3.6 Responsible
number of suppliers where the practices are being procurement
implemented, and how they are implemented and SEEEMRE
monitored.

AR AEREENES RERTHEREBEMNNHERE
B-UEREREANRITRERA %

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 3.6 Responsible
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are procurement
implemented and monitored. 3eEEMEHE
RN B R RS EIRENIRIE R g RRNIER > U
AT REE R %

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 3.6 Responsible

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

M RERREREES ARRERKRFENEG Uk
ERARTRER G %o

procurement
6B EERE
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIBHE R B
B6: Product General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 3.2 Information
Responsibility Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact | security
B6: EMEME | —MRIKE on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, 32EEZE
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and 3.3 Respecting
services provided and methods of redress. intellectual property
BERFMREERMRBNEREZE \BE TERMEE | rights
BURBHAEN (@B ; ROBTHETABEATE | 33GEMHER
BAEREE R R IRAIBE KL o 3.4 Superior quality
3MEFRE
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to The Group's business
recalls for safety and health reasons. does not involve selling
BEHEEZEREHPRLZ 2R EREEHMEBRIWNE | or shipping products
Atbe FEBEBH NI RE
ot E SR
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | 3.5 Customers’ rights
and how they are dealt with. and interests
BRERNERKRBNRFBE AREHF % ISKF
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | 3.3 Respecting
intellectual property rights. intellectual property
B B R R PR A B E B RARVIE B rights
SILEHAERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall The Group's business
procedures. does not involve selling
R B SR TEBENERLDWER- or shipping products
FEBEBIIRE
m i E S EE
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 3.2 Information
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. security
HWIUHBEHBRRERMRER  URERNITRERA | 326ER%Z2
V&
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIBHE A B
B7: Anti- General Information on : (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 3.1 Anti-corruption and
Corruption Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact promoting integrity
B7 . R&S —RIEE on the issuer relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion, | 3.1R/E1EEE
fraud and money laundering.
BRI LLEREE ~ 913 BRGRROR B ERAY (@) BUR ; K(b)ETH
BOANBEAZENERZERRONER
B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | 3.1 Anti-corruption and
brought against the issuer or its employees during the promoting integrity
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. JIRIBEBE
RERARNHETAIHESRETEEENESHAR
GREENSEENEES
B72 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 3.1 Anti-corruption and
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. | promoting integrity
M E R R BRER  URAERARITRER S % JIRBER
B73 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors 3.1 Anti-corruption and
and staff. promoting integrity
HMitmEERETRENRESHIC JIRBER
B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to understand the 6. Community
Investment Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to | contribution
B8 HERE | —MIKE ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ | 6.4t & &k
interests.
ERUHE2ER T REEMTHEREMBREERE
BEERHEH mMEBUR -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 6. Community
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). contribution
SETEREE WHE BESE - SIER R Xt | 6HHEER
A -
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 6. Community

area.

AFTBHEABAER (S HHRR)

contribution
6.4t & HER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 150 to 350 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR
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R
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that, the Group had incurred a
loss of approximately RMB645,760,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB300,195,000 as at 31 December
2022. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matter below to be the key audit matter to
be communicated in our report.

142

EREE
ESERBEBESMAGEMBNEESE
SR (TEBEER) ETEZ-BEEN
ZEENTHEREERBRS SR
BERGEMBRERARKENTEE—HTE
— S - REEBESMLAENEES
stenEfeTRl (PR - BEFBUR &%
T EBETRIBITHMEREE -EF
BE EFMESHERRERERBEE
MAHESZEREMRER-

BRFEEENERTHEE M

EERBIRGEMBRRMEE2 Z W
HBETBRE_E__F#+"A=+—
HEFE BEEELEEBOARME
645,760,00070 KRR ZEZZF+ A
=+—H> BEETHEEIFENAAR
#300,195,0007T © 55 LB R RBEFE AT BE
BENYE BEEREFECENENELEEKX
MENEATHEM ZEEATEES
BEXRNER-

FRE%EE
FRELEFEERBEESNERIE =
RABEGEYBRRPEAEENSE
H-BEFNBERERGETM BRI
FRERKEELEEFE MAEMIES
SHEEBEXRER - BRABMPFELENE
ARAEEME -z FRIIN BEFEHE
EUTERERNAREEFEMREZ
ECE

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Conta)

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life

Key Audit Matter

ik 33 7 Bt

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

SRS M BRRNEE21

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill, amounting to approximately RMB341 million,
has been allocated to the third party payment services
CGU ("CGU A"). This CGU is tested for impairment
at least annually or whenever there is an impairment
indicator.

RIZEZZ_HF+_A=+—H REENARE
341,000,000tz HEE N ESE = A MIRBREESE
B (ReEFBEUA) ZREELTEMELSERAE
B IRBE PR B E T RE R o

In addition, the Group has material balances of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets, which includes trademarks with indefinite useful
lives, with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB703 million, that are related to the merchant
services CGU ("CGU B") and which recorded operating
losses for the year ended 31 December 2022.

IS AEBEZME -BERRE - CRAESERELE
EREAGE HPeFlmRRkFEReESLEM (1]
SELEBMB)) BRAZREARELN AKE703,000,0007T
ZEAERGEAFH EE REE_SE - "F+=
A=1+—HLFEERELEBHE-

Management has engaged an independent valuer to
determine the recoverable amount of the CGUs, being
the value-in-use. Such assessment involved judgements
and assumptions, such as revenue, terminal growth rate,
budgeted gross margin and discount rate.
ERECEEBUEEMEERSELESB 2 lES
BoRMEABE BRATLIRRE RRIEREEX -TBE
ESIEYSEFEESS -V S

PEEEHARAT T _EFR
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REeEXEMN(MREELXEN) (B5HF
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Ear

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
EE B NMAEIERAREEREE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessments included:

EENEEEZAENEREFEE

- Understanding and evaluating the
management’s process and controls
in respect of the impairment
assessment of CGUs and assessing
the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors including
subjectivity;

—  TERkMEEEENREELBOAM
BV A EZMZ RIS > TiBEE
BAEEMREEREMER REBEER
(BL¥E ) zﬂﬂ?&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%
PRt 2 &5 &k

- Evaluation of the historical accuracy
of the plan and cash flow forecast by,
for example, comparing the forecast
used in the prior year model to the
actual performance of the CGUs in the
current year;

- e 8 RIREMETAR 2 ELERE
Mo Hmo R E—FEREPER
FEARAFEEREESFEMUZERRE
TEITIEE ;

- Evaluation of independent external
valuers' competence, capabilities and

objectivity;
— MBI EEMCEREN K
BN

- Assessing the integrity of the
valuation models

— HMLEEEREZTEMY

143



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Conta)

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life

Key Audit Matter
FREIZEIE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group conducted
impairment assessments for CGU A and CGU B and
determined that their respective recoverable amounts
exceed their carrying amounts. Therefore, the Group
concluded that no impairment charge was necessary.

N _E_F+ZA=+—H xEEHRTELENUA
KREFEwEEBAUBETHEN L MEREZB 2 e
EERBIBHERAEE AL FERT B EBINRAE-

We identified the impairment assessment of CGUs as a
key audit matter because the impairment assessment of
CGUs requires the management to exercise significant
judgements relating to the estimation of key assumptions
and the recoverable amounts of these CGUs are
subject to high degree of uncertainty. The inherent
risk is considered significant due to the subjectivity of
assumptions used.

BB REEEEMN 2 RETEHABREZSEE
HAeaReELBAZAETHEEEEBEHRARRBR
EEHEHERFE  BEZEREEF BN INEIEEE
FasEAREM HARMMARKRZTEHN BB REEK
RmBEK-
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ReEEEU (REEEBN) (BSAS
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B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
EE B NAEIERAEEZEE

- Challenging the reasonableness of

key assumptions, including revenue,
terminal growth rate, and budgeted
gross margin used in the cash flow
forecasts based on our knowledge of
the business and industry; and

— RESZEHEBRITENDH B
FERBRRK Wam RIRERERIRER
ERARFERAZBEEENEX) 2518
{5~

- Assessing the appropriateness of
the discount rates used with the
assistance of our internal valuation
specialists.

—  HAFEAISLEZEXRNHBET > FEHPAER
Rz BERENEE M-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FORTHE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

148

ZEETM B S ISR IARE
NEE @

. HEERAFECE St ERMNNE
LS > WARR A EEAYE 5
BE O MERSFERSFIENENR
BERNEARTHEES  EMAEE
BNY EEENRECERENESE
BERRE - HESARFEEKRTRE
ElE ABE R EERHBMBREE TR
FEAELIRREMBRRPIE
HiKE - HARMKESRE AMESTE
FER -BEFERDENBEZEED
e EQHLEFTEISHER/RE -2
e AREFEABERAEER 8&%

BEAREEE -

. HEGREMBERERNERBEZRS
A ERRAE BEREER L
RGEMBREREE T H RRERE
RHMEE

. B EEERNBRIEHIHOY
BEHMERNRTEKRBENEGTR
B UBEHGREUBRRERTR -
EEaEEEENAR - BEENR
T-BEERBERERAEENEE-

ELHREREZEGHN HPEHE) 5895t
BlE FEZHEREREFHRETE
B RSEREEESEESBREDH
BB ERES I 2 R R B ARTAK ©

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

23 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mAEmR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B =F ARBTT AR®BTT
Revenue & 8 1,496,977 1,569,991
Cost of sales tHE A (535,055) (617728)
Gross profit EF 961,922 952,263
Investment and other income KEREMEA 9 49,517 63,786
Other gains and losses, net Hham 518 0 F 58 10 36,100 (2,186,924)
Selling expenses tHERMZ (830,816) (959,106)
Administrative expenses TR (293,043) (335,312)
Equity-settled share-based payments IS E RN X (IR (88,068) (563,130)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 22 (81,648) (124,964)
Other operating expenses H& S (312,268) (609,294)
Loss from operations KERE (558,304)  (3,252,681)
Finance costs LS A A 11 (25,631) (22,642)
Share of losses of associates, net LB A B 2 B8
PR 24 (1,135) (217)
Fair value change in financial assets BN EFTFATEERR
at fair value through profit or loss (M2 AFEEA
("FVTPL") T8 AR 2 W75
BEZ AT EESH 7(b) (73,337) 23,758
Loss before tax PRIGAIESIE (658,407)  (3,251,782)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frig8iike, () 13 12,647 (41,238)
Loss for the year rEERE 14 (645,760)  (3,293,020)
Attributable to: LITFALRER:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ Y =DN (303,089)  (2,509,498)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR (342,671) (783,522)
(645,760) (3,293,020)
Loss per share BEE
(expressed in RMB per share) UAERAREBEZY) 18
Basic B (0.0174) (0.1466)
Diluted e N/A RBR  N/ATEA
150 CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reEmREMEERAR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
g =T -—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARETT
Loss for the year TEERE (645,760) (3,293,020
Other comprehensive income: Hth2mEmWKA :
Item that will not be reclassified to FEEMHEERm B
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair BAFEFAZEMEZE
value through other comprehensive income Wik (M AFES A
("FVTOCI") FHEHMEEWREER) 2
MBEEZ AT EES (729) (45,015)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BIFEEF HIEERm 2 EH .
Exchange differences on translating foreign BMEBINEFR ZERELE
operations 14,130 (16,831)
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEUA > HRKRIE
net of tax 13,401 (61,846)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZENALEEE (632,359)  (3,354,866)
Attributable to: LUTFALRE:
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZZS DN (273,300)  (2,568,259)
Non-controlling interests FEIER S (359,059) (786,607)
(632,359) (3,354,866)
FEAEARAT — % EER 151



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMTEAR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

RIE2E-_F+"A=1+—H

2022 2021
RS F —E—-—
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B =F ARBTT AER®BTT
Non-current assets ERBMEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB KRB 19 18,739 50,153
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 13,742 160,424
Long term deposits R 30 361 7137
Goodwill 5k 21 341,326 341,326
Intangible assets mLEE 22 773,945 855,593
Investments in associates REERNBIZRE 24 - 4,953
Capitalised contract costs BEXREEBLIRA 31 34,503 33,550
Loans to employees mEEEHZEM 32 - 3,150
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE EE 44 68,772 68,772
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EFATERRS
MHEE 25 285,642 372,675
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFATHEHMEE
Wbk B EE 26 70,993 71,490
1,608,023 1,969,223
Current assets RENE E
Inventories EEB 27 1,246 921
Trade receivables FEULERFR 28 13,120 4,292
Factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE 29 31,468 -
Prepayments, deposits and FBNMIE TR
other receivables Hh R IE 30 283,286 397422
Capitalised contract costs BRMEEAMAE 31 134,600 173,000
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUS Y B~ B)
shareholders of subsidiaries JEEERR IR ERFRIE 33(a) 260 1,272
Amounts due from related companies  FEUR BEEE A B 7R IE 33(b) 1,287 800
Current tax assets BPERIRIEE B 174 174
Restricted bank balances ZIRHBIIRITAEER 34 8,113 1,951
Balances with central bank GFER R RIBITTRIB 35 3,592,688 3,613,237
Bank and cash balances IR1T M IREBARER 36 885,460 710,683
4,951,702 4,903,752
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

RZZEZHF+-8A=+—H

2022 2021
g T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBFT ARETT
Current liabilities mEBaE
Trade payables FETERFR 37 2,641 2,762
Accruals and other payables FEIRE B R EMERIE 38 420,787 558,831
Amounts due to non-controlling NN NG
shareholders of subsidiaries JEIE AR R BB R I8 39 69 306
Contract liabilities =LV ENE 40 620,136 683,492
Borrowings R 41 480,986 -
Lease liabilities HESE 42 20,506 48,284
Settlement obligations EEEMT 43 3,702,560 3,802,658
Current tax liabilities BNEAMRIE & 1E 4,212 991
5,251,897 5,097324
Net current liabilities REAaEFE (300,195) (193,572)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHER 1,307,828 1,775,651
Non-current liabilities ERENEF
Contract liabilities 5H8E 40 49,351 55,446
Lease liabilities HESE 42 73,413 225,368
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 44 140,069 158,014
262,833 438,828
NET ASSETS BEERE 1,044,995 1,336,823

PEEEHARAT T _EFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMTEAR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

RIE2E-_F+"A=1+—H

2022 2021
B EFE_—
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

st ARBTRT ARETT

Capital and reserves BARK#E

Equity attributable to owners of KABlEB AR
the Company

Share capital [N

Reserves B

Non-controlling interests JEPERG e T

TOTAL EQUITY HEEEER

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhu Ning
KREXRE
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45 154,484 145,036
48 1,258,694 1,201,430

1,413,178 1,346,466

(368,183) (9,643)

1,044,995 1,336,823

R_E_=ZF=ZA°-+=HKESgH
WA TIEERAERERE !

Mr. Yu Tao
AL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

n‘7|' | -"--LL'% < @Ji

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EECHF+B=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENGE 2PN
Shares held Share
Share Share for Share Award Other Non-
Share premium option Award Scheme reserves Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve Scheme reserve (note 46) losses Total interests  Total equity
ER R
2R iR Hithf#
ke ROBEER BRERE BEZRG B T (Ff3346) REti5E At FREREGD [
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTRn ARETR ARETR ARBTn AR®Tn ARETR AREFTR AREBTn ARBTR
At 1 January 2021 RIZZ-5—F—H 144,981 6,093,115 33,492 (75,524) 50,067 (685,703) (1,701,633) 3,858,795 771,304 4,630,099
Total comprehensive income FRZERALE
for the year - - - - - (68,761)  (2,509,498)  (2,568,259) (786,607)  (3,354,866)
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E—SWE-EHRBAR
without change of control (T EEHEEE) - - - - - (1,331) - (1,331) 2,720 1,389
Contribution from non-controlling —RI B AR FEER
shareholders of a subsidiary BEIE - - - - - - - - 2,940 2,940
Exercise of share options TR E 55 5,309 (1,233) - - - - 413 - 4131
Equity-settled share-based payments  A&AEAE BRGID = 371 - - 13,437 - 39,693 - - 53,130 - 53,130
Release upon lapse of share options K%Hx%%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ% - - 81) - - - 81 - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares transfer to R \ BEEUEE
awardees RERHD - - - 32,396 (32,396) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FERERE 55 5,309 12,123 32,396 7297 (60,092) (2,509,417) (2,512,329) (780,947) (3,293,276)
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ-%
+ZB=+-H 145,036 6,098,424 45,615 (43,128) 57364 (745,795) (4,211,050) 1,346,466 (9,643) 1,336,823
At 1 January 2022 it Sty = B 145,036 6,098,424 45,615 (43,128) 57364 (745,795) (4,211,050) 1,346,466 (9,643) 1,336,823
Total comprehensive income ER2ERARE
for the year - - - - - 29,789 (303,089) (273,300) (359,059) (632,359)
Issuance of placing shares (note 45(al) & {TALE R (i5¥45(a)) 6,611 245,333 - - - - - 251,944 - 251,944
Allotment of Awarded Shares to Trustee &0 A B 8 5L BAR 17 2,837 76,598 - (79,435) - - - - - -
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E—SWE-EHRBAR
without change of control (it FE I R ) - - - - - - - - 519 519
Equity-settled share-based payments  ARAEAE BRG1D 371 - - 6,195 - 81,873 - - 88,068 - 88,068
Release upon lapse of share options K%Hx%%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ% - - (3,002) - - - 3,002 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares transfer to R \ BEEUEE
awardees BRERHD - - - 97884 (97884) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FERERE 9,448 321,931 3,193 18,449 (16,011) 29,789 (300,087) 66,712 (358,540) (291,828
At 31 December 2022
154,484 6,420,355 48,808 (24,679) 41,353 (716,006) (4,511,137) 1,413,178 (368,183) 1,044,995
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EEREEMEmRRK
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z- F#+"B=+—HIEFE
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% ARBTT AR®BTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRENE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (658,407)  (3,251,782)
Adjustments for: ,?)tL,("FXIE HEK
Allowance/(reversal) for trade FEURBR =R s
receivables, net (ﬁ*@) ) HRE 28 3,678 (533)
(Reversal)/allowance for inventories 76 (B[0]) HEEE 14 (3,642) 1,024
Allowance for other receivables HAE W R IE 5 3,065
Amortisation of intangible assets B S EEE 22 81,648 124,964
Amortisation of capitalised contract EENIn=r Sl 5
costs 31 215,699 243,288
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREITE
equipment 19 13,818 21,528
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 20 28,639 53,372
Equity-settled share-based payments HXT&,\:'%HX{%EZHTAIE 88,068 53,130
Finance cost R E A4S 11 25,631 22,642
Impairment of property, plant and ME - B KR ERE
equipment 10,19 - 22,110
Impairment of right-of-use assets @Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂfﬁ 10,20 - 80,393
Impairment of goodwill EERE 10,21 - 1,622,083
Impairment of intangible assets ﬂtﬁ/ﬁéﬁzﬁ 10,22 - 459,553
Impairment of investment in an R—EBEATZRE
associate BE 1,289
Interest income from bank deposits IRIT R B U A 9 (12,158) (13,562)
Interest income from central bank FRIRERTTH] S U 9 (10,862) (12,835)
Interest income from loan to other mEMATIEHZ
B&;F B WA 9 (171) -
Net gain on disposals of property, HEYZ= - BENRZE
plant and equipment 2 W s B ER 10 (2,968) (55)
Gain on early termination and REZIERENHAE
modification of leases g & 10 (29,682) (82)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BRBARZ
W 50(a) (4,603) -
Gain on derecognition of other AR 1R SR ELM A AR
payables Z & 10 (16,910) -
Loss on redemption of financial asset ~ BE[EIIZ A FE T A
at FVTPL THEERZMBEE
Z k518 5,384 -
Gain on redemption of an associate EEIHEI Bilii=yN=1pd
(471) -
Fair value change on financial asset BAFES AEZER
at FVTPL ZHBEEZ A aﬂé
bif) 7(b) 73,337 (23,758)
Share of loss of associates, net FETSH“Q’L\\TZESTE )
24 1,135 217
Property, plant and equipment written l??i%ﬁ‘{ﬁ'ﬁ?mﬁﬁ
off for termination of leases MEEMRE 19,006 -
Written off of trade receivables 15 FE W BR =R 10 - 643
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+-B=+—HIFE
2022 2021
—E-CF T —
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARSTx ARETT
Operating loss before working capital ~ &EESEHE] 2
changes ST (179,477) (597:660)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories E&ERL, (G 3,317 (561)
Increase in trade receivables FE U BR FRIE AN (12,506) (2,581)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits BNMIE TRk
and other receivables exclude Hh e Ia
other receivables restricted for A EEEARE
settling settlement obligations BREEEZHEHM
FEW R IR) R 82,746 259,093
Decrease in other receivables ERNGEBGEEEE
restricted for settling settlement HhEWERIE R >
obligations 28,317 142,538
Increase in factoring loan receivables FEW(RIBE RGN0 (31,468) -
Increase in capitalised contract costs BEXRE B4R AIE 0 (178,252) (254,578)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank ZIREIRITAARR
balances (gm R (2,522) 32,833
Decrease in balances with central ERARIBITRIE R D
bank 20,549 1,727345
Increase in amount due from a FEU— R RE B A B 7B
related company A0 (408) (348)
Decrease in settlement obligations HEEERD (100,098)  (1,999,343)
Decrease in trade payables FE(TBRFRL D (121) (1,634)
Decrease in accruals and other TEiRERKAEMEN
payables FIE R (119,921) (72,282)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due FES B A B IEZERR
to non-controlling shareholders of RRERRIE (R
subsidiaries a0 (237) 50
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilites ~ &#I&1& Cei2l) /& h0 (69,451) 71,331
Cash used in operations KEPMARE (559,532) (695,797)
Interest income received from bank B UWER 1T AF] B WA
deposits 9 12,158 13,562
Interest income received from central ~ BUFRIBITA BUTA
bank 9 10,862 12,835
Interest income received from loan B EEMATEHZ
to other BRI B 9 171 =
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESGENERX 11 (15,707) (22,642)
Income tax (paid)/refund (B REMER (2,077) 356
Net cash used in operating activities K EEPTAIRE R (554,125) (691,686)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FelReREmRE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_E-_H#+-_HA=+—HIFE
2022 2021
S — AT — 4T
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bzt ARBFT ARBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES

Additions of financial assets at FVTPL  HEBEATEEFT A

THEGRZMBEE 7(b) (20,000) (289,416)

Addition of intangible assets NERTEE 22 - (465)
Addition of an associate AE—EEE AT - (2,000)
Redemption of an associate BE o] — F'aﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬁﬁ’&j 3,000 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERBEA 50(a) (188) -
Redemption from financial assets at EE@TZE’&?TEEU\T‘ET@

FVTOCI SHWEERZMBEE 30,000 -
Decrease/(increase) in long term EHARE AL, (g0

deposits 6,776 (3,928)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from FEUHT B A B FEIERL#E =

non-controlling interest shareholders BRERERIER D (16 0)

of subsidiaries 1,012 (1,012)
Increase in amount due to FE{S — R BB A Bl R IE

a related company A0 (79) -
Loans to others mEMATIEHZER - (5,000)
Repayment from loan to other BEMALEHZ

BEM 5,000 10,610

Loan to an employee E—%EEFEHZER 32 - (500)
Repayment from loans to employees BEEFEZERER 3,150 —
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE - BE MR E

equipment 19 (2,962) (29,13b)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEMZE -BEM

plant and equipment RIEPTSIE 3,112 101
Net cash generated from/(used in) RERHFS

investing activities (Fr ) IREFRE 28,821 (320,745)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTREREK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE-S-—H+"A=+—HILEE
2022 2021
g T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

st ARBTT ARETT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEBHERE

ACTIVITIES
Contribution from non-controlling —REIR B AR IEZER

shareholders of a subsidiary REFE - 2,940
Contribution from a non-controlling BRE—TWE—HE

shareholder of a subsidiary in related B~ Bz —REM B

to further acquisition of a subsidiary NEIFEERKRERIE 519 1,389
Issuance of placing shares BITERCE RID 251,944 -
Repayment of borrowings BIEE™M (481) -
Interest expenses paid on borrowing EERF ERX (9,360) -
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAE{t A2 (32,008) (20,417)
Raised from borrowings EEEET 481,420 -
Net proceeds from exercise of share THEEREEE

options PSR IEF 58 - 4,131

Net cash generated from/(used in) from RAE EENFTE, (FTA)

financing activities IRE PR 692,034 (11,957)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReERBESEEYEM,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GRE2L) 3% 166,730 (1,024,388)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXR&tH) 7 £ 11,687 (15,615)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®w—BA—Hz

AT 1 JANUARY RERBREEEY 711,527 1,751,530
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W+=-—B=+—A8z

AT 31 DECEMBER RERBFEEEHEY 889,944 711,527
ANALYSIS OF THE CASH AND RERREEEYON

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Restricted bank balances — for ZIRBIRIT4EER

settlement of amounts payable to — RS ERMN

employees BE I8 34 4,484 844
Bank and cash balances RTINS 4EER

Other Hith 885,460 710,683

889,944 711,527
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

160

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Victoria Place, 5™ Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Unit 1511, 15/F Shui On
Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company's shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

#

E_EB__F#+_HB=1+—HLtEE

—RRE R

FEEBARLAE (A28 AR
BRESMMRIIZBRAE - H5E i
=5 g i X Victoria Place, 5 Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermudac HF BE £ MBUNEH
7B E6-85E IR Z 015181511
E ARBRNESAEMERZME
RAE) (TE#AZFrY) GEM BT e

KRB RREEZERAE HNE AT
ZEEEBHNESMBRKRMEE
23°

ZEGEEVMBREDRBEEAES
fiAg (EBGSMAS)) Bz
PREEREBMBREER (IEE
PHRELER]) R -BBYHFRE
HUBREEBYHREEN ((HE
MR EER)) ; EBAGEER (&
BESER) ; KRB -ZFHRAHR

BERERITG M ZFGEME S L
RAZ BREBER BB RBRG
(3622%) ZIRBEMTE - ZEF R
ZERESBRN T RE -

EEGSMAGERMETINASE
EAEstHEE REMIAHIER
RN Z ] RIEES]EREMBRS
R ERFHEEMBRERTRBZ
HYRERZFEAAERFRANE
S]MGI Nz AFENBED 5t
G RRZ RSB F AN HIEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ZT_F+_A=+—HILEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Contd)

The Group had incurred a loss of approximately
RMB645,760,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022 and, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB300,195,000 as at 31 December
2022. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Management have prepared cash flow forecasts for
a period of twelve months from the reporting date,
having considered the Group's historical and expected
future performance, and the expected development
of the markets in which the Group operates, which
demonstrate that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall
due for the foreseeable future. The forecasts incorporate
management'’s plans to control operating costs such as
staff costs, promotion and advertising expenses, capital
expenditures and etc. The directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. Should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group’'s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

rERBEE_ZT__£+_H
St HIEFEEELEBFBEHUARE
645,760,00070 > AEBP ST
E+-_A=-+—BHzZRBHEaEFE
4974 N R #300,195,0007T ° % ZE ik
MERNGFEAESAERRFERE
BENBEFRZERIEERE K
R—REEBREFIEREIERA
BEREESRE-

KEBXAERZBERBHARAKE
I U A EBEEFRET S 2R
ZR - EEECEHREERSHBRE
TEBHEZETRERA A
FRAXRRAEERERE EHUBHE
BRI FERRKETHE A E
RASSEERENEEME WA
TAA EEREESRXRERFR
%) Z5t8 At EEBR BEE
KEERERRESHUBRERTVE G
EoMAEBEAEERELE R
WA HRRAFLBE > LUK ARE
EEEZEBEARENWREIEER U
Bmr]SE IR 2 ERREINE R WK
FERBEERBBEDHEMDER
RBBEERER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost

HKAS 37 of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent

(March 2021) Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements
Project to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

Amendments to Accounting Merger Accounting for
Guideline b Common Control
Combinations

The Group did not change its accounting policies
or make retrospective adjustments as a result of
adopting the abovementioned amended standards
or annual improvements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%’f&.@%ﬂé%ﬂﬁ%
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREER @
STANDARDS (conta)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EiEMmEEEKRERZHE]
not yet effective REIETE B IFIREEE
Y
The Group has not applied any new standard, ANEBHKEREMAEEMR

PEAEARAR

amendments to standards and interpretation that
have been issued but are not yet effective for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2022. The
new standard, amendments to standards and
interpretation include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

BR-_Z2__F—HF—HB#
WM FEEHRERZH
TR ZEA 2 BT AR R
FE o BT ZE R ZERI ZBET R
KEEAEUTAEHEARE
EMERAE ©

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
LT HEAsK A &R
ZEsHEIRER

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current

1 January 2024

BAGF RSN BT A -8B EARIEERIFRTE “ETWHE—F—H
(=

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

BEASHERE 1R 2B A NFELEZIERTEE “EMFE—HF—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
— Disclosure of Accounting Policies

A ER B 1RAEAVBRESENEH RS E29%2
BT R -Gt BERZIRE

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates

Bt ERBSR B A -S5HhEst 2 ER

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

BASHERFE12R 2B R HE—RZGELA ZEER
BEMEMAZIEIERIE

it S 35

1 January 2023

“E-=%—H—H

1 January 2023

2" =%—HF—H

1 January 2023

—B_=%—H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A
777 N

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3.

164

AATS AR MIEE

not yet effective (Conta)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. FANERET B R(E T B AT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREZER @
STANDARDS (Contd)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EEMEREKERZHIET

RAEE T B RMBBIREE
A @

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
R HEAsk A &R
2GR ERN

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and
Leaseback

BEUBREEABRESI A -—ERMARTZHEARE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BEAMBREERE10R KRB B G ERFH28R BT A
—REEHRHEME AN AECEZBENEEHEITA

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BEREES CEEF) UBRREF—ERA
HEEREREZGRRZEMERZ DR

1 January 2024

“ZETMFE—B—H

To be determined by the
HKICPA
HEBRHMARER

1 January 2024

—Z2mMFE—A—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3.

PEAEARAR

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Conta)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments and new standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below
(e.g. financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

i — s

B

3.

ECETH+A=-t+—HILEE

PR ] RS T BB TS
HEER @

(b) EEMERERERZHET
RAEE T B RMBBIREE
Al (@)
AEEREFERFETEK
HET R B RIE AR A
HHRNTE 25 T EER
PWEMRERNKRBIEHGS
MBRREMEATE

BEAFHER

U T BESARRE S (0
AFEHEZEMIR)  ZEHEE
BTSRRI L A A B AR o

MU EEBMBREER W
BWRAGRETEZGHEE T°F
EEERNERAEEESHE
B2 R HE o RS2 E ) b
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,

166

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

#

4.

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

EXGER @
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ZERAVBRRFEAZE

RESHEREHMT -
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SRS EIREN > KA
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FO®W MAEREHZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,

PEAEARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(a)

Consolidation (Contd)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company’'s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated exchange reserve relating to that

subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and

owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

it S 35
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(a)

Consolidation (Contad)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amounts
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment loss, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their

acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Group’'s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum
of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary
is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added
to the sum of the consideration transferred in a
business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at the non-controlling
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and

liabilities at the acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(b)

(c)

Business combination and goodwill
(Contd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") or groups
of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(c)

Associates (Contad)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements by the
equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or

loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(c)

Associates (Contd)

The Group's share of an associate's post-
acquisition profits or losses and other
comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate
that results in a loss of significant influence
represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that associate
and (i) the Group's entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(c)

(d)

PEAEARAR

Associates (Contd)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in
RMB which is the Company’s presentation
currency. The functional currency of the
Company is HKS$. The directors consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency
best suit the needs of the shareholders and
investors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (Conta)

(ii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in the term of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(d)

PEAEARAR

Foreign currency translation (Conta)

(i) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all
foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of hyperinflate history economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Contd)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or

loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at

the closing rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
production or supply of goods or services, or for

administrative purposes.

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if

any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during

the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(e)

PEAEARAR

Property, plant and equipment (Contd)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of lease
and estimated useful
lives, being no more than
20 years after the date of
completion

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and office  20% - 33%

equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(f) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops
and office furniture. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis

over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(f) Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the

effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the

Group:

° where possible, uses recent — third party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party

financing was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by its related subsidiaries,
which does not have recent — third party

financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and security.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(f) Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to

determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(f) Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether
the rent concessions are lease modifications,
are recognised the changes in consideration as
negative lease payment in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers

the rent concessions occurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EBEXEHBER @
(Contd)
(g) Other intangible assets (90 HMtEEEE
(i) Internally-generated intangible assets — (i) AIBBEE Z I EE—
research and development expenditure HIC R % =
Expenditure on research activities is REARESE Z T ES
recognised as an expense in the period in SRS o

MAERESaaS B
R#) 8%E =715 IR
BFafERmAEE

which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group's
SaaS (Software as a Service) or third-party

182

payment services platform development S EEEEENER
is recognised only if all of the following UTPrEGRGEE AT
conditions are met: M
- the technical feasibility of completing — AR LRI
the intangible asset so that it will be ZELEEMUS
available for use or sale; HulEAS
- .

management intends to complete the BIEE TN Z

intangible asset and use or sell it; EEEENLER
NHEZETLE
= ;

there is ability to use or sell the BENERSH

intangible asset;

it can be demonstrated how the
intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;
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adequate technical, financial and BREMZ M
other resources to complete the MR REMEIR
development and to use or sell the MEr B E
intangible asset are available; and TERAEEZ

BVEE, &

the expenditure attributable to ZELEERH
the intangible asset during its BIEEREL 2
development can be reliably HAER st &

measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(g)

PEAEARAR

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(1)

(ii)

Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
(Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets acquired through business
combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are identified and recognised
separately from goodwill where they satisfy
the definition of an intangible asset.

Trademarks assessed to have indefinite
useful life are not amortised. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is
indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life
assessment for that asset. If they do not,
the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and
amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated
remaining useful life.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(g)

(h)

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(i) Intangible assets acquired through business

combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
(Contd)
Impairment reviews of intangible assets
with indefinite useful life are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment.

E-commerce applications and distribution
network are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful life of
6.7 years and 2.7 years since the date of
acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(i)

PEAEARAR

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which
are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a customer that it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered,
unless the expected amortisation period is one
year or less from the date of initial recognition of
the asset, in which case the costs are expensed
when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract
are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used
to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because
the Group entered into the contract. Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(i)

(i)

Other contract costs (Conta)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“"ECL) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(z) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.
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4,

PEAEARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(j) Contract assets and contract liabilities

(Contd)

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are

not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest

accrued under the effective interest method.

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(k)

)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Conta)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(I) Financial assets (Contad)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective
interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

)

(m)

190

Financial assets (Contad)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

EARGHER @
N MEEE®@
RFRE

(m)

REREBHFZREDERE
AT EFATEERDR FRIER
AREBWIIFFEEERL
BRI HEIRER  ~EE
EERERER/RAFES
ATHME2EY R (R 8
8)  LURATEZRER
REAth 2 E W i 5T o B RE
EILRER TREEIFL - &
EEETAIR/RETER
mERFHAEL - RIEHA
AEZER NHEMEERER
S EREBREBNEAT
EstAHEMMEEWR K2
HEERFEB FTHE® BEE
REWHERILE - HER
BAFESFAEMEE R
SRV BEERME CEE)
Rtz eREREREET)
MIFEBEmEE - RERE
B (FmDBRRAFES
AR RILAFESA
FEHMEEWER REZR
BoREmES S HEMK
Ao

FEUSBRTR e L fthFE UL TR IR
AEBEEA B RAIWER
RERFHE DB - EZ
BRI TAT I ERYRE
MEFEE—RBREELAE
R - M mEAER A EIF
FrREF WEAER K E R
AIERENRENEE-

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,

PEAEARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(m) Trade and other receivables (Conta)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method less allowance for credit losses.

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

ECL.

(o)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments

are set out in notes (q) to (r) below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(p) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting period.

(q) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(r) Equity instruments

Any equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an equity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

#

4.

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

EXGER @

(p)

(q)

(r)

&

BT IZATE HRFREE
EZRGHMA) D HBER
FA B R A R 12 8 85 pl A 5t
8 o FR1SRUR (N5 M)
EAPE Ol & 28 2 B R E A £ 88
PEERB A E RN KA
REBmAMER - EE DA
ERMERPIERERRE
MRILENRMEMSMZE
PR 57 A  FE B
T ZERRELEER S
BEEIREL L o {8 I 2 55 15 78
NEBDELFT A R E R Al BB
ERE IZERRRETER
ERRBEERE Z AN
15 W HARRI R B B
85 o

PRIFREEB BIRARERN T
EEEEEEERSHBER
ED12BA > RRABERDES
nEaRE.

FEATRRTR R ELfthFE 7R IE
FE 1 BR AR B EL At & {3 TR IE AT
TRAFEIR HRRAE
BRF R IZ BN A FT B R
JFRMIRFEM A EE  EILIE
SR B A S AR

iR R

B 7 T A J5 58 B3R (7 £ 40 BR
FTEERREREENHFE
mZ B RRTHITZIRAE
T BT #% B WA 1S ;B B
BRI AR

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,

PEAEARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

Revenue and other income

(s)

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Subscription solutions

The Group offers SaaS (Software as a Service)
which is a cloud-based software and related
services to paying merchants. The Group is
responsible for delivering the cloud-based
software, paying server hosting fees to external
cloud computing infrastructure providers to ensure
the SaaS running stably and accessible to all paying
merchants. Revenue of subscription solutions
includes fixed subscription fees and additional
cloud service fees. Fixed subscription fees are
generally recognised over time on a rateable basis
over the contract term beginning on the date
that the service is made available to merchant.
The Group charges the merchants variable cloud
service fees that is generally calculated based on
number of transactions processed through the

Saa$S products.

The Group's channel partners introduce merchants
to the Group and are remunerated by commission
based on certain percentage of the subscription
fee. The Group’s channel partners are required to
follow the Group's pricing policy and the Group is
primarily responsible for the provision of service.
Commissions paid to channel partners are
incremental costs of obtaining contracts and are
recognised as “capitalised contract costs” followed
by charging into selling expenses on a rateable
basis which is in line with the revenue recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Conta)

Subscription solutions (Contd)

Most paying merchants have signed contracts with
the Group with terms of one to three years and pay
full subscription fees in advance. Paying merchants
can choose to pay their cloud service fees in
advance or on demand. The portion that underlying
service not yet provided to paying merchants at
end of reporting period are recognised as “contract
liabilities”

The Group also provides paying merchants with
customisation services based on standardised
SaaS products. Revenue is recognised when
control over the customised SaaS products has
been transferred to the paying merchants. Paying
merchants cannot receive and consume the
benefits simultaneously from the Group as well
as control the customised SaaS products until
the product has been passed to them. The Group
generally has no alternative use on the customised
SaaS products due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does
not arise until the customised SaaS products
are accepted by paying merchants. Therefore,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customised SaaS products are received and
accepted by paying merchants.

Costs to fulfil performance obligation of
customisation services are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by charging
into cost of sales when the customised SaaS
products are received and accepted by paying
merchants which is in line with the revenue
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(s)

PEAEARAR

Revenue and other income (Conta)

Merchant solutions

The Group provides various value-added services
to address paying merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including transaction services,
advertisement, online traffic monetisation,
merchandise sourcing and distribution, consumer
protection and sales of POS equipment.

(i)

Transaction services

The Group provides transaction services
to help payees accepting, processing and
settling payment transactions of payers in
various payment scenarios. Revenue of
transaction fees are recognised over the
time of delivering of transaction service as
paying merchants simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits of transaction
services. The Group charges the payee a
transaction fee that is generally calculated
as a percentage of the total transaction
amount processed and the Group has right
to decide the charging fee rate. Transaction
services are recognised as revenue on a
gross basis as the Group is the principal in
delivery of the transaction solutions to the
payees. The Group has concluded it is the
principal because it controls the services
before delivery to the payees, it is primarily
responsible for the delivery of the services
and has discretion in setting prices charged
to payees. The Group also has the unilateral
ability to accept or reject a transaction
based on criteria established by the Group.
The Group is also liable for the costs of
processing the transactions for the payees,
and records such costs within cost of sales.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Conta)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(i)

(ii)

Transaction services (Contd)

Transaction costs paid to upstream payment
service providers to fulfil the performance
obligation of transaction services are costs
to fulfil contracts and are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by
charging into costs of sales which is in line
with the revenue recognition.

Advertisement

The Group arranges online marketing
service to advertisers. Advertisement charge
rate is prescribed by the social media.
Social media grant to the Group rebates
in the form of prepayments for the social
media’s services mainly based on the gross
spending of the advertisers. Advertisers are
usually required to pay in advance for the
online marketing services. Management
assessed that the arrangement suggesting
the social media, rather than the Group, is
primarily responsible for providing the online
marketing services and control the specified
service before that service is transferred to
the advertisers. The Group is regarded as an
intermediary in executing these transactions
and therefore recognise agreed rebates from
social media as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(s)

PEAEARAR

Revenue and other income (Conta)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(ii)

Advertisement (Contd)

In some circumstances, the Group offers
discounts or rebates to the advertisers
as part of its promotion activities. When
determining whether the discounts or
rebates represent consideration payable to
customers, management assessed that (a)
the Group is an agent in the arrangement
(therefore the advertisers are not the
Group’s customers); and (b) the discounts
or rebates offered to the advertisers are
not contractually required in the agreement
between the Group and the social media
(therefore the Group is not offering
discounts or rebates on behalf of social
media). As a result, the discounts or rebates
offered by the Group are not considered
to represent consideration payable to
customers. Rather, the discounts or rebates
offered are promotion activities to attract
advertisers and are accounted for as selling
expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Conta)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(iii)

Other value-added services

The Group collects service fees from other
value-added services, including online
traffic monetisation (Youzanke - BE%),
merchandise sourcing and distribution
(Youzan Distribution — H&43#4), consumer
protection (Youzan Guarantee — B B R),
etc. The merchants are benefited from the
above services only when the consumers
accepted or received the underlying goods
or services purchased from merchants,
therefore revenue of these services are
recognised at the point in time when the
relevant orders settlement take place.

Revenue from the sale of point of sale
equipment is recognised when control of
the equipment has transferred, being when
the equipment has been shipped to the
merchants’ specific location. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the
equipment is delivered to the merchants
as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Others

Revenue from catering services is recognised

at the point of sale of food and beverages to
customers.

Revenue from management services provided to

a related party is recognised over the time when
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)
(s) Revenue and other income (Contd)

(t)

PEAEARAR

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Employee benefits

(1) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
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200

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits (Contd)

(iir)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of the dates when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment
of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(v)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset is ready for
its intend use or sales is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate

on general borrowing.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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202

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(w) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it and that the

grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

(x) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(x)

PEAEARAR

Taxation (Contd)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(x) Taxation (Conta)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to

application of the initial recognition exemption.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(y)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed
for impairment annually and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying

amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications
of impairment and where an asset is impaired,
it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating
unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating

unit whose impairment is being measured.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(y) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Contd)

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit
and then pro rata amongst the other assets of
the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes
in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is

treated as a revaluation increase.

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI, trade receivables and contract
assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial

instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time

value of money where appropriate.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an

amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible

within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group's debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s

core operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contad)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)
(z) Impairment of financial assets and

PEAEARAR

contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contad)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contad)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing’ Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will

default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)
(z) Impairment of financial assets and

PEAEARAR

contracts assets (Contd)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

212

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

EXGER @

(2)

MBEERGNEERE
)

EEREMFEE

HEE—BXNZRENYHE
EZESARRBEEREESE
THEEZENF 2V BE
ENHREERE - PHEE
EERENZEEEUNTE
BRI EUR ¢

— HTARRSHFHIER
BERUFHE ;

- EREY WEQTE
S S

- HREXRSGHFHHR
BAERNEERNENR
RBZHFHERA
ERXZHFRTEN
ANREFEE BT
=1

- XREZHFEEREINE
THMPFBFEE ; 5

— HERYBRBERERTS
BEZRBHHEHK

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4,

PEAEARAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in

profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-

looking information.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Contd)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the
expected loss allowance is the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified

approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount

through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Contd)

(aa)

(ab)

PEAEARAR

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group's position
at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

216

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised
and to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a)  Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis,
notwithstanding the existence of the material
uncertainty as described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of the
directors’ going concern assessment are explained
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Contd)

(b)

(c)

PEAEARAR

Intangible assets — Trademarks assessed to have
indefinite useful life

The Group regarded and assessed its trademarks
to have indefinite useful life as at end of reporting
period. Accounting policy of intangible assets
with indefinite useful life is set out in note 4(g)
to the consolidated financial statements. Details
of the trademarks and the reasons for the
Group's assessment are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Equity pick up of entity of less than 20% equity
interest

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the
voting power of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd., the directors considered that
the Group has significant influence over Nanjing
Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
Kuaizi Information Technology Co., Ltd. because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the
five directors of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Contad)

(@)

Business model assessment
Classification and measurement of financial assets
depends on the results of the SPPI (i.e. Solely
Payments of Principal and Interest) test and the
business model test. The Group determines the
business model at a level that reflects how groups
of financial assets are managed together to achieve
a particular business objective. This assessment
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the
risks that affect the performance of the assets and
how these are managed and how the managers
of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to
their maturity to understand the reason for their
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent
with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s
continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are
held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to
the classification of those assets. No such changes
were required during the periods presented.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Conta)

(e)

(7)

PEAEARAR

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(z), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.

Generally, periods covered by an extension
option in other properties leases have not been
included in the lease liability because the Group
could replace the assets without significant cost
or business disruption. See note 20 for further
information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group's control.
During the current financial year, no lease term has
been reassessed.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(@)

PEAEARAR

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Contad)

The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as
at 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB18,739,000 (2021: RMB50,153,000) and
RMB13,742,000 (2021: RMB160,424,000)
respectively after impairment losses of
RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000 were
recognised in the year ended 31 December
2021 (2021: RMB160,424,000 respectively
after impairment loss of RMB22,110,000 and
RMB80,393,000 were recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2021). Details of the
impairment loss calculation are provided in note 19
and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(b)

Intangible assets and amortisation

The Group determines the estimated useful life
and related amortisation for the Group's intangible
assets. The useful life of intangible assets (except
RMB942,418,000 (2021: RMB942,418,000)
trademarks) (before any impairment) are assessed
to be finite, based on the expected usage and
technical obsolescence from the changes in the
market demands or services output from the
assets. Intangible assets with finite useful life are
amortised over the expected useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible assets may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for the intangible assets with
a finite useful life are reviewed by the management
at least at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as
at 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB773,945,000 (2021: RMB855,593,000
after impairment losses of RMB459,553,000
respectively were recognised in the year ended
31 December 2021) after impairment losses
of RMB459,553,000 were recognised in the
year ended 31 December 2022. Detail of the
impairment loss calculation are provided in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAR

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
RMB5,298,000 of income tax credit was
recognised in profit or loss, RMB17945,000
credit to profit or loss of deferred tax liabilities
were recorded which mainly related to reversal
of deferred tax liabilities on intangible assets and
deferred tax liabilities of capitalised contract cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
RMB41,238,000 of income tax expenses was
recognised in profit or loss for year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB46,629,000 of
income tax credit was recognised in profit or
loss), including charge on deferred tax asset
RMB126,933,000 which were based mainly on
management'’s estimated future assessable profits
of the Group's major subsidiaries that could utilise
the tax losses (2020: credit RMB28,214,000)
and RMB86,059,000 (2020: RMB28,810,000) of
deferred tax liabilities were recorded which mainly
related to reversal of deferred tax liabilities on
intangible assets and deferred tax liabilities of
capitalised contract cost.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

()

(e)

224

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the end of the reporting period
was RMB341,326,000 (2021: RMB341,326,000)
after an impairment loss on CGU B around
RMB1,622,083,000 was recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2021 which the amount of
CGU B's goodwill is fully impaired.

Details of goodwill are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being
revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may
arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(e)

(1)

PEAEARAR

Impairment of trade receivables (Contua)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB13,120,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB8,428,000)
(2021: RMB4,292,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of RMB10,775,000)).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made
based on the ageing and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the
allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2022, accumulated allowance

for slow-moving inventories amounted to
RMB3,407,000 (2021: RMB7.049,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(9)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOC/

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors
in assessing the fair value of the Group's
investments. The valuer estimated the fair value of
the Group’s major investments. The valuer using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investees,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount for lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions.

Apart from the above, the Group has certain
small investments. The Directors of the Group
have estimated the fair value of these smaller
investments mainly based on the latest financial
information and their understanding of the
operating environment of these investments.
These smaller investments have total carrying
amount of nil as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The carrying amount of the investments as at
31 December 2022 was RMB70,993,000 (2021:
RMB71,490,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(h)

PEAEARAR

Investments in financial assets at FVTPL

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors in
assessing the fair value of the Group’s investments
which classified as financial assets at FVTPL
as at 31 December 2022. The valuer estimated
the fair value of the Group's investments using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investees,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount for lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions.

The carrying amounts of the Group's investments
in financial assets measured at FVTPL as at 31
December 2022 was RMB285,642,000 (2021:
RMB372,675,000).
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228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
entities had no significant assets or liabilities
denominated in currency other than respective
functional currencies.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with
banks and financial institutions, and other financial
instruments. The Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances and balances with central bank
is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAR

Credit risk (Conta)

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’'s established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. The Group usually
does not grant any credit term to customer unless
some special cases. For those special cases, the
Group will grant a credit period less than 120
days. Debtors with balances that are more than
3 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.
As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b) Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERERE @
Trade receivables (Contd) JEW IR (4
The following table provides information about the TRIEZEEBRAANEERE KR
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade MzEEREHORTERE
receivables: EFBBEZER
2022
ZEIZE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARS IR HEERmEE iR E
RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARBTT ARETT

Current (not past due) BIHR GRaafh) 0% 13,120 -
Up to 3 months past due BHA=-ERZRN 100% 1,569 (1,569)
Over 6 months NMEBM L 100% 6,859 (6,859)

21,548 (8,428)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 et ———

F+A=+—HLEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b)

PEAEARAR

Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERKE®
Trade receivables (Contd) JEWERZ (4
2021
“ET—F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHAESIRX RAREE B REE
RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETTT ARET T
Current (not past due) BIHR GRaafh) 19% 5,312 (1,020)
Up to 3 months past due BHA=-ERZRN 100% 3,106 (3,106)
Over 6 months NEAMUE 100% 6,649 (6,649)
15,067 (10,775)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 1 year. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected life of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

6.

232

#

E_EB__F#+_HB=1+—HLtEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBEKMERE®
(b) Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERERE @
Trade receivables (Contd) JEW AR (42
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect REERWERM 2 BIEEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: AREENUT ¢
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARETIT
At 1 January n—A—H 10,775 17992
Allowance for the year FRBERIE 11,425 4,126
Reversal of allowance for the year F B (o] (7,747) (4,659)
Written of allowance B s (6,025) (6,684)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 8,428 10,775
Financial assets at amortised cost R G B2 S EE
All of the Group's financial assets at amortised RNEBPMABZEBHEMATTE
cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the 2 BEEARREAEER

loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses.

Financial assets at amortised cost include deposits
and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholder of subsidiaries and
amounts due from related companies.

PR RIS HA RSS2 5
BEBERM2EL B

Ho

BRBIHN AT ENMHTEE
RS R EAMERRIE &
W B BB~ B JRIE R IR BR AR IR
5 FE WS RET Bk /2 B) kIR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta)

(b) Credit risk (Conta)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Contd)

Movement in the loss allowance for financial
assets at amortised cost during the year is as

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

6. HBERMREIER®

b) EEEE®

R AT BZ B EE

G-

AEEZRBIHNAGFEZY
BEEZBEEHEHIT

follows:

Loans
and other
receivables
Bk EHM
RMB'000
ANE®BFT
At 1 January 2021 R _E_—F—HF—H 8,639
Allowance for the year FRIBERIE -

At December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZIE_—F+"A&
— 2 "H#—HF—H 8,539
Allowance for the year FARRERIE 3,065
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZHF+Z"HB=+—H 11,604
233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6.

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group's non-
derivate financial liabilities is as follows:

MBERERE @

() REBEZEE
FEBZERAEMREER
BEREASETFER BR
HERFRRRTRE LURE
TR RIIRSETR K

AEBZIFTEMHEER
BEOREHRRERZE
HBEDMIT :

Less than Between More than
1year 2tob years 5 years Total
DR—F REERE EEUE aF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT AR®TR ARETR
At 31 December 2022 M-ZE-_%£+Z8
=+—H
Trade payables FE{TERAR 2,641 - - 2,641
Accruals and other payables ~ FEIRER K&
HARER B 408,016 - - 408,016
Lease liabilities HE&E 29,176 77,197 14,350 120,723
Borrowings B 489,704 - - 489,704
At 31 December 2021 R_E_—&
+-R=+—H
Trade payables FE{TERAR 2,762 - - 2,762
Accruals and other payables ~ TEIRERK
HARE B 545,984 - - 545,984
Amount due to a non-controlling F&{f— R B /A =)
shareholder of a subsidiary ~ JFIZRRAREZNIE 306 - - 306
Lease liabilities HEER 68,951 198,595 79,848 347394
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta)

(d)

PEAEARAR

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s exposure to interest-rate risk arises
from its bank deposits. These deposits bear
interests at variable rate varied with the prevailing
market condition.

At 31 December 2022, if interest rates at that date
had been 100 basis points higher with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after
tax for the year would have been RMB7481,000
(2021: RMB6,532,000) lower, arising mainly as a
result of higher interest income on bank deposits.
If interest rates had been 100 basis points lower,
with all other variables held constant, consolidated
loss after tax for the year would have been
RMB7481,000 (2021: RMB6,532,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of lower interest income
on bank deposits.

The Group's loans to employees bear interest at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks (note 32).

The Group's bank deposits and borrowings bear
interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's balances with central bank bear
interest at fixed interest rates in accordance with
the regulations and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks.
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F B o i F1) ZEBEAE 1001E B & »
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=~ —4F . AR¥6,532,000
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AR E TR MR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_S-_F+-A=1+—BIEE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

236

(e) Categories of financial instruments at (e) M+ZHA=t+—HZER

31 December

TR
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Financial assets: MBEE
Financial assets measured at BEHN AT E S
amortised cost MHREE 4,747,980 4,614,836
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESATERERZ
MBEE 285,642 372,675
Financial assets measured at AT EF AT
FVTOCI - unlisted equity securities ~ E2EUW &R Z 7
BE-—FLTRAFES 70,993 71,490
Financial liabilities: MBaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AT E 2
MBas 4,113,217 4,352,676
Borrowings R 480,986 -
(f)  Fair values H AFE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial KEBRGEHBERRIRK

assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.

MM BEERUBERARK
HEEHZEZATERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS 7 NHEREE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an NTFEATHZL2EERAEBHE

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction —RAEFRXZHREHEEEPTWEE

between market participants at the measurement date. EZEAEMENZE8g - TXERR

The following disclosures of fair value measurements use TEEREEATFENEE MAF

a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the EERREBEINEAFEMAMGERR

inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: iz ABED B =147 :

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active malm A  AEEFTTRIEBRRE
markets for identical assets or B BzHEBREEHEER
liabilities that the Group can access at ERHHEZRE KK
the measurement date. FEE) o

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices RB2E A BRARAITIRE Z 8 A
included within level 1 that are B BN O B EER
observable for the asset or liability, ZNBzEENBER
either directly or indirectly. AR -

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or MBIBEA EBEIBEZFAERE
liability. B B A B3 o

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and AEBZHRAPREEEGHHERN

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of EEREREEF Y H BRI A=@K

the event or change in circumstances that caused the AMZEBAREL -

transfer.

FEEBRERAT —I - CEER 237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7

238

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE
7 AFEEZE®

(a) M+ZA=+—HAFE

hierarchy at 31 December: [E 4R Z R AN EE
Fair value measurements using: Tota
MAFEREE: A%
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
AN A2 B®A3 B
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTR AR®BTR ARETR®
Recurring fair value BRATENEL .
measurements:
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES AT
BaRzHBEE
- unlisted preferred shares —FEEMEER - - 280,891 280,891
Financial assets at FVTPL BATERATE
BaRzHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JEEMRAES - - 4,751 4,751
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATERA
FHMZ2ERER
ZHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JEEMRAE - - 70,993 70,993
- - 356,635 356,635
Fair value measurements using: Total
DAFERES =
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
&AN A2 BRRI3 B —F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR
Recurring fair value BRATENEE:
measurements:
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES AT
BREEZHBEE
- unlisted preferred shares —JEEMEBER - - 363,740 363,740
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESAE
BaRzHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JFEmRERES - - 8,935 8,935
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATER AEEM
EENERZFH
- unlisted equity securities —JFEmRERES - - 71,490 71,490
- - 444 165 444,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

(b)

e

F+A=+—HLEFE

7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 NEEAEE @
Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) HEBBAFEREZEE
fair value based on Level 3: ZHER

Financial Financial
assets at assets at Financial
FVTOCI - FVTPL - assets at
unlisted unlisted FVTPL -
equity equity preferred
securities securities shares Total
BATE
st ATEE M BATE
2EWKEEKZ SATBRER BATE
MBEE 2ZHBEE SATEZE
—JELET™ -JkEH  ZHMEBEE
R B 5 R 8% —BRK =1
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—fF
—A—H 117024 - - 117024
Addition capital contribution BIMNEE
- Cash consideration paid for the ~ —&ERE
year REfRE - 10,620 278,796 289,416
— Earnest money paid in year -RIEZBEX
ended 2020 and recognised SRR ER
as investment during the BRAREZ
year HEE - - 50,000 50,000
- Consideration payable —EARE
(note 38) (M=£38) - - 10,195 10,195
Total gain or loss recognised ERERzm
BB 4E%E
— In profit or loss —R’EmE - (1,685) 25,443 23,758
- In other comprehensive income  —REMZEEUA (45,015) = = (45,015)
Exchange difference ERER (519) - (694) (1,213)
At 31 December 2021 and AT —F
1 January 2022 +ZBA=t+—Hk
A
—B—H 71,490 8,935 363,740 444,165
Additions during the year FRRE - - 20,000 20,000
Cash received from redemption ~ HBEIFTUERZ IR & - - (30,000) (30,000)
Loss on redemption of financial B[R AT EET A
asset at FVTPL FEERZHE
BEZEE - - (5,384) (5,384)
Total gain or loss recognised EEE%@ZH&EEJZE??E
ik
— In profit or loss —RiEm - (4,184) (69,153) (73,337)
—In other comprehensive income  —HREMZ2EUA (729) - - (729)
Exchange difference FERE%E 232 - 1,688 1,920
At 31 December 2022 .S 3
+=ZB=+—-H 70,993 4,751 280,891 356,635

PEAEARAR
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of assets measured at
fair value based on Level 3: (Conta)

Total gains or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Total gains or loss recognised in profit or loss are
presented in fair value change in financial assets at
FVTPL in the consolidation statement of profit or
loss.

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2022:

The Group's financial controller is responsible
for the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board
of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group
will normally engage independent external
valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

#

7

i

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

[NHEENEE @

(b)

(c)

RIRABATEANEZEE
ZHER: @

P E At & T R o B AR 2 WR =
WERBERGEEEnE
fthEEWARPZ2 -

PRIBEm Sz W m SRR
BPRRERERPZIRAT
Bt AEERRZVBEE
ZRTFEEFZY -

TERR_E-__F+=
B=+—BEHAZ&ETRE
FRAFEINEPRFERZ
{{ERMT R A BE 2 1%
=

AEBEPBESEaEETH
BREFTEZEEREBEZ
NTERE% > BEFERIIA
TEREE M AEEEN
EEERSLEATEIE
FoMBBEREEE EE
FRH—RNEBEZERRE
%o

FLARBIBAFEREZEMES
AEBEBEEIHEEENR

EXERBATRAEGELR
ZEIUINSEEERETH
BfafE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE-T - &+ g=t—ALEE
7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 RFEAEZ®
(c) Disclosure of valuation process () ZFAEER-ZFE-_—F+=

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2022:
(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

A=+—HfEAZ&ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERM R EARIRZ K

E B

RSB FER 2%

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
TARREA BABEEM ATEHBAREN
i B Hik 2y HATEZHE HEE ATE
2022 2021
ZEIZfE ZTZ-%
RMB'000  RMB'000
ABBTRT ARETR
Financial assets at
FVTOCI - unlisted
equity securities
BRATEHAZAMZE
Wik MBEE
- LmRAES
Company A Market multiples with an  Price-to-Book 0.45x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in 64,840 69,750
adjustment of lack of ("PB") (2021:0.60x)  will increase the fair value P/B would result in increase/
marketability discount decrease in fair value by
("DLOM") RMBG,484,000/RMB6,484,000
AFA LEmmnetng  BkE (FkE) 04518 RURRBAGBEMBEY  HRELMH0%HE
(MEmRRA LT (CZz-&:  ATEEM BATEEM/ BOAR
#) BERNTS 0.60(%) 6,484,000,/ AE
B 6,484,000
DLOM 28.21% Increase in unobservable input ~ 20% increase/decrease in DLOM

(2021:33.06%)  will decrease the fair value

EmEREENE 2821% FUBRRHAUBENBER
(C2Z-F:  ATEAD
33.06%)
Volatility (“VOL') 48.79%  Increase in unobservable input

(2021:56.98%)  will decrease the fair value

(D) 4879% FUBRGAUREMEER
(CE=-#:  ATEED
56.98%)

FEAEAMRAT TR

would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB,095,000/RMB5,095,000

EMERELTREN/ A
20%BEHATERD,/ LM
ABR5,005,0007/ AR
5,095,000

20% increase/decrease in VOL
would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMBB,255,000/RMB5,255,000

BIEIE/HD20% B ERAT
B35/ ¥4 A K #5,255,000
75/ \R15,255,0007
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

7 AHEAEZE®

(c)

TEBRNR_E-__"_F+_
B=+—BHEHAZ&ETRE
FRAFEINERFERZ
{{ERT Kb A BE 2 1%

E B

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FOBREHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATfE
2022 2021
ZEIZfE ZTZ-%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTRT ARETR
Financial assets at
FVTOCI - unlisted
equity securities
BATEGAZEMRE
Wik B EE
- ERAES
Company B Market multiples with an ~ Enterprise value to 2.02x Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 6,153 1,740
adjustment of DLOM sales multiples (2021:1.28x)  will increase the fair value S would result in increase/
("EVIS") decrease in fair value by
RMB768,000/RMB743,000
AFB SETEBMNE  CEEEENER 2002 FOBEBAMBENEEN CEEELSHEBRLEEN/ A
HEENTISEY tE (2 EE (CBZ—%:.  ATEEM DORRERATEEN,/ B
BREBLE)) 12818) W AEH768,0007T/ AEH
743,0007¢
DLOM 30.69% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2021:30.14%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value of
RMB805,000/RMB830,000
BOHRBLTE 3069% FABRZHAHBEMEER SEHEREETBEN/ )
(CBZ-%  ATERDY N%REJATEHD /18
30.14%) AR805,0007,/ AR
830,0007¢
\VOL 8722% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2021:78.12%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value of
RMB913,000/RMB1,012,000
b {3 8720% TEBZHARBENMBER RREM/BO0%HERAT
(CBZ-%:  ATERD B/ AR 913,000
78.12%) 7t/ NEH1,012,0007
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

BECT - FT A=+ —HIEFE

7 AFEANE

(c)

)

TERR_E-__F+=
B=+—BEHAZGETRE
FRATENERFERZ
{{ERT Kb A BE 2 1%

B @

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2022 2021
ZECCE “Z-E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BRATEG AERER
2HBEE-BER
Group Companies C ~ Market multiple withan ~ EV/S 2.65x8.9x  Increase in unobservable input  10%-20% increase/decrease 225,960 302,510
adjustment of DLOM (2021:6.25x  will increase the fair value in EV/S would result in
-10.85x) increase/decrease fair
value by RMB398,000 to
RMB7451,000/RMB420,000 to
RMB7815,000
£@AFC LETERBLNES CEEEEHER 265(5-89fF FABRZHANBEMAER CEEAEHERLRLEN/ 5
BRI THER S C3z-%.  ATEEND 10%-20% RSN TEE
6.25f5-10.85(2) DU/JI/‘\)\EW% 0007t
AR7451,00070/ AR
420,000 E A& %7815,000
T
DLOM 16.57%-30.64% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in
(2021:1703%  will decrease the fair value DLOM would result in
-32.41%) decreasefincrease in fair
value of RMB180,000 to
RMB8,401,000/RMB177000 to
RMB7982,000
EHBTBMNE  1657%3064% FARSHAMBENAER EnEREHTEENH)
(CB--%  ATEED NHFERAFERD /B
1703%-32.41%) MAR180,000cEARE
8,401,0007t,/ AR 8177000
TEARE7982,0007
VoL 4771%-73.28%  Increase in unobservable input  10%-20% increase/decrease
(2021:44.28%  will decrease the fair value in VOL would result in
-76.77%) decreasefincrease in fair
value of RMB55,000 to
RMB11,954,000/RMB62,000
to RMB12,972,000
P 771%-73.28% FEIREHAHBENHEN &mmimnu/ D 10%-20% 15
(CBZ—%. ATERD NEERD /EIARE
44.28%-76.77%) 55 0007cE A& #11,954,000
7T/ ARHB62000TZEARE
12,972,0007T
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

HE_Z—

—F+ZA=1+—HLEE

7 AHEAEZE®

(c)

TEBRNR_E-__"_F+_
B=+—BHEHAZ&ETRE
FRAFEINERFERZ
{{ERT Kb A BE 2 1%

E B

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FOBREHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATfE
2022 2021
ZECCE “Z-E
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BRATEG AERER
2HBEE-BER
Company D Market multiples with an ~ EV/S 6.93x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 44,715
adjustment of DLOM will increase the fair value S would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
RMB1,863,000/RMB1,851,000
AFD SETERBLNES CEEEEHER 6.93% TARZANGBENSEY CEEESBERLELN/
BRI THER th ATEEM 0%RERATEEN/ B
HARE1,8630007/ AR
1,851,00070
DLOM 25.92% Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMBT1,581,000/RMB1,590,000
BMERELE 592% TIEREARBENAEN EnEREHELN/ AL
ATERD 0% B EHATERD /B
ABR1,581,0007/ AR H
1,590,00070
\VOL 6793% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in VOL
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB155,000/RMB502,000
Pl 6793% FABZEAMBEMEER  KIBEN,/HL0%FERAT

ATEHD

&) /AR 155,000
7T,/ AR 502,000
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAR

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

7 AHEAEZE®

(c)

techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

KEENR"T

£+

A=+—HfEAZ&ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERM R EARIRZ K

E B

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2022 2021
ZECCE “Z-E
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BRATEG AERER
ZHBEE-BER
Company D (Contd) ~ Market multiples with an  Enterprise 26.04x Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 61,230
adjustment of DLOM value to its will increase the fair value EBITDA would result in
eamings before increase/decrease in fair
interests, taxes, value by RMB2,131,000/
depreciations RMB2,193,000
and amortisation
("EV/EBITDA')
AFD (B) SEDERBLAER CEBEEERN 26048 TABRZBABRENASR CEEEERFNSREHE
BENTHER EREE ATEEM REBHEBALEEN/ A
REHANRL 0% EERATEEN/H)
= (IpEEES AB2,131,0007/ AR
BRRISTRIE 2,193,007
FEREHNR
Gillsd)]
DLOM 33.48% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB3,070,000/RMB2,950,000
BHHRBLTE 348% FABZHAHBEMEER EHERELTEEN/ 5D
ATERD N%FERATFERD /B0
ARIE3,070,0007/ AR M
2,950,000
VoL 6711% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in VOL
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB2,955,000/RMB2,972,000
bl 6711% FABZHAKBEMBEER KRN/ HL0%EERAT
NFEHD B, /Y A K #2,955,000
7t/ NE#2,972,0007
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

7 AHEAEZE®

(c)

TEBRNR_E-__"_F+_
B=+—BHEHAZ&ETRE
FRAFEINERFERZ
{{ERT Kb A BE 2 1%

E B

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
TARREA BABEEM ATEHBAREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATfE
2022 2021
ZEIZfE ZTZ-%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTRT ARETR
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BRATEG AERER
2MBEE-BER
Company E Market multiples with an - EV/EBITDA 16.06x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 10216 NATER
adjustment of DLOM will increase the fair value EBITDA would result in
increase/decrease in fair value
by RMB704,000/RMB688,000
AFE SENERBENEE CEEEERA 16.06(F FIRZHANFENKEY CEEEERNE RBTE
BRNTHER S REHE ATEEM REBHRBRLEEN /A
REHRER DORRERATEEN,/ B
= b ARET04,0007T,/ AR
688,0007C
DLOM 18.23% Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB291,000/RMB294,000
BOHRBLTE 1823% TABEHARBENRER EBTEHELN/H
AFERD NHESHATERD/
MAR291,0007/ AR
294,0007%
\VOL 49.25%  Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in VOL
will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB76,000/RMB63,000
b {3 4925% TFABZHAHBEMEER KRN/ HL0%KERAT
ATERD B/ AR 76,0007
/ NE 63,0007
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

PEAEARAR

Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2022:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

7 AHEAEZE®

(c)

TERR_E-__F+=
B=+—BEHAZGETRE
FRAFENERFERZ
{{ERT Kb A BE 2 1%

E B

ARBYSA-FERE% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
TARREA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i AR Y 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2022 2021
ZEIZfE ZTZ-%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABETRT ARETR
Financial assets Market multiples with an ~ EV/S 703x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 4,751 8,935
measured at FVTPL adjustment of DLOM (2021:9.48x)  will increase the fair value S would result in increase/
- unlisted equity decrease in fair value by
securities RMB497000/RMB496,000
RATEGHACRER CEDSRALER CXEEEHEDR 7035 FEBZAAHEZLNREY CEEEEBERLEEN/ A
ZHBEE-FLET  BENTHEN & (CBz—%. ATEEM DORRERATEEN,/ B
s 9.48f8) AR 4970007/ \RHE
496,0007T
DLOM 19.17% Increase in unobservable input ~ 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2021:20.75%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB225,000/RMB226,000
BOSRBLTE 1917% TARZEAUREMEER SEHERELHTEEN/ )
(CBZ-%: ATERD N%REFATEHD /18
20.75%) MARE225,0007,/ AR
226,0007T
\VOL 5191% Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in VOL
(2021:56%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB117000/RMB116,000
{3 5191% TARZBAUREMEER REEN/ BO0RRERAT
(CBZ-%: ATERD &R /BImAREN70007T
56%) / \R#116,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ S F+_B=1+—HIFE
7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 AFEAEZE @

(c) Disclosure of valuation process () FEER-T__F+—
used by the Group and valuation A=t+—HAfERZEER
techniques and inputs used in fair value FRATFEASPERZ
measurements at 31 December 2022: {E{ER M R A BiR 2 1
(Contd) g .

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd) ARBYBL T (G RI2 2 (4
The aforementioned valuation techniques are group T ERTERERESER
in accordance with their classification and their HhERTo4E
valuation techniques.
There is no change in valuation techniques for B T 3P 3t f52 A 1 B R 2R 8
valuations for the two years, except for the change ABURZ 89N MIEFES
of the use of unobservable inputs as mentioned B2 G ERM L REE) - F A
below. There were two additions during the year EMERE DalAABER
which are Company E and one of the company in EERBCHH—EAE -
Group Companies C.
For Company D’'s valuation, one of the FABIDZ fEEM S A —
unobservable inputs is changed due to market 15 1 A 8 5% 8 A\ B (K ST Rl
multiple previously used is not appropriate to show FRZTEEBHEIBESRET
the fair value of Company D as at 31 December ANSIID) S p— e o
2022. =+—BZzAFEMELEE
o

8. REVENUE 8. Uz

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) Sl
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with FRNRFIFEZERIARBED
customers by major products or service line for the Tz kBEREHNZW AT
year is as follows: T

2022 2021
—EBf T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT
Revenue from contracts with EAMBIREER
customers within the scope of B155REBEARE
HKFRS 15 ERaZEm
Subscription Solutions STRIRR G % 890,223 973,813
Merchant Solutions (note (i) B ER 7 F (EEG) 597,780 584,778
Others HAth 8,974 11,400
1,496,977 1,569,991
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
171 R e |

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
. 25 =
8. REVENUE (contd) 8. Wm®@
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Contd) (a) Al @

Note: P -

(i) No transaction fees generated from HiINAEER (i HRAEBEWEB QB
B R/AT (“Hangzhou Youzan”), a subsidiary of MINBEBREERQE
the Group, was included in Merchant Solutions (TN EE) BN
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: T —F_HRIEER
RMB21,603,000) since Hangzhou Youzan ceased SR%B > MmN BER
its transaction service in February 2021. No BHE_Z__F+_A4
transaction fee income would be generated —t+t—HBLEFEmEE
afterwards. ERXZEWA FTAE

RBARE(ZEZ—
F . ARE®21,603,000
7o) cHEBEFAEELERS
NG

The Group derives revenue from the transfer REBRZWGRKRBERUTE

of goods and services over time and at a point EEmMGRMEE—KB™E

in time in the following major product lines and ARE—FEEMZzEmER
geographical regions: TRERE
Third party payment

General trading services Onecomm Merchant services Others Total

—kE5 B=HH TR B GEE Hth ot
For the year ended w2 an | am wl wm a0 2w w0 . 0 a2
31 December HE+ZBA=t+-HLEE C%IF "3°-F ZFCCE ZF°-F TPCCE C5C-% CSICE CIC-F CECCE CF5C-F TBICE T30
RMBOOD RMB000 RMBOOO RMEOD RMBOOD RMBO00 RMBOO0 RVBO00 RMBO0 RNBOOD RMBO00 RMBIO00
AEBBTR AEETR ARETR AEETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR A\EETT ARETR \EETR

Primary geograhpic market FEHEH R

-PRCexceptHongKong I (BEARS - - 328379 283979 - - 1165738 1,282,155 1,964 6,176 1496,081 1577310

~ Japen A% 5 . . - . N Y - R

- Canada -mex - - - - - - 74 567 - - 7 567

Seqment revenue A 5 - 2 = SIS0 1284003 1964 G 1497685 1579158

Intersegment revenue: AEENE

-PRCexceptHongKong & (BEARM - - - (7044) - - (668)  (2.123) - - (668)  (9,167)

Revenue from external RESNIEE 25

customers . oo 2819% - S 1166634 1281880 1964 6176 1496977 1569991

Timing of revenue BERIEYS

recogniton

Ata point n ime RE-EEY . N - - 2805 - - 281092

Overtime T-BERR - - 38212 281377 - - 897870 1001346 1964 6,176 1,228,046 1,288,899

Total a5t - - 38319 281935 - - 1,166,634 1281880 1964 6,176 1496977 1,569,991
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8. REVENUE (conta)

(b)

250

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the year end and the expected
timing of recognising revenue as follows:

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

8. W=E®

(b) PEEERBRESHZEFT
BHNBEZRZE

REREDEEGHR TBHOEME

(REBTHEMHRERET)
ZRGBRER N 2 TR
R -

Subscription Solutions
HI): VS
2022 2021
T T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTm AR®ETFT

Within 1 year —FR 620,136 683,492

More than 1 year but not —F U EMEURN
more than 2 years 49,127 53,811
More than 2 years maEL 224 1,635
669,487 738,938
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BEZT__H+"A=+—HIEE
9. INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME 9. KEKHMEA
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Interest income on: FEWA -
Bank deposits IRITE™ 12,158 13,5662
Central bank R ORIRTT 10,862 12,835
Loan from other BEMATEBAZER 171 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESAEERE
ZHBEE 1,584 4,637
Total interest income F B WA 4B ZE 24,775 31,034
Dividend income L3SV N 1,641 725
Government grants* BT 4 By * 7.243 6,355
VAT super-credit 1E(ER N0 ST A 3,519 14,678
Compensation income mEWA 4,187 3,204
Others Hith 8,152 7790
49,517 63,786
* The Group recognised government grants as follow: ¥ AEE RSB U TEUNHED
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  AR%TR
Capital investment subsidies B AR E AL - 2,726
COVID-19 related subsidies COVID-19/8 Be % B - 21
Entity-specific financial support HEERMBZIE 6,954 1,858
High and New Technology Enterprise = TR i 1 2 A A
subsidies 200 1,750
Research and development project B2 18 B AL
subsidies 89 -
7243 6,355
There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingent 1B 2 oA U BN _E St PR 8 AT 46 B 7 1
attached of the receipts of all above government grants. RPN 2 M1 e ELA B ARG 5 o
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

252

HE_Z_—

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

10. HftaaRisis > 388

2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETn ARET
(Allowance)/reversal for FEUN AR 7R (i) #[E)
trade receivables, net HEE (3,678) 533
Allowance for prepayments, ENRE Tk
deposits and other receivables HAM Y RIE R (3,065) -
Impairment of property, M~ BB R ERE
plant and equipment (note 19) (M$5E19) - (22,110)
Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 20) EREE ERE (Mf5E20) - (80,393)
Impairment of goodwill (note 21) EERE (F1EE21) - (1,622,083)
Impairment of intangible assets (note 22) L& ERE (f5£22) - (459,553)
Impairment of investment in an associate P —RHE AT 28 E
BE (1,289) -
Net gain on early termination and IREBERIERENRBEZ
modification of leases W R 28 29,682 82
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) FER U, (B518) 258 4,974 (1,955)
Gain on derecognition of other payables RIETESREHMENRIBEZ
W 16,910 -
Property, plant and equipment written off KA 1EFA S mmHfss £ -
for termination of leases i 52 e 5% 45 (19,006) -
Net gain of disposal of property, HEYE -BERKREZ
plant and equipment W R 2B 2,968 55
Gain on disposal a subsidiary HE—RBRBAE ZWa 4,603 -
Written off of trade receivables 1155 8 U AR =R - (643)
Loss on redemption of financial assets at  BE[CIIZAF{EFT ATE
FVTPL Bmlk o MBEEZ
e (5,384) -
Others Hh 9,385 (857)
36,100 (2,186,924)
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BB
2022 2021
B T ”-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESRZHERXZ 15,707 22,642
Interest on borrowings HMERZHE 9,924 -
25,631 22,642
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION 12. SEER
The Group has five operating segments as follows: FEEBBEUTHELKLEDES :
General trading - trading of watches and other —RB85 — BEFHIAEME
goods on
Third party - provision of third party payment F=AxM — RPEARENER
payment services and related consultancy AR5 (THREL) Rt =
services services in the People’s Republic 75 2 A AR %5 R 48 B
of China (the “PRC") EE AR5
Onecomm — provision of third party payment —megmN - REEE=FZM
management services and sales EERB RHEE
of integrated smart Point of Sale B S BEH B R
("POS") devices (TPOS ) £ &
Merchant services — provision of e-commerce BRERE — BEEERKAR
platform with a variety of SaaS RAKRENBE LA
products and comprehensive (TEE&£®)) (H
services in the PRC through EEBEEME -
Youzan Technology Inc. and its EEZE -BFEX
subsidiaries (”Youzan Group”), *%SaaSEM) I
which owns Youzan WeiMall, BiRMHEEER T
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and BB SaaSE MMER
other SaaS products =it
Other — other business Hh — HM=ER
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12.

254

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits
or losses do not include equity-settled share-based
payments and impairment of goodwill. Segment assets
do not include investments in associates, indemnification
assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
assets at FVTPL and other corporate assets. Segment
non-current assets do not include financial instruments,
deferred tax assets and goodwill. Segment liabilities
(current and non-current) do not include current tax
liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers
as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

12.

SEER 69
AEEZAERDMARESEE
mR Rz REEEFEMN - ZEFD
BB EBIBRM kTS HEER
RNl VA=

KENBZETHREZSFINES
RAFS AR M SEAPR L B 4B R © 9 BB i
MBEAEEREEERND N
MIEREERE - DEEENEER
BMERRAZKE - RESE -BE-
BAFEsfFATEMERNR@RZ
MHEE B ATESAERTRZ
MHBEEREMBESE - DHIER
FEETBEEMTE - REIEREE
EREE - DHa’ CRexIFRE)
TEENRREAE EERES
ERUSUNCIESEER

AEERUERTSEEEE =7

HERWE B BAWENER
R AIREIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_Z "+ "A=-1+—HIEFE
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont ) 12. FEBEH @
Information about operating segment profit BRKESS R REEE EE
or loss, assets and liabilities: RafRzER :
Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Others Total
g=F
—RES Z SRR — I BELE Hith EH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AERBTT ARBTn ARETz ARETR AREFT  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_E__

+ZB=1—-HLEE

Revenue from external customers REMNBE B 2 % - 328,379 - 1,166,634 1,964 1,496,977
Intersegment revenue NEERE - - - 668 - 668
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/ (B8 1,914 90,069 2,188 (554,710) 1,993 (458,546)
Interest income FEUA - 12,217 - 9,420 68 21,765
Finance costs B - (490) - (25,084) - (25,574)
Depreciation and amortisation E R - (9,026) - (114,187) - (123,213)
Share of losses of associates EEBEARZBE - (1,135) - - - (1,135)
Impairment of investmentinan R —RBEAT 2

associate REHE - (1,289) - - - (1,289)
Other material items of non-cash ~ E R EAIER

items:
- Allowance for trade receivables, —MEUERTIE 34

net (note 10) (Hi%E10) = = = (3,678) = (3,678)
— Gain on derecognition of other ~ —4& [ERE R E M E(H B
payables (note 10) 2 Uiz (HiEE10) - 9,913 - 6,997 - 16,910

Income tax expense PSS (863) 5,845 = (17,945) 316 (12,647)
Additions to segment non-current  REDHIEFREEE

assets - - - 22,962 - 22,962
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE__E

+ZA=+-H

Segment assets NHEE 377 3,930,096 - 1,749,503 41,944 5,721,920
Segment liabilities =N 6 3,730,887 3,220 1,626,086 312 5,360,511

FEEBRERAT —I - CEER 255



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4o A

I1\Y4 AN

AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

12.

256

SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)

Information about operating segment profit

or loss, assets and liabilities: (Conta)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

12. DEEFE @

BRKENENNEIE - BE
RaRZzEH @

Third party
General payment Merchant
trading services Onecomm services Others Total
B=h
—RES SRS —IE N R Htt At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_S_—F
ZB=+—Hit
Revenue from external customers REMNEZE A 2 % - 281,935 - 1,281,880 6,176 1,569,991
Intersegment revenue DEREWE - 7044 - 2,123 - 9,167
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/ (B8 2,851 21,418 (849) (1,572,789) 1,398 (1,547971)
Interest income FIEBA 65 12,971 - 11,673 7 24,716
Finance costs BB - (1,408) - (21,009) - (22,507)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH - (8,820) - (189,762) - (198,582)
Share of losses of associates i =YNGIPA 5t - (217) - - - (217)
Other material items of non-cash ~ RS EAIER
items:
— Reversal of allowance for trade ~ —FEWCER TR &[] B8
receivables, net (note 10) (Fiz£10) - - - 533 - 533
- Allowance for inventories ~GERfE (735) - - (289) - (1,024)
- written off of trade receivables  —IESFELRER TN (Fft5E10)
(note 10) - - - (643) - (643)
~ Impairment of property, plant and —#)%  BE kR HHE
equipment (note 10,19) (Fi£10+19) - - - (22,110) - (22,110)
- Impairment of right-of-use assets —fEFIEEER(E
[note 10,20) (Bft3£10~20) - - - (80,393) - (80,393)
- Impairment of goodwill -@mERE (iz10:21)
(note 10,21) - - - (1,622,083) - (1,622,083)
— Impairment of intangible assets — & EERIE
(note 10,22) (#3810~ 22) - - - (459,553) - (459,553)
Income tax expense PRSI - - - (40,874) (364) (41,238)
Additions to segment non-current  RED HBIERHEE
assets - 4,000 - 375,791 - 379,791
As at 31 December 2021 BRZZ=-f
+ZB=+—-H
Segment assets NHEE 4,372 3,963,762 7 1,681,501 8,636 5,668,278
Segment liabilities NHEE 915 3,829,641 5,414 1,529,282 296 5,365,548
Investments in associates REEARZRE - 4,953 - - - 4,953
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+-B=+—HIFE
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 12. DEPER &
Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or FEBNE EFHEIEREEZ
loss and assets: HER
2022 2021
- - S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
Revenue Yz
Total revenue of reportable segments A2 B 2 W R4EER 1,497,645 1,579,158
Elimination of intersegment revenue DB E U IR (668) (9,167)
Consolidated revenue maEWE 1,496,977 1,569,991
Profit or loss i FEHE5E
Total loss of reportable segments A E2RD I 2 B5IE4E (458,546) (1,547971)
Equity-settled share-based payments A& 145 ﬁﬁxfﬁﬁ’iﬁm =] (88,068) (53,130)
Unallocated amounts: KNOFCEEE -
Corporate income and expenses, net EEWAKRESE  FEE (38,456) (52,356)
Fair value change of financial assets BAFEF AT
at FVTPL BRRZUBEEL
N EEE (73,337) 23,758
Impairment of goodwill EERE - (1,622,083
Consolidated loss before income tax FRPFEMAIG SRR (658,407) (3,251,782)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2RI BEELEER 5,721,920 5,658,278
Unallocated amounts: KDBCEEE
Goodwill GEESS 341,326 341,326
Investments in associates RBEATZKRE - 4,953
Deferred tax assets IR IEE 68,772 68,772
Financial assets as at FVTPL BN ESAEERE
ZHHBEE 285,642 372,675
Financial assets at FVTOCI WNTFESTATE
Httemhlmikr
MIBE 70,993 71,490
Other corporate assets Hithb¥(EE 71,072 355,481
Consolidated total assets REBEEMRE 6,559,725 6,872,975
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AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

12.

258

SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)

Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or
loss and assets: (Contd)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

12.

SEER 69

DEYE BN EEREEZ
HER : ®

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Fr AER®TT
Liabilities &R

Total liabilities of reportable segments EIE=X a0zl =KL 5,360,511 5,365,548
Current tax liabilities BIEATRIEE (& 4,212 991
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIEE R 140,069 158,014
Other corporate liabilities Hitt B &a& 9,938 11,599
Consolidated total liabilities e BEREE 5,514,730 5,536,152

Geographical information: MEHF :

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are mainly generated
from the PRC. The Group also generated revenue and
non-current assets outside the PRC which are less than
1% of the Group total assets and non-current assets.

Revenue from major customers:
No customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the
Group's revenue for both years 2022 and 2021.

ARAEEZRmMIERBEET
EETETE At E25EME
BN ZBIUDMER DT - 5
B 7R R E R SN E A W m R IE R B
EE HAEEREERIFRBEE
AEI1% °

KEXTEERZWE
RIBZ_FR-ZB-—FMEF
B EZE R EAERENm10%L
J:O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 13. FRiS# GE%) Fx
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as FISMERBEmARERNT -
follows:
2022 2021

B %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFxT AR®FT

Current tax — the PRC BVHERTR 1B — AR

Provision for the year KEFEEEHE 4,950 364
Current tax — Hong Kong BNERRIE—& B

Underprovision for previous year BEFFEREERE 348 -
Deferred tax (note 44) RIEFRIE (FI5T44) (17,945) 40,874

(12,647) 41,238

PRC Enterprises Income Tax has been provided at a rate R EFRERERREBY% (T
of 25% (2021: 25%). T 125%) sHiRHEE o
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since BERAE BN FALEERERR
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2021: wA (CTEZ—F 8\ 0 WBAEIR
Nil). BERMNEMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

13.

260

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Conta)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hangzhou,
the PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (& ii%)on 30 November 2018 and
renewed on 16 December 2021 and were entitled to
enjoy an income tax concession at preferential rate of
15% effective from 1 January 2018 and from 1 January
2021 after the renewal for three years. In order to enjoy
the preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was required
to apply for renewal every three years from first year of
approval. The EIT rate was changed from 25% to 15%
since the year beginning 1 January 2018.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Beijing, the
PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (B# M%) on 21 October 2020 and were
entitled to enjoy an income tax concession at preferential
rate of 15% effective from 1 January 2020. In order to
enjoy the preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was
required to apply for renewal every three years from first
year of approval. The preferential rate was 15% since the
year beginning 1 January 2020.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

13.

FRiSH (&%) B @

H 3 @ FE R AR I > TR IE S i
FEALBRERRZBTRE
WIREEREAEE RERER
§ °

AEBERPEMNEE 2 — BB
NAR_E—N\FE+—B=+H#%
R ASHMEMEERKR - Z—
F+ZA+ABEH BZIZE—N\F
—BA—HEERRENEE T -—
F—HA—BE - =ZFANERZEEE
MEIS%ZMEMEZS - AZHEE
MEI15% ZB LB A AEEE
EE-—FHFEH B —N\F—
B—HRBZFER CXEFMERK
EH25%E%515% ©

REBRPEIERZE 2 —FEH B
REAR_F_FFFTR-+—H®K
RABEMENEE - BZZ2ZZ
F—B—HEEHRZEEEMNE
15%ZFTSIMEE AZHEEEMRX
15% > ZH B B BEIEE FIES
—FEREEH BT _EFE—H—
HEEZ FER BERER15% o
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VA—DAN
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

13.

PEAEARAR

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Conta) 13.

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/
expense and the product of loss before tax multiplied by

BE_Z__H#+-_A=+—HILEFE

FRiSH (&%) B @

PRISIR GE%) /FX BRI AIE R
FUPEEEMFRMEMAEER

the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows: ZHIERWT
2022 2021
T BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARETT
Loss before tax BRI A& 18 (658,407)  (3,251,782)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax BPEREMESRIRE
rate of 25% (2021: 25%) 25% (CE - —F:
25%) st EZ R 18 (164,602) (812,945)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AN 2 MBE T E
deductible 38,766 512,615
Tax effect of income that are not taxable BARMMAZRBEEE (22,808) (4,890)
Underprovision for previous year tﬁﬂfgﬁ}%ﬁTE 348 -
Tax effect of temporary differences not R E%#EE\Z
recognised METE 6,932 1,697
Tax effect of super deduction of qualified MR EERAZEZH
research and development expenditure 2B (32,697) (32,064)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not ﬁiibﬁﬁﬁEﬁﬁu RIBEIE
recognised MBEE 133,519 169,048
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not AR RERIRIER 1B
previously recognised 2B (14,612) (146)
Tax losses previously recognised and FLAINESE K #E[al 2
reversed RIEESE - 128,433
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MiIBABRREIRE 2 & 42,507 79,490
Income tax (credit)/expense S# &%) X (12,647) 41,238
SEC_FER 261



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

14.

262

LOSS FORTHE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

HE_Z_—

14. EEEIE

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

AEBZAFEBHBLINORG (G
A THIRIEBSIIH !

2022 2021
g EZ—-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTT AR®TT
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 22) EF EE#H (I5E22) 81,648 124,964
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs B AL &AL A EH Y
(note 31) (MI5E31) 215,699 243,288
Auditor’s remuneration 12 B4 B i B
— annual audit —FEBEZ 1,894 1,980
— other services —HMARTS 172 5,396
(Reversal)/allowance for inventories FE (&R) #E
(include in cost of sales) Gt ATHE A) (3,642) 1,024
Allowance/(reversal) for trade receivables,  FEUWRBR R, (B[T)) »
net (note 28) 8 (F15E28) 3,678 (533)
Allowance for prepayments, deposit and BNMIE SR
other receivables, net (note 30) Hfh U R IE 35 1
7PEE (F15E30) 3,065 -
Cost of inventories sold BEEEERAK 3,972 8,064
Depreciation of property, plant and ME~BERREITE
equipment (note 19) (B$5E19) 13,818 21,528
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) A EEITE (I5220) 28,639 53,372
Impairment of property, plant and M2~ R e SR R E
equipment (note 10, 19) (MF5E10~19) - 22,110
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE
(note 10, 20) (M95E10~20) - 80,393
Impairment of goodwill (note 10, 21) mEE R E (fEE1021) - 1,622,083
Impairment of intangible assets WL EERE
(note 10, 22) (M95E10~22) - 459,553
Impairment of investment in an associate P — B E A B KRERE 1,289 -
Loss on redemption of financial assets at ~ BB[EIIZ/AFEst AT
FVTPL SRZMBEEZ RS 5,384 -
Net gain on disposals of property, HEYE -BERKREZ
plant and equipment (note 10) e F 58 (F95E10) (2,968) (55)
Net gain on early termination and RERIERENHEEZ
modification of leases (note 10) Wz 358 (35E10) (29,682) (82)
Gain on disposal of a subsidary (note 50(a)) HE—MKHEAS Z W=
(H$5¥50(a)) (4,603) -
Operating lease charges KERESH - 12,713
Penalty of early termination (included in RERIEZS®
administrative expenses) Gt AITERISZ) 7,788 -
Property, plant and equipment written off  #) %« i = K 5% & 84
(note 10) (M$5E10) 19,006 -
Research and development expenditure e GtA
(included in other operating expenses and  E 48 B % Kz fa 1
equity-settled share-based payments) EERMDZARIE) 303,653 587,080
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_E_ 4+ _A=+—HIEFE
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EEEFIRE
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
Employee benefits expense (including EERHHx
Directors’ emoluments): (BEEFEN) !
Salaries, bonuses and allowances T & 4L R R 992,538 1,355,404
Termination benefits R
—Termination compensation —#2 1 92,211 -
— Share Award for termination — AR EWEZ
compensation B 10 22 B 14,423 -
Equity-settled share-based payments A B RN I
— Share Option Scheme — B ST 2 7,830 13,437
— Share Award Scheme — 10 LRt 65,815 39,693
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RREF] 5T 2R 70,154 92,941
1,243,021 1,501,475
Five highest paid individuals TEEHMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2021: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented

FRo-AEERRLRERSHFMALTE

B=%(CE—F:

—REFH

B <= S MY EE16(a)Fr 51 3 AT N © M4

in note 16(a). The emoluments of the two (2021: two) TET—F WA AT ZFHBE
individuals are set out below: T

2022 2021

T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTRT AR®TFT
Basic salaries and allowances BEARTERZER 5,579 4,579
Equity-settled share-based payments RS E R D (T RIB 1,137 18,136
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B EF 5T 2k 94 66
6,810 22,781
S CEER 263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

Five highest paid individuals (Contd)
The emoluments fell with the following band:

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

15.

EEEFRX @

marEFHMAL @
BERFMATEsEE

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
S C—ZT”—F

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7000,000
HK$7000,001 to HK$7500,000
HK$7500,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000

264

3,000,001 %75 %£3,500,000% 7T
3,500,0017#7T 54,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 75 %4,500,000# 7T
4,500,001 7 %£5,000,000# 7T
5,000,001 875 %5,500,0007% 7T
5,500,001 75 %6,000,0007% 7T
6,000,001 %75 %£6,500,000% 7T
6,500,0017#7C 57,000,000 7T
7,000,001 7T £7500,00078 7T

7500,00178 7T 58,000,000 7T
8,000,001 75 %£8,500,00074 7T
8,500,001 %875 %E9,000,000# 7T
9,000,001 %75 E9,500,000# 7T

9,500,001 %75 210,000,000 7T - -
10,000,001 7752 10,500,000 7T - -
10,500,001 #& 7T £ 11,000,0007% 7T - -
11,000,001 £ 7t £ 11,500,000/ 7T - -
11,500,001 75 212,000,000 7T - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd)

Five highest paid individuals (Contd)
The emoluments fell with the following band:

ECETH+A=-t+—HILEE

EEEFRX @

marEFHMAL @
BRFMArEsE

Number of individuals

A¥
2022 2021
—EZCHE B2 —F

HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000
HK$12,000,001 to HK$13,500,000
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17000,000
HK$17,000,001 to HK$17500,000

HK$17500,001 to HK$18,000,000
HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000
HK$19,000,001 to HK$19,500,000
HK$19,500,001 to HK$20,000,000
HK$20,000,001 to HK$20,500,000
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000
HK$21,000,001 to HK$21,500,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

12,000,0018 7t £ 12,500,000/ 75
12,500,001 752 13,000,00078 7T
12,000,00178 75 213,500,000 7T
13,500,001 75 £ 14,000,000 75
14,000,001 875 £ 14,500,0008 7T
14,500,001 752 15,000,000 7T
15,000,0018 7t £ 15,500,000/ 7T
15,500,001 75 %2 16,000,00078 7T
16,000,0018 75 216,500,000 7T
16,500,001 75 £ 17,000,00078 75
17.000,001E 75 £ 17500,00078 7T

17500,00178 752 18,000,000 7T
18,000,001 75 £ 18,500,000 75
18,500,001 752 19,000,0008 7T
19,000,0018 75 219,500,000 7T
19,500,001 75 220,000,000 7T
20,000,001 75 E20,500,0007 7T
20,500,00178 75 221,000,000 7T
21,000,001t E21,500,0007 7T

FR AEERERTAEFHES
R HMA LIS ERMAZE
EE SN R 2 SRS RE R AR (E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS

(a)

266

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out

below:

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

16. EFEF R

(a) EFME

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

WEATARGENBARNES ZAARE ZEMHEKMNE

KREZSZMEHINT

Employer's
(Notei)  contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit
Fees  allowances bonus benefits scheme Total
(Rt %) EEH
Hithigd BAERE
e TEREH BETEL fhtEE  fEHZMH st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETn ARETRT ARBTR ARETR ARETR®
Executive directors WIEE
Zhu Ning KB - 2,330 944 38,936 50 42,260
Cui Yusong EEMN - 2,140 825 516 51 3,532
YuTao e - 1,999 662 515 50 3,226
Ying Hangyan fEMngE - 1,742 634 515 50 2,941
- 8211 3,065 40,482 201 51,959
Independent non-executive  BIUFERTEE
directors
Fong ChiWah HEE 264 - - - - 264
Deng Tao s 264 - - - - 264
Li Shaojie (note (iv)) Z0E (5Ev) 208 - - - - 208
736 - - - - 736
Total for 2022 BT TFEEH 736 8211 3,065 40,482 201 52,695
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+-B=+—HIFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EH/EHIEFE @
DIRECTORS (conta)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Contd) (a) E=EiE @
The remuneration of every director is set out EEFZZNEEIIUWT
below:

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEERARHERBARNESZ ZEAARE 2N ARRNE

Employer's

(Note i) contribution

Estimated t0a

money value retirement

Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit

Fees allowances bonus benefits scheme

(GiED) EEH

Hitfgd  RIREREE

iz IEREE RRTEAL EEtHBE  FHZHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Total

a5t
RMB'000

ARETL ARETR ARMTR ABETR ARBTR ARETR

Executive directors WIEE

Guan Guisen (note (ii) &R () - 256 - - 2 258
Cao Chunmeng (note fii]) E&H () - 1,776 - - 67 1,843
Yan Xiaotian (note fii) R (ki) - 1433 - - 15 1,448
Zhu Ning 3 - 2,569 415 3,706 48 6,738
Cui Yusong EEM - 2,371 382 790 48 3,591
YuTao CIE: - 2,221 357 790 48 3,416
Ying Hangyan i = 1,953 312 790 48 3,103
- 12,579 1,466 6,076 276 20,397

Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHITEE

directors

Gu Jiawang (note fii)) AE (3i) 215 - - - - 215
Fong Chi\Wah hEE 219 = = = = 219
Deng Tao iz 219 - - - - 219
Xu'Yanging (note (i) RES (i) 215 = - - - 215
868 - - - - 868
Total for 2021 “EC 868 12,579 1,466 6,076 276 21,265
FEABARAT —T - 4R 267



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (conta)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Conta)
Notes:

(i) Estimated money values of other benefits
include equity-settled share-based payments.
Share-based payment represents amortisation
to the profit or loss of the fair value of share
options measured at the respective grant dates,
regardless the share options could be exercised
or not.

(ii) Guan Guisen resigned on 17 February 2021.

(iii) Cao Chunmeng, Yan Xiaotian, Gu Jiawang and Xu
Yanging resigned on 24 December 2021.

(iv) Li Shaojie appointed on 18 March 2022.

None of the directors waived any emoluments
during the year (2021: Nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in

transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

268

(a)

(b)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

16. EFEFRME @

EEME @
MIsE -

(i) H M EstBESER
RSB IRAD ST FRIR - IR 1D
SAHRIEERAEARRE B
HHEZBREZATE
A SRR TR
PRAERITT RS -

(ii)

(iii) EER BHEA - AREK
BESHR_Z_—F+=
BZ+mHBE&ET-

(iv) EOER _BE - _F£=H

+NABEZE-

FAMEESESHETAME

TEC—F e

ESNR 5 ZHHEH
Rz ERE
AEBHEMEERTILE
NB/AEAPETNA RERF
ESUNERZHB T ERE
NEREEEREm MR F
R FREEEEDAESR
ZERRG ZHREL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (conta)

(c) Information about loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
and connected entities
The information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of
the Company, is as follows:

Outstanding Outstanding

amount amount

Total at the at the

Nature of amount  beginning end of

Name of the borrower ion payabl of the year the year

FZEK  ERZEE

ERARH MEnE EftEmE  RERE  HERE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AERFT ARETR ARETR

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

16. EFEFRME @

() ARUAES ZIEHER
ZERAEBRAZmA
ZER - EERKREMIZ
BZER
BRARBHENEB ARG
YURRBDEFEREREZ
ETHEERARmAZE
FEEMKREMR S 2 ER
L

Maximum
outstanding
amount
during
theyear  Term Interest rate Security
FR
REHA
BERE HR Gk g
RMB'000
AEBTFR

As at 31 December 2022
RZFZZH+ZR=1-H

Quasi-loans or credit
transactions:

EERAEERS:

Related Company F Note (i) 1,208 800 1,208
HBAFF M)

Related Company G Note (ii) 79 - 79
HHAEG G

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

2,718 Repayable on demand ~ Ni No
AREREE & &

203 Repayable on demand Nil No
ARERER & &
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EFEFIRFE @

DIRECTORS (conta)

(c) Information about loans, quasi- (c) HBRAUES -ZEHER
loans and other dealings in favour of FERAEBREAZEA
directors, controlled bodies corporate ZEM - EEMREM
and connected entities (Contd) G228 @

The information about loans, quasi-loans and other ERARBIHEN BRG]
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary UUERRBEEREREZ
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain HETHESRASY@AZE
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of TEERREMKZZ2ERN
the Company, is as follows: (Contd) mr @)
Outstanding ~ Outstanding Maximum
amount amount  outstanding
Total atthe at the amount
Nature of amount beginning end of during
Name of the borrower connection payable  of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
ER
Eziek EXRZER EBRHE
BIAGTE HEE FE(T4ERIE BERE BETE BEZE HR GilES g
RMB'OOO  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETR
As at 31 December 2021
RZFZ-%+ZR=1-H
Quasi-loans or credit
transactions:
EEVHEERS
Related Company F Note (i) 800 452 800 1,129 Repayable on demand Nil No
WEATF B BREKEE i &
Notes: BIsE -
(i) 99% owned by Mr. Zhu and Mr. Zhu Ning being (i) BRTEHETIODER > &K
the common director. B AHERESE-
(i) Mr. Zhu Ning being the common director. (ii) RERERHEBES-
(d) Director’s termination benefits (d ZFEFZEIEER

270

None of the directors of the Company received
any termination benefits during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BHE_E2E_-__—_H+_8
=+ —HILEFE > "AF
EEMEWEE AL IEET]

T —F 1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (conta)

(e) Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2021: Nil).

17. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year

ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend been

proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021:

Nil).

18. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately RMB303,089,000
(2021: approximately RMB2,509,498,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in
approximately 17416,711,000 (2021: approximately
17123,444,000) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

PEAEARAR

As exercise of the Group's outstanding share
options for the years ended 31 December 2022
and as exercise of the Group's outstanding share
options and warrants for the years ended 31
December 2021 would be anti-dilutive, no diluted
loss per share was presented for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

it S 35

BE_Z__H#+-_A=+—HILEFE

16.

17.

18.

EEEM R @

(e) WMENEZESRBMEE=
kit Zﬁ{E
BHE_ZT_—_H#+ =8
—+—HLEEFEE AAFIL
EIENESRBMEEM
FE-AENAE (CEZ—
F i) o

it3<
BE_Z-__#+°"HA=+—HI
FEIERMTHBIKERRKRE > B
REHARETERKEIARE (CT
T

SkEE

(a) EREXEIE
SREXABEBEILREARF
BEEAREFEFBROAR
#303,089,00070 (Z &~ —
£ AR 12,509,498,000
o) REABBTEBRZ
T 9 84917416,711,000
B (ZZEEZ—% . &
17123,444,0008%) Mzt °

S EESIE
HROTEHEE_Z -
+ZBE=+—HILFELXE
BEHATEERERT
FHEE_ZE-_—F+°-8
=+ —BIEFEEXAEEZH
KITEBRERIREERR
EERBENE WHEEZT
T TERZIEZ_—F+ZA
—+—RILEFEETEZIE
R EE 1B o

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S-S+ "_A=1+—HILEEE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ME- -BERSE
Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE RER
MERE YN RE A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBT ARETT
Cost I
At 1 January 2021 AZE_—F—F—H 56,011 47288 1,631 104,830
Additions HE 11,746 16,682 707 29,135
Disposals HE - (653) - (653)
Exchange differences ERER - (3) - (3)
At 31 December 2021 and RSB —-E+"A=+—-Hk
1 January 2022 B "&E—-A-H 67,757 63,314 2,238 133,309
Additions HE 1,337 1,625 - 2,962
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 50(a)  HE—FRIHIBAE) (Hi5E50(a)) (1,389) (1,538) - (2,927)
Written off i34 (27939) (43) - (27982)
Disposals HE - (12,169) - (12,169)
Exchange differences [ERELE - 39 - 39
At 31 December 2022 A2 ZF+ZA=1+—H 39,766 51,228 2,238 93,232
Accumulated depreciation and RRMERAERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 A ZE—F—F—H 13,505 25,381 1,239 40,125
Charge for the year AEEMRE 9,363 11,791 37% 21,528
Impairment losses REBE 15,827 6,283 - 22,110
Disposals HE - (607) - (607)
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ_—F+ZA=+—0k
1 January 2022 “E-"&E—-A-H 38,695 42,848 1,613 83,156
Charge for the year AEEHX 5,488 8,091 239 13,818
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 50(a)  HE—RIHIBAE) (Hi550(a)) (474) (1,039) - (1,513)
Written off i34 (8,942) (34) - (8,976)
Disposals HE - (12,025) - (12,025)
Exchange differences [ERELE - 33 - 33
At 31 December 2022 A _E__F+”_A=+—H 34,767 37,874 1,852 74,493
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2022 RZEBZZF+ZA=+—H 4,999 13,354 386 18,739
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ—F+ZHA=1+—H 29,062 20,466 625 50,153
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

19.

20.

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ME- -BERSE @
(Contd)
Certain lessors of the leased office premises and MERASMREIBEZAETH
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid MAXRBAEBRRBEENEEZES
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents FABRAIE X LGB E X
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the Group. MPREBZEN RN "_FK
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amount T —F+ZA=+—H > HZ%FE
of leasehold improvements related to these premises MEBRZEEMELEERAED
was amounted to Nil and RMB 15,378,000, respectively. AR ZE R AREE15,378,0007T
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FHEEE
Leased
properties
HEmE
RMB'000
AR¥ETTT
At 1 January 2021 A E_—F—HF—H 240,853
Additions RE 53,880
Depreciation e (53,372
Early termination of leases RERIEAE (504
Impairment losses BEETE (80,393
Exchange differences PE R E%R (40
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-_ZE_—F+_-_HB=+—HK
2 F—HF—H 160,424
Additions wE 623
Depreciation = (28,639
Early termination and modification of leases & R 4R 1 HENHE (118,717
Exchange differences PE 2 = 28 51
At 31 December 2022 R TE_F+ZHA=+—H 13,742
FEARERAT —I - FFH 273
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

20.

274

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (contd)

HE_Z_—

20. ERAEEE®

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTr AR®ET
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use FREEENERS
assets 28,639 53,372
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEsENERX
(included in finance cost) Gt AR AL A) 15,707 22,642
Net gain on early termination and RERIERERNHEZ
modification of leases W R 28 29,682 82
Penalty of early termination of leases REARIEAEZ SIS
(included in administrative expenses) Gt AITERSZ) 7,788 -
Expenses relating to short-term lease B HAM B X - 12,713

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
50(c).

For both years, the Group leases various offices and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
year to 10 years. No extension options and termination
options are included in the lease contracts except for six
leases. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date that the Group will exercise the extension option
and consider will extend the lease term on one of the
leases, the related extension periods are included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

Certain lessors of the leased office premises and
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the
Group. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets related to these premises
was amounted to RMB2,985,000 and RMB57576,000,
respectively.

HEREMEEE ZFIFHINMEE
50(c) °

RMEFE AEEEESERAE
RETIEEHANEES -HEERKD
RBERIERETHRE BE228T
EHFRR B A - I E R B HA PR K2 5T
AR BOHERIRE » 7 EEBA G
2 TEF W E PI BB HIT S A 2 BA
MR o

HEESNZEERRIEEI0EE]
Mo fR/NIEIAE SN HE S AT
RS AR I P B o AN E AR
ERBATERERRITRIERE
ER UEELERAF-—HEEN
HEHR  HEBEH AHE & &S

=
EO

HMERABIRETIREZETH
FAARBOAERBRHBEENE#ESEE
SARRE IR LUGEBRE BT
MAMFAEBZEF - R_T -

S —F+-_HA=+—H 4
ZEMEERMEREEERBE
DA ARKE2, 985,000 & A R
57576,0007T °
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_Z "+ "A=-1+—HIEFE
21. GOODWILL 21. B8
Youzan Japan
Third party Kabushiki
payment Merchant Kaisha
services services (“Youzan
(“CGUA") (“CGU B") Japan”) Total

g

EEEAD] H%KARHE  Youzan Japan
k% (MR (ReEEE ("Youzan

ELEA)) B{iB]) Japan J) a5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR

Cost o
At 1 January 2021 AZE-—F—F—H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403
Exchange difference ERELR - - - -
At 31 December 2021, R —F+"A=+—H"

1 January 2022 and 22 F-A-HK

31 December 2022 “Z-"F+ZA=+—-H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403

Accumulated impairment losses BRI {EEE

At 1 January 2021 A _E"—-F—-A—H 420,962 - 1,032 421,994
Impairment loss recognised FRERDZHERSE

in the year - 1,622,083 - 1,622,083
At 31 December 2021 and RIB-_—F+-A=+—HkK

1 January 2022 _E-_F-A—H 420,962 1,622,083 1,032 2,044,077
Impairment loss recognised FRRERZHESE

in the year - - - -
At 31 December 2022 AR+ ZA=+—H 420,962 1,622,083 1,032 2,044,077
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2022 R_EZ"F+°A=1+—H 341,326 - - 341,326
At 31 December 2021 NEES—EFT H==H 341,326 = = 341,326

FEEBRERAT —I - CEER 275
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21.

276

GOODWILL (Conta)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
are expected to benefit from that business combination.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets that
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill
are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions
for the discounted cash flow method include those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
determined on industry growth rate in foreseeable period
based on management experience and on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past practices
and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by the
directors for the next five years with the residual period
using terminal growth rate of 2.08% (2021:2.22%). This
terminal growth rate does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant markets. The Group
has engaged independent external valuers to assist
management to estimate the recoverable amounts of
CGUs.

The Group has engaged independent external valuers to
assist management to estimate the recoverable amounts
of CGUs.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

21.

mE @
REBREGHKESZBEDNWE
HoREERRRZERaHIAT
BEoREESEM(IIREELES
fiL1) °

SURESHEERME  BREEN 4
- BEARFB ERAEEEREE
RenENHMETLEE EREAR
BEITSASBREELE -

REEEBMUZAIWEIZTETERE
RURRERBELIAEEREER
BE -MRREREEMRBZEE
BREEFEHRNERERER BRER
REEN X kW - AEBF AR
BRE R IZH EREE T ERER
TEEBUZEERRZERRALL
KGRI K B RXRABFEIEL
BRINPREMBNTEERR k%
REELTBULKERBREMEZ
RIPFHEEERREE -REEF
KW m B EEN RBATS
BERSERE

AEBRBEEFHENREEF
ROV BERERREERER
A MG HAEERZRIRERES
2.08% (ZEZ—HF :12.22%) o Z#&
HERRNBBAERMHHZFERE
R AEEEZRRBIINBE
BB EEBGAREEEEN
BRI Ui [l &8

AEBEZBIFILINERLER 7B
EEE G REEL BTG

AL
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21.

PEAEARAR

GOODWILL (Conta)

CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying
amount of approximately RMB341,326,000 (2021:
RMB341,326,000) had been allocated to Third Party
Payment Services CGU (CGU A). Computer software as
set out in note 22, certain property, plant and equipment
and certain right-of-use assets were allocated to this
CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rates used to
discount the forecast cash flows for CGU A within third
party payment services segment is 20.35% (2021:
20.7%). The recoverable amount calculated based
on value in use exceeded the carrying amount by
approximately RMB211 million (2021: RMB125 million)
and therefore, no impairment charge was considered
necessary. Management believes that any reasonably
foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of CGU to exceed
the recoverable amount. Management conducted a
sensitivity analysis and determined that pre-tax discount
rate changed from 20.35% to 30.82% used for the value
in use calculation would result in the headroom dropping
to zero as at 31 December 2022, assuming all other
variables remain constant.

it S 35

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

21.

BE @

IREEEENA
IREEX AR #341,326,00070 (&
——%: AR#341,326,0007T) BIFE
Z (WEMBER) ENEEFE=A
TORBREELS M REELS
fiIA) o MIZE22FT & sT E I E B
TYE MR RREURETERRE
BENEEILRGEESE -

RWEBRF BUMBE =2
RBE DB IREEEBEUATRARE
MEZBRRATLEEA20.35% (ZF
T—HF1207%) - BEHABEEFE
el EBHREENARE
211,000,0007c (T2 - —%F : AR
125,000,0007T) » FHIt > #& & H0FR
BE-BEERA  TM LAMBERER
ZRAAEEAEREHIFIFTER
REELBEUZREERH T IE
T EEECETRRED N I

ARstEFERABEZBRRAEIRE
F120.35% % B A30.82 % EHEE
TR THF+_B=+—HZEr%E

MEZ
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21.

278

GOODWILL (Conta)

CGUB

At 31 December 2021, goodwill (before any
impairment) with carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,622,083,000 had been allocated to Merchant
Services CGU (CGU B). E-commerce applications and
trademarks with indefinite useful life as set out in note
22, and certain property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets were allocated to this CGU.

As at 31 December 2021, due to the challenging market
competition in the e-commerce platform industry and the
continuing impact brought by the unexpected prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’'s merchant services
segment recorded significant loss for the year ended 31
December 2021, and the business performance did not
achieve the expected results. As a result, an impairment
losses of RMB1,622,083,000, RMB459,553,000,
RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000 were recognised
for CGU B’s goodwill, intangible assets, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The pre-tax rates used to
discount the forecast cash flows for CGU B is 19.16%.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

21.

BE ®

REELE BB

N _E_—F+_HA=+—H"'8
HEHN AR®E1,622,083,0007cH9E
Z (WEMBER) EREERRR
BREELBEN CREELENB) ©
B ERREE Gl sE22FT
HAEEBRIGEAFH  KETY
(A HERSBUREREEEDK
FIIREEEEA-

RW_ZE_—F+_A=+—H arn
BEFABTreTEm SR I EINK
BIMEEHICOVID-19Z 155 KAV
BEE AERNBARRE DN
BHE_Z”_—F+HA=+—HL
FERSERERE  EBRIFREE
REREE AL - BEZZTZ—
+ZA=+—HLEFE ERREE
SEMUBrHE -BIEE-BEX
REUREREEED BB RE
E5 1 AR %81,622,083,00070c AR
#%459,553,0007T ~ AR #22,110,000
TR AR #80,393,0007T AL BLEIR
REEXBEUBHEAREREZBFRKR
AIEEZE#19.16% ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21.

PEAEARAR

GOODWILL (Conta)

CGU B (Contd)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, CGU B recorded
operating losses amounting to RMB596 million.
Management has identified an impairment indicator
for the carrying amount of assets allocated to CGU
B, including trademarks, certain property, plant and
equipment, and certain right-of-use assets as at 31
December 2022. At end of reporting period, the pre-
tax rates used to discount the forecast cash flow for
CGU B within merchant services segment is 19.67%.
The recoverable amount, calculated based on value in
use, exceeded the carrying amount by approximately
RMB161 million, and therefore, no impairment charge
was considered necessary. Management conducted a
sensitivity analysis and determined that pre-tax discount
rate changed from 19.67% to 23.50% used for the value
in use calculation would result in the headroom dropping
to zero as at 31 December 2022, assuming all other
variables remain constant.

Youzan Japan

The carrying amount of goodwill arising from acquisition
of Youzan Japan has been fully impaired by management
in year ended 31 December 2020.

it S 35
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21.

BE @

REEELENB @

BHE_Z-__H#+°"HA=+—HI
FE CREESXBUBRELERHIE
AR #596,000,000 5 R _&E -
F+ZR=+—H EEEEHA
DETFREELEUBZEE (B1F
EEETYE -BERREUARE
FHEAREE) 2REERENR
IR &SRR - BB U RRIR @ R ARFE 79 2B
ZIRSELFBEUBEARSREZ IR
MATEE R A19.67% - B FE AR EE
B e BEBHEEENAR
#161,000,0007T * (AL > R 4ABR AL
BE-BEEBEETHRED N W
ABERMBEMEERIFTAE BH
RetBEEREBEZFRATLIEER
19.67% B FE A23.50%FERNEHE—
T _HF+_RA=+—HBZHER

LERo

Youzan Japan
BHE_T_TF+_A=+—HL
FE> BEEEEHWHEYouzan Japan
EEZEEREEEBIELRE
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22.

280

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

f— T/, =
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2. EBREEE
Computer
software
(internally E-commerce Distribution
generated) applications network Trademarks Total
AEEHRMS EF
(REEE) HHER Py EEE [l st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Cost D%
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—5—F—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 941,953 1,964,701
Additions RE - - - 465 465
At 31 December 2021 and RIEZ—H+ZA=+-HkK
1 January 2022 “E-"H—-fA—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Additions RE - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 RZE2ZZHF+ZA=+—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation and ZREHKRAESE
impairment loss
At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—5—HA—H 3,699 336,388 185,069 - 525,056
Impairment losses RESE - 130,205 - 329,348 459,553
Charge for the year FEERY 536 124,428 - - 124,964
At 31 December 2021 and RIEZ—5+ZF=1+—-Hk
1 January 2022 2T "5—-B—H 4,135 591,021 185,069 329,348 1,109,573
Charge for the year FEERY 595 81,053 - - 81,648
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZH+-A=+—H 4,730 672,074 185,069 329,348 1,191,221
Carrying amount fREfE
At 31 December 2022 WZIE2ZZHF+ZA=+—H - 160,875 - 613,070 773,945
At 31 December 2021 RZE2_—-H+-A=+—H 595 241,928 - 613,070 855,593

The average remaining amortisation period of e-commerce

applications is 2 years (2021: 3 years).

Computer software is allocated to third party payment
services segment (CGU A). E-commerce applications and
distribution network are allocated to merchant services

segment (CGU B).

BFEBREMAZ TR RS2

FE(CEZ—F 135

SAERRADEES =7 MRS
DE CREELENA) - BEFBEHE
RARDHEBEEDEERRRE DB

(REELEBMB) -
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22.

23.

PEAEARAR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Contd)

The trademarks are used in the merchant services
segment (CGU B) to enhance products’ perceived value
and corporate image. The trademarks have legal life of
ten years but is renewable every ten years at little cost
and is well established. The Group intends to renew the
trademark continuously and evidence supports its ability
to do so. The trademarks are regarded and assessed to
have indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit
to the period over which these assets are expected to
generate cash flows for the Group.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022
are as follows:

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

22.

23.

BI.EE®
BRARBRRBOM CREELE
fiiB) » LIRS EmPIRAEBEKRE
FR-BREZEFHRRTEF
BTHERENAEE BEERIRYK
WEE -AEEEFESBHRENR
BEEBEBTEARENNLITS A
RZEFEERPAAEAERBRE
EREZHRLEANTARRR  8E
RWAR D R A EAERAEA
FHRo

RBARZRE

N_E__F+_A=+—HXE
MBARZEHBENT !

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 AN
2% By d-E b BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE ik
Country Praise Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 769,231 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holdings
(“Country Praise”) ("BVI") no par value
Country Praise Enterprises Limited ~ EBREZHE 769,231 iR EE A 2 BiEA% SEER
(TCountry Praise ) (EBELEE))
Youzan Technology Inc. Cayman Islands 1,513,127,641 shares of 51.9% - Investment holdings
("Youzan Technology") USD0.00001 par value
BEREBRAR HEHE 1,513,12764 RS REE REER
(MBERR) 0.00001% 7T 2 15
Splendid Win Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
BHECEBRAT Bl 10,000%7T KEER
Modermntimes Payment Limited BVI USD102,041 - 51%  Investment holdings
("Moderntimes”)
Moderntimes Payment Limited EBEUHS 102,041% 7T LERR

("Moderntimes J)
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Conta)

BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

23. RHMBABIZRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 Ae
2% B - BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE ik
Qima Investment Limited (“QMI") Hong Kong HK$0.01 - 519% Investment holdings
Qima Investment Limited (TQMI ) A 0.0187T BEER
iR (bR RELHERAT  The PRC RMB123,330,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
Beijing Shangyin Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd. '
AiRAE 09 ?xéum@ﬁ RAB2  HE AR 123,330,0007 REER
TRXREREEHEERAT The PRC RMB101,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Tiantongsaibo Information payment services,
Technology Co., Ltd. '2 information system
maintenance and
development services
TRXAREREERKERAF? & AR #101,000,0007T REE=FZARB ER
AREERBERS
TR ERB£ERERAR The PRC RMB 150,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial payment services
Management Co., Ltd. '®
TReERBHEERERARY FE AR#150,000,0007T REE=HZARS
TREHANHERRAR The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of goods
Beijing Zhixiang Chuangfu
Commercial Co., Ltd. '
ERSHENBHEERAR? FE AR #10,000,0007T BE&m
MMEERRBRAR The PRC USD212,500,000 - 51.9%  Internet information service,
Hangzhou Youzan Technology (2021: USD195,500,045) wholesale and retail
Co., Ltd. " ("Hangzhou Youzan")
WNBEREERAR (MMNEE) FE 212,500,000% 7T EMAEERS HER
CE--#: BE
195,500,045 7T)
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BECT - FT A=+ —HIEFE

(MYouzan Japan J)

FEAEAMRAT TR

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 23. MRBARZIRE @
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 Ae
2% B - BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE ik

FNEEEERMERAR The PRC RMBS,000,000 - 51.9%  Internet information service,
Shenzhen Youzan Information wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd. '#

FNBEEERMERAR? FE AR #5,000,0007T OHBEERSE HER

TE

NEERRERARAT The PRC RMB100,000 - Nil - Restaurant management and
Hangzhou Youzan Dining Co., Ltd. ' (2021: 51.9%) retail

ANEEERERERAT e AR 10,0007 - #® EFEEBRTE

(CZ-—F:
51.9%)

REEEEERMERAT The PRC N/A - 51.9% Internet information service,
Tianjin Youzan Information wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd."?

("Tianjin Youzan")
KEBBEREMERAT FE BB EHBERRE HER
(FRzgEE)» BE

WIEEHEREERATS The PRC USD7.250,000 - 100%  Investment holdings

FIREHFREBRAFY HE 7250,000% 7T REER

FNEAZREBRARS The PRC RMB50,000,000 = 100%  Investment holdings

FYZEANEREBRABS HE AR #50,000,0007¢ REER
EERERE (R BRAT? The PRC RMB50,000,000 = 100%  Factoring and guarantee

business
ElfEEERE (R BRAGR FE AR #50,000,0007 RERERER

2, &3 Youzan Japan Japan JPY237376,250 N 66.65%  Providing operation services
Youzan Japan Kabushiki Kaisha for merchants and
("Youzan Japan”) integrated new retail

solutions for beauty
industries in Japan

#E &4 Youzan Japan SRS 237376,250H ABRRHREERS 12

BEZRATERRMEREHN
TERARR
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 23.

Notes:

(1) The English translation name is for identification purpose
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

(2) These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises
in the PRC.

(3) These companies are limited liability companies in the
PRC.

The above lists the subsidiaries of the Company which
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of
the assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

284

RHBARZRE @

5T -

(1) EXELERBE-ZERBZEA
HFBARF o

(2) ZEABA/ANPREZINEEEDR
¥O

3) ZEABRNPABRZBEREER
Elo

FRIEEBLIEREHRRE
BB AEREEENEREARED
ZHRABNE R FIE EFBA
RHEEMMBARNZHFBERERS
BERTTR.
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23.

PEAEARAR

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 23. RMBATRZIRE @
As at 31 December 2022, bank and cash balances N ZETTHFF+ZA=+—H &&E
of the Group's subsidiaries deposited with banks in E KB A B FERRN R IRIT B
the PRC denominated in HK$, RMB and USD were T ARERETHEZRITRRE
amounted to Nil, RMB727345,000 and RMB70,905,000 EER DR AE N ARM727345,000
respectively (2021: RMB599,000, RMB243,227000 and TR AR®70,905,00050 (Z &
RMB88,439,000). Conversion of the mentioned balance ——%F: AE#¥599,0007t AR
from RMB into foreign currencies and from foreign 243,227,00070 % A\ R #88,439,000
currencies into RMB is subject to the PRC’s Foreign 70) o FiAE R AR B R R IMNE
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of REIMNER AR ARIEBER(FE
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange SN IR AR ) R (A B ~ 5 BB Ko T B
Regulations. BIRFTE)
The following table shows information on the subsidiaries TREVNGEEHAEEMEBEKX
that have non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the IR D (TIEER#Em) 2 M
Group. The summarised financial information represents BABIZEK -BRMBEREIERS
amounts before intercompany eliminations. ETREIBYHEAI 2 &8
Youzan Technology and
its subsidiaries
BEERREREKBAR
2022 2021
Name %@ I E "%
Principal place of business/country of FEE M AR
incorporation EIER PRC PRC
] FRE
% of ownership interests/voting rights held M ¥REHAGRIEIZERER
by NCI at end of reporting period iR R
KREEBDLE 48.10% 48.10%
SEC_FER 285
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Conta)

HE_Z_—

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

23. RHMBABIZRE @

2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFIT
At 31 December: nw+=-B=+—8":
Non-current assets (excluding goodwill) FERBEE (FEEESE) 1,184,568 1,529,555
Current assets MENEE 937,307 611,330
Non-current liabilities EREEE (262,447) (434,853)
Current liabilities mENEE (2,079,533) (1,253,491)
Net (liabilities)/assets BB EEFE (220,105) 452,541
Accumulated NCI HETIEIE T (352,936) 5,605
Year ended 31 December: BE+-BA=+—H
IEEE:
Revenue (include intersegment revenue) W (BiED 3PN = 1,167,302 1,284,003
Loss E518 (723,591) (1,620,120)
Total comprehensive income 2HEUWALREE (757,660) (1,625,865)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEIFERER 2 1B (342,671) (783,106)
Net cash used in operating activities KERBPTAREEER (615,025) (686,948)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEFE, (FTA)
investing activities IREFEE 28,898 (291,221)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RMEEBFRE, FFA)
financing activities H& 358 969,141 (28,241)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and B RIBESEEY
cash equivalents 1, Ceib) $%58 383,014 (1,006,410)
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 23.

As at 31 December 2022, bank and cash balances
of Youzan Group deposited with banks in the PRC
denominated in RMB and USD were amounted to
RMB605,209,000 and RMB70,903,000 respectively

(2021:

RMB200,987000 and RMB88,439,000).

Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RBATRZIE @

N _EF+ZRB=+—H"F
BEETHNRHAREZBITUARE
RETHEZRITKRRESEGHGD
B A AR #605,209,0007T & AR
70,903,0007T (ZE - —%F : AR
200,987,0007T Kz A R 188,439,000
70) ° PiiiEERRAA AR R A IMNE
KEIMER IR AR EEER(FE
SN B IR AR ) e (A B ~ 5 BB Ko ST B
BIERED

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24. MPEEATZEE

2022 2021

—E-= —m——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BFT

Unlisted investments in the PRC: R IELEMKE :

Share of net assets B EZFE 218 1,644
Goodwill GRS 31,112 33,350
31,330 34,994
Impairment losses, cumulative RETBERIE (31,330) (30,041)
- 4,953
S CEER 287
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd)

BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

24. B
ATECCHE4+ A=+ -PAE

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2022

were as follows:

Place of incorporation/

REIZKE @)

EEE AT ZEFBNT ¢

Percentage of
equity interest

registration and Registered attributable
Name operation capital to the Grou Principal activities
HEEREY
%18 BRI AMER REBAL FEEH
Shanghai Yu Chang Financial Information  The PRC RMB5,000,000 49%  Micro business lending
Services Co., Ltd.* a2 AE#5,000,0007¢ HMEBEER
LEREERERRBERAT
Beijing Wallet Science and The PRC RMB10,000,000 20%  Provision of consultancy
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note (a)) HE AR 110,000,0007% services for internet
RFEENEARAD () operation
%\Efﬁ_ﬁ_ﬂﬁiiﬂﬁ E DD g
R
Guangzhou Kuaizi Information Technology The PRC RMB3,299,112 4.86%  Information technology
Co., Ltd. (“GZ Kuaizi")* (note (a)) a2 ANER13,29911270 development
BENRFEERRABRAR 15 BB iR &

(BMERF)) ()

Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing The PRC RMB1,164,023
Co., Ltd. ("NJ Houjian")* (note (a)) & AE1,164,0237T

EREREHRERAR (ARER)

(Mizk(a))

Henan Youjian E-Commerce Co., Limited The PRC RMB12,515,000
(“Henan Youjian")* FE AE#12,515,0007T

TEEREFEBERAS (TIEEE)

Guangdong Huigong Supply Chain The PRC RMB7142,900
Management Co., Ltd.* (“Huigong”) ~ #1EI AR#7142,9007¢
ERSEEEREBARAT (2E)

Changchan Weizhan NetvvorkTechnoIogy The PRC RMB833,330
Co., Ltd. ("Weizhan") ] AR 1833,3307T

&) ﬂlh?siﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ/&?( )

* The English translation name is for identification purpose

only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

5%  Information technology
development and
consultancy services

EERMEEREH
g

36.25%  Online trading
BERS
Nil - Online and offline retail
(2021:30%) BLERETEE
frs

(CE-—F:30%)

Nil - Information technology
(2021:39.9976%) development and
i consultancy services
C2Z—F. EERMHEERAS
39.9976% ) k%

BYELEHSE-ZBRZES
LB/ RPX
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ZT_F+_A=+—HILEFE

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd) 24,

Note:

(a) The carrying amount of those associates were fully
impaired in previous years because the directors of the
Company expected that no profit would be generated in
foreseeable future.

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting
power of GZ Kuaizi and NJ Houjian, the Group exercises
significant influence over these entities because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the five
directors of these entities.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's
share of the amounts of all individual immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity

REERRZRE @
B E -

(a) RBTEFE ZFHEQTNZIRE
EEZHRE RARTRTES
FAHARN B R R A G EEF R o

FEAEEBEAENRFRERE
BARE20% 2 KRB HAREE A X
FERBEEATEN RABEE
EEREZEEZSTERLRESFTTN
H—%&E%H-

TRESFETAERRGUEDE
ARZFIBENAERBEATZ
EAE

method.
2022 2021
- —=—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT
At 31 December: ®W+-—B=+—8":
Carrying amounts of interests e 2 BREE - 4,953
Year ended 31 December: 8=+-H=+—H
ILEFE
Loss for the year, net FRER FEE (1,135) (217)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEmWA - -
Total comprehensive income 2HEUALREE (1,135) (217)
FEAEARAT — T _&4H 289
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HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (contd) 24, MEVEQBTIZERE @
The Group has not recognised loss for the year 7 65 [ 1 SR FE BD B R B LA Sh
amounting to approximately RMB2,131,000 (2021: BEABZEFABBEBOARE
RMB842,000) for associates other than Weizhan and 2,131,000t (ZEZ—F : AR¥
Huigong. The accumulated losses not recognised were 842,0007T) ° B K B AN B Bt
approximately RMB6,389,000 (2021: RMB4,258,000) for ENBZAEREFTBEOAAAR
all associates other than Weizhan and Huigong. #6,389,0007T (ZZEZ—F : AR
4,258,0007T) °
As at 31 December 2022, the bank and cash balances of N2 ZF+ZA=1+—H &&
the Group's associates in the PRC denominated in RMB BREBEES AT UARESTEZRE
amounted to RMB36,208,000 (2021: RMB61,300,000). TRIRE4EFEANRYES6,208,000
Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into T (T2 —F  AK%61,300,000
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into 70) ° PiiERRAA AR R A IMNE
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control FAIMNE AR NREBEEBE(PE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and SNEEEIRIEM)) R (458 ~ EE R TE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. BIRFTE)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25. HAFESAATHEDBIEZEH
BEE
2022 2021
g EZ—--—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Included in non-current assets: SFAERBERE :
Investments in unlisted equity securities KERHZIE EMRA
in PRC 5 4,751 8,935
Investments in unlisted preferred shares in  HEHRE > IF FHELR
the PRC 280,891 363,740
285,642 372,675

The preferred shares have redemption preference and
liquidation preference over ordinary equity shares and are
classified as debt investments. Accordingly, the carrying
amounts of the investments in preferred shares are
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
in accordance with HKFRS 9.

BEREEEEaRMNABRIEL
EREREELE TOEREBR
BoRAIb RIEEBMBHRSERSE
ot BB AR ZIREERFIEA
FESHAERmREE-
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26.
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Contd)

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in the

25.

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

BATEFATERERZM
HFEE®
BATEHAEBREHEEE

following currencies: T O EHESHE -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARSTn ARETT

usb E7T 15,007 22,734

RMB AR 270,635 349,941

285,642 372,675

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 26. ‘AT E %'1:7\& Hihzmk
mIRZ B EE

2022 2021

oo —ZEFT—

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®ETT

Unlisted equity securities JE MR AR 70,993 71,490

Equity securities which are not held for trading and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition
to recognise in this category. These are strategic
investments and the Group considers this classification to
be more relevant.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value of

these unlisted equity securities were valued by applicable
market multiples approach.

it S 35

WK FEERETEBE R
o By A B 1R 388 42 < L 4B R FE SR
ZRAES - R FRAFSFTHREE
RE AEERSIL D ER AR -

AT/ —

BT TERTIET—F+TRH
=+—H &ZFFLHREEBZFZA
FEDRBBZHBEBEETHE
Ee
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AATS AR MIEE

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (conta) 26. BATFE %t)\EEﬂﬂéELISI
mIRZITBEE @
Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in the BATFEATHEMEEREEZ
following currencies: HMBEELUATIEESHE
2022 2021
—E-C e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
UsD E7T 6,153 1,740
RMB AR 64,840 69,750
70,993 71,490
INVENTORIES 27. 8
2022 2021
B T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®TFIT
Finished goods E e 1,246 921

As at 31 December 2022, an allowance was made for
estimated irrecoverable inventories for approximately
RMB3,407.000 (2021: RMB7049,000).

KRB _F#+_B=+—H
AAAWEZ EEFHEBEBENAR
#3,40700070c (ZE-_—%F : AR
7049,0007T) ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE_Z__H#+-_A=+—HILEFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. [EURERTR
2022 2021
eI T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETIT
Trade receivables FE W BR X 21,548 15,067
Allowance for doubtful debts RARESE (8,428) (10,775)
13,120 4,292
For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, BEZEIERZZEI—F+Z
the Group usually does not grant any credit term to B=1+—HLFE BREHKBERI>
customers unless some special cases. For those special K%IL%TA?A%%}E&HTDE\
case, the Group will granted a credit period less than 120 ﬁ’téﬁ—fr%ﬁ%\ﬁ/ﬂﬁ'ﬁ = AEEF
days. DI120K N EEHR -
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the FEUNERRR (BB ZEHIPFE > W EN
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: PREEE) 2 BRER DT
2022 2021
T B
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR¥TT
0 to 120 days 0&E120H 13,120 4,292
As at 31 December 2022, an allowance was made N ZETF+ZR=+—8" M
for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of %JrT_JHﬁZ@ZFEH&ﬁE%T\T’E&%ﬁﬁi’J
approximately RMB8,428,000 (2021: RMB10,775,000). AE#8,428,000c (ZEZ—F : A
R #10,775,0007T) °
FEABARAT —T - 4R 293
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eI ERRMIEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z- F#+"B=+—HIEFE
28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Conta) 28. FEURERTEX @@
Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: FEWBR FR 5 2 $HER
2022 2021
B E2”—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
At 1 January n—A—H 10,775 17992
Allowance for the year FRERE 11,425 4,126
Reversal of allowance for the year F R EED (7,747) (4,659)
Written off of allowance for the prior years 871+ 4 5 8 & i 85 (6,025) -
Written off of allowance for the current year Z~4EFE B & s - (6,684)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 8,428 10,775
29. FACTORING LOAN RECEIVABLES 29. FEWRRIEER
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Factoring loan receivables FEWRIBE R 31,468 -
As at 31 December 2022, ECL of the above loan has RIZEZZHF+ZA=+—H =&
been assessed by the Group and considered minimal. The EBETG L ERZTBHIRESS
loans are denominated in RMB. and fully settled on 29 BB AEM ZEFERUARE
January 2023. E TER_E_=F—H_t+h
BHE#EB-
294
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

30. FEIRRIE - s R H R
Bi=]

RECEIVABLES H
2022 2021
T T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Prepayments in relation to BE SR ERE
advertising services ZFERIA 7,960 24,302
Other prepayments HFaIB 28,419 100,806
Deposits B 12,430 16,268
Other loans receivables (note) HiEWwER (s - 5,000
Other receivables restricted for settling ERREBEEEE
settlement obligations Z HEWERIE 177,096 205,413
Other receivables HAhEWzIE 57,742 52,770
283,647 404,559
Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE 361 7137
Current asset MENEE 283,286 397422
283,647 404,559
FEABARAT —T - 4R 295
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HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 30. FAIRRIE TR EMEURRR
RECEIVABLES (conta) =NE)
Notes: On 8 January 2021 and 7 June 2021, loans totaling iz . RZBEZ—F—BN\BARZZE=—
RMB5,000,000 were grant to a relative of employee. FRBtH A—%EIZHEBR
The loans were unsecured, interest bearing at 3.7% per HEH ARME5,000,000T2 B ©
annum and repayable on or before 30 June 2022. The ZEERABIKT REFZEI7%
loans and interests were fully repaid on 24 February FERERZIEZZHEANA=T
2022.The loans are denominated in RMB. HaizriEE ZEERRFEE
RIZIZ2EZZHFZAZ+HBEHE
BoFfAERHIUARESE
As at 31 December 2022, an allowance was made for RIEZZF+ZA=+—H" %
estimated irrecoverable prepayment, deposits and other HEt A KEIZFENRIE - ZE K
receivables of approximately RMB11,604,000 (2021: HMEKRREBEEFEEREOAREK
RMB8,539,000). 11,604,00070 (ZE2Z—F | AR
8,539,0007T) °
Reconciliation of allowance for prepayments, deposits FETFRIE ~ 25 K H A FEWGGRIB 1
and other receivables: ZHIR
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTr AR®ETT
At 1 January n—A—H 8,539 8,539
Allowance for the year FRERE 3,065 —
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 11,604 8,539
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  30.

31.

RECEIVABLES (Conta)

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are denominated in the

following currencies:

e

F+A=+—HLEFE

FAfTRRIA ~ 2 R H UL RR
18 @)

AEBBANRIA & KR E MBI
BZREEDUTIEREE !

2022 2021
T T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
RMB AEH& 279,263 400,978
HKS AT 288 1,852
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE (THE.) 3,687 1,61
Canadian dollar (“CAD") mEXx (MIEKXRTTY) 181 212
Usb =T 228 6
283,647 404,559
CAPITALISED CONTRACT COSTS 31. BEXLELMA
2022 2021
T ET—HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®T
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts BRSNS A
capitalised — Subscription solutions BERME—-FTRMBARAZE 156,399 186,208
Fulfilment costs of customisation services 7 il R #5 /8 49 5 2~ 3,627 12,318
Fulfilment costs of third party B TR
payment services AR A 9,077 8,024
169,103 206,550
Analysed as: AN i =
Non-current assets FERBEE 34,503 33,550
Current assets MENEE 134,600 173,000
169,103 206,550
Amortisation recognised as selling RS BRI e 0 4 B
expenses related to subscription 5] RIfE R 28R
solutions during the reporting period ZIHERS 2 #iH 215,699 243,288
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ S F+_B=1+—HIFE
32. LOANSTO EMPLOYEES 32. MEEEHZER
Accrued Accrued
Principal interest Principal interest
balance at as at balance at as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Party Terms of loan Note 2022 2022 2021 2021
RIBZZE RZBZZ RIZZ-F RIZZ-F
+ZA=+-B +IZR=+-A +IZA=+-H +ZA=f-H
Ll Yol BREm i3 2R ZEHFIS ZREHEER bdi vl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AEBFT ANEBFT ANEBTT
Non-current
]3]
Employee A Unsecured, repayable on 24 December (i) - - 2,650 -
2026, bearing interest of 0% per
annum in first 5 years and 2.5% per
annum in the remaining years.
E8A ®ER AR _T-AE+-R-+IA
B8 RISEZ FRZEA0% K
BTEEZFNEA25%
Employee B Unsecured, repayable on 10 June 2025, (ii) - - 500 -
and interest free
EEB S AR REABTHER
REE
- - 3,150 -
Notes: s -
(i) The employee is the senior management of the Group, (i) ZEEAAEEZSREERE  Z

and the amount was fully received on 20 October 2022.

(ii) The amount was fully received on 19 October 2022.

ECL of the above loans have been assessed by the Group
and considered minimal. All loans were denominated in
RMB and non-trade in nature.
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REER_E-__F+B=-+8%&
FURER o

(ii) ZREER _ZE_F+A+1H
PR BURET

AEECHE LRERZEBRAER
R Wl AEM -PIAEEMIIUA
REFHERRIFEZME-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_S-—FE+-A=t+—HIEE
33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON- 33. FEWMIEB AT IEERRER KR
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS R A B FRIE
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
COMPANIES
(a) Amounts due from non-controlling (a) FEUKPEATRIFEIERAG R
shareholders of subsidiaries are as FIEWMTF -
follows:
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2022 1 January 2022 during the year
RZEZZHE
+ZB RIT-_=F
=+—H —H—H FRRE
Name e ZEEER R KEEEH
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFRT ARBTT ARBTT

Mr. JOONG Chi-Wei g E A 260 260 260
Non-controlling JEIERG PG ES A
shareholder A - 1,012 1,012
260 1,272 1,272
The amounts were unsecured, interest free and ZEREABRFE -RERE
repayable on demand. FEERIEIR
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no allowance RIE_—FR-E-—F
was made for estimated irrecoverable amount due +-B=+—H ' HEMREK
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. [N MNEIE 2 A s
The amounts due are non-trade in nature. A A] [Bl W FRIE 7E B 13545 o B 2R

MIERIFEZEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

33.

OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED

COMPANIES (contd)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

FE U B B 2 B FFFERR AR BR B2
kNI R ERE)

(b) Amounts due from related companies (b) MEUWEAEASIFRIEWNT !
are as follows:
Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2022 1 January 2022 during the year
RZEZZHE
+ZB RZT-—F
=+-8 il FRRE
Party A Z4EER KRR REEEHE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF AREFTT AREFTT
Related company F RAB A BIF (BIEED)
(note i) 1,208 800 2,718
Related company G REER A TIG (BT sEii)
(note ii) 79 - 203
1,287 800 2,921
Notes: B 5T

(i) The amount was unsecured, interest free,
repayable on demand and trade in nature.

(i) The amount was unsecured, interest free,
repayable on demand and non-trade in nanutre

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no allowance
was made for estimated irrecoverable amounts
due from related companies. The amounts were

denominated in RMB.
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(i) ZRESEER RE
AEEZREEREZ -

(i) ZIEAEREE 2B
BAREEREERIEEZES
ME o

==t —E-—F

+-B=+—H > BEREK

RE B A B) 2 & 5t F [l U =X

BEEHEE ARAREUAR

S E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

34. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

e

34. ZIRHIRITLEER

F+A=+—HLEFE

2022 2021
g —ZFT”—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®ET
For settlement of amounts payable to BREBEEM EERIE"
employees* 847 844
Frozen by a PRC District People’s EhE—HME ARSRN
Procuratorate to facilitate legal RIEAREAREE
investigation not related to the Group W2 AERE 2,520 -
Pledged as security of banking facilities EIREIRITIR(E
iR R 1,109 1,107
Frozen by a PRC bank for business H—ENBASEE LR
registration update of a subsidiary* BRE—XPEHZ
IRTTRAE* 3,637 -
8,113 1,951

All restricted bank balances were denominated in RMB.

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into foreign
currencies and from foreign currencies to RMB is subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

PEAEARAR

The amounts are cash and cash equivalent.

it S 35

e

P B 2 RHIRTT

ZERERRERIREEFEY

BRI UAR B S

FHEFBARBERRAINE KA
SINERBMBARBREBE(PEINE
EERFA) R (EE - EERMEEE
MRED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A
777 N

AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

35.

36.

302

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

The Group places mandatory reserve funds with the
People’'s Bank of China (the “PBOC") and the amount is
determined by the PBOC from time to time. The amount
is interest bearing (note 9).

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

Bank and cash balances of the Group deposited with
banks in the PRC and denominated in the following
currencies:

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

35.

36.

FIR P RERITRRIE
AEEREERBEERETEA
RIRFT (TREIARIRITY) » ZAUER
PEIARRITREEEE - ZAER 5t
£ (f5E0) o

IRITRIREASER
A B 7 O B 2 SR AT 3 L T 5
EUSEE BT RIR SR

2022 2021
g T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETET

HK$ BT
RMB AR
usD ETT

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

10,688 615
727,345 243,227
127,464 374,967
865,497 618,809

FEFBHARBRARINE RSB
SNE RIS AR ABE(PEIINE
EIRIRA) Fe (HEEE ~ EE R AT EEE IR
MRRED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

37. TRADE PAYABLES 37 FE{IER®X
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date FENERMR ERIERERTE) 2
of receipt of goods, is as follows: IRECDITUT -
2022 2021
B —E=——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 545 397
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H 282 -
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H - -
Over 365 days 365H M E 1,814 2,365
2,641 2,762
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are N B THERZE—F+ZAH
denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. =t+—H AEERMERRZEARE
MAR¥E-
38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 38. FARRERAKRHEMAETIE
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARET
Deposits received BiEE 130,628 140,803
Receipt in advance Bl HIE— B
— advertising services related (note (i) BEERP (MI5E6)) 3,316 3,700
Receipt in advance — others (note (ii)) FEWGERIE — H A (B EE() 9,455 8,181
Accrued salaries st LE 143,383 194,559
Accrued expenses FESTRE S 55,455 79,379
Amounts payable to employees e EEIE 1,200 1,474
Consideration payable for acquisition of MBI AT EETA
financial assets at FVTPL (note (iii)) ERmIRCHEEE
Z FEAHAE (i EE(i) - 10,195
Other payables HAUEN=IE 77,350 120,540
420,787 558,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLEE

38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont) 38. FRiRERKRHEMEIRRIE @

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accruals and other rEBEEREERMEMENMRIBEZ
payables are denominated in the following currencies: REEDUTIEEEHE !
2022 2021
oo —ZFT—

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

RMB AR 409,194 527875

HK$ BT 9,346 10,978

JPY H 190 499

usD ETT 2,057 19,396

CAD MEKXTT - 83

420,787 558,831

Notes: ST

(i) The amount represented advertising credits received in (i) ZAIBIE TR AN AT IR AE U 2 [
advance from social media. i ball

(i) The amount represented transaction fee, top-up amount (ii) ZREERZE EERETERK
for advertisements and promotion fee received in TEEE R Z HEE -

advance from merchants.

(iif) The amount was fully paid on 23 February 2022. (iii) RHEER - _F_A_+=
BAE#ETo

39. AMOUNTS DUETO NON-CONTROLLING 39. ME{IHiE AR IEERK RN

SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES BI=]

The amounts were unsecured, interest free and ZEDIEAEEE R ERARER
repayable on demand. The amounts due were EE HAFIEUARRBTELAE
denominated in RMB and trade in nature. B
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
40. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 40. BH981&
2022 2021
g T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®ET
Billings in advance of performance obligation 478 £~ 12 B UK
— Subscription solutions i) A 669,487 738,938

Contract liabilities mainly arise from non-refundable
advance payments in relation to subscription solutions
made by subscribed merchants while the underlying
services are yet to be provided.

BHEEETERETABRIEMHA
SIBMER S MM Z AR RETAN
X AR B AR M R R i o

Movements in contract liabilities: EHNEEZEE)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFIT
Balance at 1 January H—HB—HZ &8 738,938 667,607
Increase in contract liabilities as a result SHEERREMHETE
of billing in advance of provision of FRIR S ZIRA]
Subscription Solutions YRR IB A0 820,772 1,045,144
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of S4B BERESIER
recognising revenue during the year W R (890,223) (973,813)
Balance at 31 December R+ _-BA=+—H2Z4%&% 669,487 738,938

The amount of billings in advance of performance
received that is expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year is RMB49,351,000 (2021:
RMB55,446,000).

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

BN —FEBEIBABRAZE W
BHITRA R A AR 49,351,000
7T (ZEZ—% : AR¥55,446,000

7o) °©
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AR E TR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_E-_H#+-_HA=+—HIFE
41. BORROWINGS 41. B
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Bank loan — principal (a) IRITER—A%()

Bank loan — interest payable (a) IRITER—EF] 2(a)

Loan from a non-controlling interest RE—HLIFERERBER
shareholder (b) ZEH (b)

Note: BT -

(a) The bank loans will be matured on 19 June 2023 and (a)

denominated in RMB. In additions, the loan is secured
by a related company HINEEIEREZ B RAE] which is
99% owned by the Company director Mr. Zhu and 1%
owned by the Company director Mr. Cui. Mr. Zhu is also
the common director of the Company and #i M EEREF}
FARAB. On 30 November 2022, both Mr. Zhu and
Mr. Cui disposed of their shareholding in AT NSRRI
AR/~ F] to another 2 third parties and Mr. Zhu resigned
directorship in FTINEEREFRI B RAB) on the same day.
The total secured amount is RMB500 million.

The loan is charged at 3.9% interest rate per annum.

(b) The loan is unsecured, interest-free and maturated on 31
December 2022. The loan is denominated in CAD.

Up to this report issuance date, around RMB253,000
were settled by the Group.
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(b)

480,000 -
565 -

421 -

480,986 -

BTERER _ S _=ZE,Ath
BEHEUARESHE LLH B
TH—REREE A MMESREE
[RABEIRIF  ZABIHARBE
EREEHERONEHRBAAT
BEEREHERI%EL  RILLEN
BN B BAINERE R B R AR
Z2HEEF - RN _E-__F+—AH
=tH REEREREABING
B AHERERMINEEBRES
RAB 2 B B H R EFHTM
MR ERAB ZESHE-
ER4EZEAS AR 1#500,000,0007T ©

BRI RIS 9% B -
ERAMER RERR T
F+ =B =+—BEM BRI
AT E

BEEARETIEON 2&BEE
B NR¥253,0007T ©
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ZT_F+_A=+—HILEFE

42. LEASE LIABILITIES 42 iHEaR

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHEL™® RIEEECRZRAE
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZEIZF T4 ZBIZHE T”—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTFRT ARETT ARETRT ARETT
Within one year —FR 29,176 68,951 20,506 48,284
In the second to fifth years, F_EEFLF
inclusive (BEEEWE) 77,197 198,595 59,331 150,076
After five years EEDE 14,350 79,848 14,082 75,292
120,723 347394 93,919 273,652
Less: Future finance charges RIS W (26,804) (73,742) N/AREHR NATEH
Present value of lease obligations THE&ERE 93,919 273,652 93,919 273,652
Less: Amount due for settlement & - 7131218 8 A EIHA
within 12 months (shown %%ZJ‘%’KIE
under current liabilities) RiEN=EE
IBT5IT) (20,506) (48,284)
Amount due for settlement R12EA %5
after 12 months EHEZ I8 73,413 225,368
The carrying amounts of the Group's for lease AEBHEZREAELUTIEE
denominated in the following currencies: ERER
2022 2021
oo —FT—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
RMB AR 93,327 272,991
HK$ BT 592 661
93,919 273,652
FEABARAT —T - 4R 307
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in e TR M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE-S-—&t+-F=+-ALEE
43. SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS 43. HEHEE

44.

308

Settlement obligations represent payables to merchants
for the third party payment services that the Group
collects from the payment service providers of
consumers. The amounts are due for settlement on
demand and is denominated in RMB.

EEEEEAEEME = X MIR
008 B & B AT AR B 12 11 7 U Y
N ERRIE - ZF BRI ENK
HEE WU ARKEHE

DEFERRED TAX 44. RIEFRIE
Capitalised
Intangible contract
Tax losses assets costs Total
) Za 1L
KIERE EBREEE AORT =}
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETT AREBTT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 KT —F
—HB—H 195,705 (215,794) (28,279) (48,368)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for 5t A/ (&) R
the year (note 13) B (fFEE13) (126,933) 87559 (1,500) (40,874)
At 31 December 2021 R _—F
and 1 January 2022 +-BA=+—HX
_ECF
—H—H 68,772 (128,23b) (29,779) (89,242)
Credit to profit or loss for the year st AFEREH
(note 13) (fE13) - 12,170 5,775 17,945
At 31 December 2022 RS =
+-B=+—H 68,772 (116,065) (24,004) (71,297)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA—DAN
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

a4.

DEFERRED TAX (Contd)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for consolidated statement of financial position purpose:

W E_E__HF+_A=+—HIEE

44. RERIE @)

L,("Fj% iR MBI R RMEL Z
PEIEFRIBAEER DA -

2022 2021

B %

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFxT AR®FT

Deferred tax assets RIERIBEE E 68,772 68,772
Deferred tax liabilities IR IEE R (140,069) (1568,014)
(71,297) (89,242)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of RMB2,995,287000 (2021:
RMB2,784,571,000) available for offset against future
profits.

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets of
RMB68,772,000 (2021: RMB68,772,000) were
recognised in respect of unused tax losses of
RMB458,480,000 (2021: RMB458,480,000) arising from
a major subsidiary. The directors have exercised their
judgement to assess that there will be sufficient future
taxable profits available to offset against unused tax
losses. These tax losses will expire from 2024 to 2027
(2021: from 2025 to 2027).

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB2,536,807,000 (2021:
RMB2,326,091,000) of the Group due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
will expire from 2023 to 2032 (2021: from 2022 to 2031).

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

RWERFR > AEBETTARIEHER
Mz ABARBEEAARE
2,995,2870007c (ZE——%F: AR
#2,784,571,0007T) °

RIE_—F+ZHB=+—H B%
—HBEENBABEEZ RXBBRE
E518 A B #5458,480,0007T (Z & ——
F 1 AR 15458,480,0007T) FEsBIRIE
MIEEE AR68,772,0005T (Z&
——&F: ANE68,772,0007T) ° E=
EEH BT R A B B FEER
MiaF A AR IEE R B AR IERE
%= mﬁﬁﬁﬁhig_mﬁﬁ:;
“TtHECEI—F TR THER
TTHF) B

F A R AR i A 2R =2 1 Bl FE R 48R
HE A E B iR~ AR K2,5636,807000

T (CF I 1 AR#2,326,091,000
7T) FESD JTEL%HIE,%% ZEMIARR

BN E_=ZFF " BE=-"F (%
:—E._v:: EIE=—F)F|
Hfo
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

45.

310

E_EB__F#+_HB=1+—HLtEE

SHARE CAPITAL 45. PgA
2022 2021
it S = F
Number of Number of
shares Amount Amount shares Amount Amount
RHEE &8 &5 B8 E TH T
Note ‘000 HK$'000 RMB'000 '000 HK$'000 RMB'000
BisE T TErT ARETR Tk FET ARETR
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of ~ SIREE0.01ETT
HK$0.01 each ZERER 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 200,000
Ordinary, issued and 3@ B&{7
fully paid: KRR
At 1 January n—B—H 17,260,003 172,600 145,036 17253,403 172,534 144,981
Share issued under  TRIBECE
placing TR (a) 810,792 8,108 6,611 - - -
Exercise of share TRERE
options - - - 6,600 66 b5
Allotment of Awarded RIS sE A B2
Shares to Trustee SRR 350,846 3,508 2,837 - - -
At 31 December B“+ZB=+—H 18,421,641 184,216 154,484  17260,003 172,600 145,036

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem
existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

AEREABEEZBREHEELE
B2 FFEKERES WEBEBIERH
BT EMARREREERR -

AERZRRLEAREEREER A
EERBEERFEZEERBME
EZ R E BEEARZEm MU
B RERNBBRERRE A&
E AR IRE S EITHAR [
in~ SEMER BRIIRA RN
HEB ELUREER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+-B=+—HIFE
45. SHARE CAPITAL (conta) 45. K7 @)
Note: B E -

(a) On 11 January 2022, the Company entered into
placing agreement with a placing agent in respect of
810,792,000 new shares of the Company to be allotted
and issued at HK$0.385 per share. The placing was
completed on 18 January 2022 and the net proceeds
from the placing was approximately HK$309,009,000
(approximately RMB251,944,000).

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital.

Net debt, includes interest-bearing bank loans, other
borrowings, accruals and other payables, less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of the Group's equity excluding non-
controlling interests. The Group's policy is to maintain
a low debt-to-adjusted capital ratio and this policy is
unchanged. This policy will be reviewed on an annual

(a) BRI —_F—A+—H0>&AF
B2 ENREILEHR0.385H
ToHE AL 8 K 8517810,792,000/2 4%
NEVHRDET LB EMZE -BED
RZE-_—F—F+/\B5%EM &
E R R IEF 2E497309,009,000
BT (B AR %251,944,0007T) °

FEERBEHHEHEEALXR
EEEBE R - Z LR BEFHIRUE
ABEARSE

B%2REES BRITER  HihE
Mo TRIRERKEMENRIERIREE
RBEHFEY) EHBERBELRE
EtEm (FEEFERER) ZPTA
B o AEEZ BURAERRERH
MABERLER ZBERFRF A E -
ZHRBESFETER-

basis.
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®T
Accruals and other payables TEiR E A M EMENRIE 420,787 558,831
Borrowings ElA 480,986 -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEY (889,944) (711,527)
Net debt/(excess cash and cash equivalents) [&E75:3%8,  (BEERS
RIREZHEY) 11,829 (152,696)
Total equity excluding non-controlling RmAEEE (R EIE
interests JFER T 1,413,178 1,346,466
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BERHRAEEARLLE 0.84% N/A R~EH
FEAEARAT — T _&4H 3N
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

45. SHARE CAPITAL (conta) 45. A& @
The externally imposed capital requirements for the AEBABEFENB AT L mih
Group is to have a public float of at least 25% of the i > HAMNEBHE N 2 B A E R R B IREE
Company's shares in order to maintain its listing on the EVBY% R ABIRND R ARTERE
Stock Exchange. Based on information that is publicly BRERAABMELAHENKMES
available to the Company and within the knowledge of FRAl RBFTFARABIBEITRALR
the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued RERR/25% ©
share capital was held by the public.
46. OTHER RESERVES 46. EHth{#E
Financial ~ Subsidiary’s
assets at treasury
Capital Statutory Exchange FVTOCI share
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
404
A
At 2@
k#lkz HWEARZ
EXfiE EERE ERME MBEEHE ERROEE Lh
RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMB000  RMBOOO
ANEETR  ARETR ARETR ARBTr AREfr ARET:®
At 1 January 2021 RIE--£-F-f (620,234) 8,060 15,710) (57812) ) (685,703
Total comprehensive income for the year ENZENALE - - (13,746) (45,015) - (58,761)
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E-FhE-HRBAT
without change of control (EEHIREE) (1,331) - - - - (1,331)
Changes in equity for the year ERERED (1,331) - (13,746) (45,015) - (60,092)
At31 December 2021 WZE--£+-F=+-R (621,565) 8,060 (29456)  [102,827) 7 (579
At 1 January 2022 KB "5-F-R (621,565) 8,060 (29.456)  (102,827) (0 (14579)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZERNERE - - 30,518 (729) - 29,789
Changes in equity for the year ERERED - - 30,518 (729) - 29,789
At31 December 2022 WIEZIf+sA=+-R (621,565) 8,060 1062 (103556) (n (716,006)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

47 FBRBEZHBRRRREE

28

(a) ZFABRZMBRRER

Company
As at 31 December
®w+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021
—EIoE ET—F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
fsE AREFT AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment 1%~ = K&
Right-of-use assets FRESE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAFEFA

FEMEEWER
ZHBEE
Loans to a subsidiary m—ENEABES
2B
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits BNREBE-RER
and other receivables H fth fE U =R I8
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL i B A Sk 1E
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIIRITAARR
Bank and cash balances R1T IR AEER

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

35 64

532 717
711,189 681,142
6,153 1,740
214,173 -
932,082 683,663
288 864
1,122 1,033
1,534 =
68,168 350,076
71,112 351,973
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Conta)

314

(a)

Statement of financial position of the

Company (Conta)

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

47 EREZ2HBRRARRGFEE

A,

(a)

()

AT ZMFBRRE @)

As at 31 December

®w+-—B=+—H
2022 2021
g T -—
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBFT AR®TFIT
Current liabilities mEaE
Accruals and other payables  FEIR & & H1th
FESRIB 9,342 10,935
Amounts due to subsidiaries  E{THIBASIFIE 2,817 25,972
Lease liabilities HEaE 206 661
12,365 37568
Net current assets MBEERE 58,747 314,405
Total assets less current MEERRHERE
liabilities 990,829 998,068
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 386 -
386 -
NET ASSETS BERE 990,443 998,068
Capital and reserves Bk #E
Share capital % 45 154,484 145,036
Reserves B 47(b) 835,959 853,032
TOTAL EQUITY Wi 4% 990,443 998,068

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhu Ning
R

RZE_=fF=BA”"+=H
KEETH A WA TNYES
REEE

Mr. Yu Tao
AR AE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. AT ZHBRARRHEE
4= -
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE EE) 4
COMPANY (contd)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) AT ZFEEES
Shares
held for Shares  Financial
Share Share Share Award asset at
premium  Contributed option Award Scheme FVTOCI  Exchange Accumulated
account surplus reserve Scheme reserve reserve reserve loss Total
BRATE
AR
R 2EhER
®Eie  RARE ZMBEE
RPEER HARE BRERE RFEZRG  HUEE e EREE RHER ait
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R-B-—5-A-8 6ON5 6L AR (BEM 50067 04 (B6H) (1595459 4561806
Total comprehensive income FRZENALE
for the year - - - - - (40,09) 36549 (3,762,433 (3,765,980)
Exercise of share option TEBRE 5,309 - (1,233) - - - - - 4,07
Release upon lapsed of share option 7% B RRTEELE RBs R4 - - 81) - - - - 81 -
Equity-settled share-based payments R4 Bk 17 2 (1 7UE - - 13437 - 39,693 - - - 53,130
Fully-vested Awarded shares transfer (/&% \EZEUFELRK N
t0 awardees - - - 32,396 (32,396) - - - -
Changes in equity for the year ENEGEED 5,309 - 12123 32,3% 7297 40,096 36549 (3762,352)  (3,708,774)
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ-F+ZF=+-H 6,098,424 61,582 45,615 (43128) 57364 (29,952) 20938 (5,357811) 853,032
At 1 January 2022 W-E__&-A-H 6,098,424 61,582 45,615 (43,128) 57,364 (29,952) 20938  (5,357811) 853,032
Total comprehensive income FRZENALE
for the year - - - - - 4181 38,996 (353,895) (310,718)
Issuance of placing shares BITRERN (H:t456)
(note 45(al) 245,333 - - - - - - - 245,333
Allotment of Awarded Shares BEEARERBRA
to Trustee 76,598 - - (79,435) - - - - (2,837)
Release upon lapsed of share option AEERIEXMF RN - - (3,002) = = = = 3,002 =
Equity-settled share-based payments- B 45 SR 10 2 Y FUE - - 6,195 - 44,954 - - - 51,149
Fully-vested Awarded Shares transfer /B \EZEUFERRIRN
t0 awardees - - - 97,884 (97.884) - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FNEREEH 321,931 = 3,193 18,449 (52,930) 4,181 38996  (350,893) (17073)
At 31 December 2022 RIETTETIEST-R 64N 61SR 4808 (4679 443 (771) 59934 (5708704 835,939
FEARERAT —I - FFH 315
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= A
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AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

48. RESERVES

316

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and
movements therein are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(1)

(i)

Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising
from the issue of shares at a price in excess
of their par value per share and is not
distributable but may be utilised in paying
up unissued shares of the Company to be
issued to the shareholders of the Company
as fully paid bonus shares or in providing
for the premiums payable on repurchase of
shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group arose
as a result of the Group reorganisation
implemented in preparation for the listing
of the Company’s shares in 2000 and
represented the excess of the consolidated
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

48.

B3]
(a) ZA£EE

rEERBSERAEEHN
FEEmAEMEERAR
UkirGemEEHREY -

(b) (FEEERESN

() Ri@ER
RinEBiERRERS
REEZ ERETRD
FRTELEZ BB ZnE
RBI Ik AR E R
AL QB AR EE
T BUEREE
MRBETTEARAR
B N ERRLEBRRN
B REZ B8R

(i)  BAEER
NEBZBABRIRC
ZETFREFLARE
e EhmET 2 ER
SAHFTES > AT EE
WBARZ i EES
BEBHAABMRZIRZ
REBEEFEEITR
REEZ ZEEEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

48. RESERVES (conta)

(b)

PEAEARAR

Nature and purpose of reserves (Contd)

(i11)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 4(u) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess
of the fair value of the Group's share of
net assets over the purchase price and
the premium arising from acquisition. The
amount is retained in the consolidated
statement of financial position until the
disposal of the subsidiaries.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve, which is non-
distributable, is appropriated from the
profit after taxation of the Group's PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with accounting policies set
out in note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

it S 35

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE
48. (& @

(b) fEECEREN @

(i) BERREFE

(iv)

v)

(vi)

BRERBERERS
B ¥R R M 524 (u) R AR
REAE B IR ST A RRIRFR
RS STEGR > DB
R EsHR T AREEE
BZ R TERERESE
ZRFEe

=4
BERfEEIESEREN
EEFEZATERH
BEEBRWBEEZ &
B2 ER -wBNGE
MBRRIERFRE BEE
MEBARHERIL -

SEE#

EERBER TR
ThEEBAERTEN
BABRBETERBERZE
PR ER B Z BRI R
A e

ER1E
ERREHEEEEEEH
HEIINEBYBERERZ
FREINEEEE - %A
BEGEMBRERN
A8 5T R RR
Ho
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wh 3~

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

48. RESERVES (Conta)

318

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Contd)

(vii)

(viii)

Shares held by Share Award Scheme and
Shares Award Scheme reserve

The Group has adopted Share Award
Scheme as set out in note 49(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. When
the Company allots shares to the Trustee of
the Share Award Scheme, it would deduct
the same value of allotted shares from the
equity and is presented as “Shares held for
Share Award Scheme” When the Trustee
of the Share Award Scheme transfers the
Company's shares to the awardees upon
vesting, the value of Awarded Shares are
credited to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme’ with a corresponding adjustment
made to “Share Award Scheme reserve’

Financial assets at FVTOC/ reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the
fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI held
at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 4(l) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE
48. (& @
(b) EECEREN @
wi)  BR17IZEIETEIFTF R

(viii)

KR 172251 & 1# 1
rEBECSHRMEGRH
75 ¥R R M 5E49(b) P &
2RI ERETE - B
AB R R ER T E
AN 3 3V
Hik B m N FFER Y
ok BE 25
75 TR RS SRy 51 845
BEZzRin) - ERME
ks IPASEYNIN =
R AR BRI ERET
AR AE EZRERGD 2
BES A THAR D R
SRR ZRM ) W
MRz {0 B2 B 5t 81 5 )
EHAEEEREE -

B FEGAERME
B i AR Z R B B 1o
#
BAFESFAEREME
EWmERZ B EER
B EERRE AR
BAFESFAEREME
ERmERZMBEEZ
Rt AT EEHFE
WIZER G IR R 5
A(PRE 2 & 5TEERE
1TRRIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_Z "+ "A=-1+—HIEFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 49. FNZ(IFRIE
(a) Share Option Schemes (a) FERGHESTEY
The Company adopted Share Option Scheme 2019. EABIRA_ZE—NFER
et & o
Summary of terms 1R Z
Details Share Option Scheme 2019
F15 —_E—-hFEREE
1. Purposes To enable to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group.
1. BHY BALNFMEERSEHERNBRE  FARSEOREEPMFER Z12E
EAEIES
2. Eligible Eligible participants include (i) any employee or proposed employee,
participants manager or officer (whether full or part time) of the Company or any of

its subsidiaries; (ii) any director (including executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(iii) any advisors, consultants, contractors, distributors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture, promoters and service
providers of any member of the Group.

2. FEKSHEE SERZSHBORENARIRETANBLABEZEAEERBEEREE K
EBREHAE FEBEERR (IS ABAREEAMBABR 2 ERES
(BIERITHIERITRAHEBEULESR) ;(iVAEBERKE AR 2 FMEE
B FBAAAKEm DiEE  HER RE - TR EBREH -SERE
AR ARFE AR o

FEEBRERAT —I - CEER 319



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ S F+_B=1+—HIFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta) 49. FRINZ(IFRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Summary of terms (Contd) 1EABZE (5
Details Share Option Scheme 2019
F15 —_Z-hFEREE
3. Maximum The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be allotted
number of and issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
shares exercised under the scheme and any other inventive or option scheme(s)

of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under this
scheme if any grant of option will result in such 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under this scheme and any other
incentive or option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of this
scheme.

. EEKRMNEE FEREBEXRFEAKRATEMEMHBBERESIEREMBEFITEZ
FrAEARITERBRERITEMREREZEREITZAA TR RHBES
HABBBARRBFFEEITIRID 230% o HE M H R S B8
Z30%HIPRER » BN SIR IR AN 51 84% L E eI B AR A o

HRBEATE A A BRI EMAR S B RES EIR TFREZAARBR
RETEMAERERETZRNBE aHATBBMERSIZAE

TN Z210% °
4. Maximum The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
entitlement eligible participant within any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1% of the
of each shares in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
participant this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

4. 8R%2HEERN REATZEBBERN NEREERSEERLBRESI R ZPIHTR
EEZEHY MNESHE THBBENENRBEEETRMZ1% E—FEIDBALLRE
B B BREANKRRAGERRAE-
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ZT_F+_A=+—HILEFE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAR

49. RIPZ(TTRIE @

 FEIREHAIR

. Exercise

price

ATREE

" Remaining

life of the
scheme

| 58I 2 RIER

FH

it S 35

Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERRHESE @
Summary of terms (Contd) X7 BFE (48
Details Share Option Scheme 2019
F15 —_E—hFEREE
. Option The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the
period directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date

which is not later than ten years from the offer date of the share options.
PR HBREZ TEHES AT RETHEERERG BEEBERER
EEHHRES T F TG

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board of
directors and must be at least higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the Offer

Date, which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average closing price of

the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s share. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on the grant of a share option.
ERETEERESSRATE B AR TIBERSE (\ARFRMINE
EEFEHBE CEREEH) THMMERREBRATZWHE ; (IR ABK
MIREEERRE BRI AES X B FIE ARERY] 2 FHK
MmE; kil RBRHMZEB RELERER A NEEREBIET

The scheme became effective on 12 June 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

SEERE-—NEAATTHEN BRIERTECHEES]  SRIBZAB
EsH0FERBR
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Other terms

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted
to a connected person, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company's shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Other disclosure

The fair value of share options granted is
recognised in profit or loss taking into account
the probability that the options will vest over the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of the options
the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded in the share premium account. At
the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve is
transferred to accumulated losses. Lapsed options,
prior to their exercise date, are deleted from the
outstanding options. All equity-settled share-based
compensation expense is settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The grantees may exercise the options in whole
or in part by giving exercise notice to the grantor
at any time during the option period provided that
the grantees shall exercise the options to acquire
the option shares in accordance with the following
vesting schedule:

Vesting schedule for Share Option Scheme 2019

At 1 July 2020 25%
At 1 July 2021 25%
At 1 July 2022 25%
At 1 July 2023 25%

it S 35

e

49.

F+A=+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

Rl st @

Hith#e &
FrRbiEREZ A FERS
KEBRER TR BN RB
ZEBEMR  EHEmES N
BREETER EILETZ
Bz 0 ¥ Bz 17 E B 5 {E 8B 5 Bk
x> MmERTEEBHRAE
Bz EZBEFARMDEER R
BRREETER  RRINER
REGBNES 2R IER
ERMEE - EBRIER R
HREPANAERFITE AT
AR EBREREAERRZE
BEEERFER -RIT/EH
HRT AW Z R E B R ARTT
ERBRRIE R 7R o Fr B B #E
BURMDX N ZHENR Bx
S AEE I EE L g UIR
TEEBREZATENHTE
Bffe

EE NP B IR AR A
IR > BB AR H A LS
M TEEai s s o B
Al IR A AR AN BRIE U TR
JB 5 ) 2% 17 (60 8 P 48 AR
BERRERS -

—E-hEFRKRESIREER
By il &=

R_E_EF+H—H 25%
R_EB_—F+H—H 25%
AR F+HA—H 25%
RZE-=F+H—H 25%
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

’ TAW7AN =k =
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta) 49. MRINZ(ITRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BB BB
following:
At 31 December 2022 — Share Option Scheme RIEZZF+/F=+—
2019 H——ZF— N FRERIEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2022 the year the year the year 2022
RZg_-Z
RIZZZ +ZH
RHAH T8 (] —-A—H FRRL ERRY ERfTHE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019  ZZ—AEHRIEHE
Director of the Company - YNEIEE i
Mr. Zhu Ning
14 QOctober 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZZ-NEFTETEE TECSELA-HECSIMERA=THE 1008
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
TEC-FtA-AEZZIMEREZTH 1008%T
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
R CECE-HEIEIMEREZTHE 1008w
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZRCCEEE-HEIEIMEREZTH 1008w
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of the Company AAFEMES
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
“2-hE+FTME CECEECA-AE_ECMENASTHE  090ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ZT-EtA-BEZZ-MERBZTH  090ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ZTCETA-BEZEMEAAZTHE 090ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ZTCETA-BEZZMERBAZTH 090ET
50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Share Option Schemes (Contd)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Contd)

At 31 December 2022 — Share Option Scheme
2019 (Contd)

e

49.

F+A=+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

Rl st @
BEER 2 BRESBNT

#®)
R-EZZ

F+ZHA=+—

H——F— N FEREE)

(@)
Number of share options
EREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2022 the year the year the year 2022
St 3
RZEZZ +ZA
BitAH 7t T8 —-B-H FREL ERXHY ERITHE =+-A
Share Option Scheme 2019 —E—h FHRIEE
Senior management rEESRERE
of the Group
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000
“2-hE+A-H RTZEEA-HEIZIMEREZTH  075ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
RT-FtA-HEIZIMEREZTH  075ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000
RITEEA-HEIZIMEREZTH  075ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000
TRCCEEA-HEIZIMEREZTH  075ET
37502,000 - (7500,000) - 30,002,000
Employees of the Group r£8ES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 14,552,000 - (500,000) - 14,052,000
“Z-h&F+R-H TR ZELA-HE_E_MEAAZTH 07587
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,250,000 - (1,000,000) - 29,250,000
ZEI-FtA-AEZEIMEREZ1H 07587
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 29,250,000 - (9,250,000) - 20,000,000
CEICEtA-AEZEIMERE=1H 07587
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 29,250,000 - (9,250,000) - 20,000,000
TECEREA-HAEISIMERASE 075ET
103,302,000 - (20,000,000 - 83,302,000
Total share options for Share ~ —E—NEBEREE 2
Option Scheme 2019 ERERY 290,804,000 - (27500,000) - 263,304,000

For Share Option Scheme 2019, if the options
remain unexercised up to 30 June 2024, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

, TAW7AN F> =
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta) 49. MRINZ(ITRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FHERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BEER BRSBTS
following: (Contd) #&)
At 31 December 2021 — Share Option Scheme RIEZ—F+Z/F=+—
2019 H——ZF— N FRERIEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RIZ-_-&
RZE_-F +ZR
RHAH T8 78 —B—H FREH ERRY ERTTHE =+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
ZE-hERRERE
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
TAEEE
Ay
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
“2-nE+ATME “ZCFELA-AECSMERAZHA 10087
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
“ECEtA-AECZMERAZHAE 10087
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
“ECTELA-AECZCMERAZHAR 10087
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
“ECCELA-AECECMERAZHAE 10087
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of the Company
RAREMEE
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
“2-nE+ATME “ZCFELA-AECEMERAZHA 0908
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ECE+A-AECZMERAZHAE 090BT
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ECELA-AECECMERAZHAE 0908
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“ECCELA-AECEMERAZHAE 09087
50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta) 49. MRINZ(ITTRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BB z BREFBEOT
following: (Contd) (#)
At 31 December 2021 — Share Option Scheme RZEZ—F+F=+—
2019 (Contd) H—Z—ZF— N FERIEZ)
()
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RIZTZ-%
RZBZ-% +ZR
BHAH T8 7@ —-A—-A FEREL ERERY ENTE =t+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
S-NERREHD
Senior management of the Group
rEESRERE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000
“Z-nE+R-H ZEIRELA-AEIZIMEREZTH 075ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
ZEC-FEA-HEISIMERAZHHE 0758
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
TECCEEA-HECSIMERAZHE 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
ZECCEELA-HECSIMERAZHE 0758
37502,000 5 = - 37502000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Contd)

At 31 December 2021 — Share Option Scheme

HE_Z_—

49. RBZIRIE @

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

(a) FARIESTEl @@
BEERZBRESBNT

)
RZFEZ—

F+ZHA=+—

2019 (Contd) H—Z—ZF— N FERIEZ)
(@)
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RIZTZ-%
RZBZ-% B +ZR
BHAH T8 7@ —-A—-A FEREL ERERY ENTE =t+-H
Share Option Scheme 2019
S-NERREHD
Employess of the Group
rEEES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 21,152,000 - - (6,600,000 14,552,000
“Z-nE+R-H TR ZELA-HEZE_MEAAZTHH 0.75%87T
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (250,000) - 30,250,000
ZEC-FEA-HEISIMERAZHHE 0758
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (1,250,000 - 29,250,000
TECCEEA-HECSIMERAZHE 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,500,000 - (1,250,000 - 29,250,000
TECCEEA-HECSIMERAZHE 0758
112,652,000 - (2,750,000) (6,600,000 103,302,000
Total share options for Share ~ —E—NEBRE B 2 BREEH
Option Scheme 2019 300,154,000 - (2,750,000) (6,600,000 290,804,000

For Share Option Scheme 2019, if the options
remain unexercised up to 30 June 2024, the
options expire. Options are forfeited if the

employee leaves the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 49. RPZ(IFIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI  BREFBEOT
following: (Contd) (#)
Details of the share options outstanding during the FRAHEKRTEBERESFU
year are as follows: T
2022
ZEZCZF

Share Option
Scheme 2019
“E-hFERESS

Weighted
Number of average
share exercise
options price
MHEFE
AR ERE 71EE
HK$
BT
Outstanding at the beginning FHERITEE
of the year 290,804,000 0.86
Lapsed during the year FRRH (27,500,000) 0.75
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ FERBRITEE 263,304,000 0.87
Exercisable at the end for the year ~ FE XA F1T1E 195,804,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_ S F+_B=1+—HIFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 49. RPZ(IFIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BBz BREFBEOT
following: (Contd) #
Details of the share options outstanding during the FRAHEKRTEBERESFU
year are as follows: (Contd) T (#)
2021
TR

Share Option
Scheme 2019
“E-NFERESE

Weighted
Number of average
share exercise
options price
NS
BRERE 17168
HK$
BT
Outstanding at the beginning FHERITEE

of the year 300,154,000 0.86
Exercised during the year FRITE (6,600,000) 0.75
Lapsed during the year FRKY (2,750,000) 0.75
Outstanding at the end of the year R B RITE 290,804,000 0.86

Exercisable at the end of the year FRAFITE 129,804,000
The weighted average share price at the date of R —H+ZH
exercise for share option exercised during the year —t+—HLEFE > ZZT—hF
ended 31 December 2021 for share option scheme BRESTE N EITERERRE
2019 is HK$3.42. EITEHBZMEFEERMG

B A3.4258 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Share Option Schemes (Contd)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Contd)

There are no share option exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2022. During the year ended
31 December 2021, 6,600,000 share options have
been exercised. The options outstanding at the end
of the year have a weighted average remaining
contractual life of share option scheme 2019 is 1.5
years (2020: 2.5 years for share option scheme
2019). The exercise prices range from HK$0.75 to
HK$1.00 for share option scheme 2019.

The fair value of Share Option Scheme 2019 was
calculated using Binomial Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date
EHBH

HE_Z " —

49.

F+A=+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

RERe st (@
¢?E)$E%'JZE%HX7F&D¥ BEF

HE_ZT_-__—_#£+_H
—t+t—HLEFE #BERER
HETE BE_ZS _—F
+-_B=Z+—HLEEFE:>
6,660,000 BB B ET
o —E—NFBEERESEN
R E R AT R 2 N
THRGENFRA1EFE (T
ETEE I CE-NFHERE
sH8|A256F) c _E—HFE
ST 2T EEEA0.75
BITE1.008BTT o

—E-NFBRRESEIZA
FAETER B EEE
RS E - 2R 8 A BB
mr

Share Option
Scheme 2019
—hE

E%Hszg Bl

Share price of the Company on grant date

—

Exercise price TfEE

Expected volatility

Expected life
Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company's share price
over the previous 5 years.

it S 35

TRHAK I8

TEHR 1
R
TEHARE B

RABREHBRAZRE

HK$0.48

- HK$0.50
0488 TE
0.507& 7T
HK$0.75

— HK$1.00
0.758TE
1.008 7T
71.91%
-71.97%
71.91%=E
71.97%
4.7 years
4.7%
1.348% to
1.452%
1.348% &
1.452%
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

332

(b)

Share Award Scheme

On 31 May 2018 (“Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the Share Award Scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) aimed to recognise the
contributions by Eligible Persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for
continuing operation and development of the
Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date unless early terminated by the Board.

The Board can make award of Shares of the
Company to Selected Participants, but must not
make any further award of unvested Shares which
would result in the number of Shares awarded
by the Board under the Share Award Scheme
representing 10% or more of the issued Shares
from time to time without Shareholders’ approval.
The maximum number of Shares which may
be subject to an award or awards to a selected
participant in any 12-month period shall not in
aggregate exceed 1% of the issued Shares.

No award shall be made by the Board and no
instructions to acquire Shares shall be given by
the Board to the Trustee under the Share Award
Scheme where any director is in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Group or where dealings by directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the
GEM Listing Rules and all applicable laws from
time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

PEAEARAR

Share Award Scheme (Conta)

Subject to the relevant Share Award Scheme
Rules, (1) the Company can issue and allot
Shares to the Trustee from time to time under
general mandates granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at general meetings of the Company
from time to time (unless such issue and allotment
of Shares has otherwise been approved by the
Shareholders) for future awards; or (2) in case
where the Board has selected certain Eligible
Person to be Selected Participant(s), the Company
shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after the
grant date, for the purposes of satisfying the grant
of awards, issue and allot Shares to the Trustee
under general mandates granted or to be granted
by the Shareholders at general meetings of the
Company from time to time (unless such issue and
allotment of Shares has otherwise been approved
by the Shareholders) and/or transfer to the Trust
the necessary funds and instruct the Trustee to
either (i) subscribe Shares to be issued by the
Company or (ii) acquire Shares through on-market
transactions at the prevailing market price. The
Trustee must hold the Shares until they are vested
in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules. When the Selected Participant has satisfied
all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the
time of making the award and become entitled to
the Shares forming the subject of the award, the
Trustee will transfer the relevant vested Shares to
the Selected Participant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and
powers in respect of any Shares held under the
Trust (including, but not limited to, the Awarded
Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares

and scrip Shares).

First Awards

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a total
of 551,522,400 Awarded Shares (“First Awards”)
were granted and out of which, none was granted
to the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the First Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements were received. The fair value of
awarded shares granted was HK$0.62 per Awarded

Share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Second Awards

On 19 November 2018, the Board announced the
granting of another lot of 314,376,000 Awarded
Shares and subsequently reduced to 304,247200
Awarded Shares (“Second Awards”) on 24
January 2019, none was granted to the directors
of the Company. The Company received all
approvals and allotted Second Awards to Trustee
on 1 February 2019, but the grantees acceptance
were not received until 15 March 2019. Also on
15 March 2019, the Board adjusted the number
of Awards Shares previously announced and
granted additional 23,064,800 Awarded Shares to
58 grantees using lapsed shares of First Awards
and Second Awards held by Trustee in the Trust
Fund. The fair value of the Second Awards granted
was calculated based on the market price of
the Company's Share at the measurement date
that all relevant approvals in connection with the
GEM Listing Rules requirements and acceptance
from the Eligible participants were received. The
fair value of Second Awards shares granted was
HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

On 5 May 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to modify the vesting schedule of 80 grantees
of Second Awards, which resulted in immediate
and full vesting of 154,897600 Awarded Shares.
Other than that there was no other modification
of vesting conditions that will results in the
acceleration of vesting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Third Awards

On 21 August 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 7,814,400 Awarded Shares (“Third
Awards"”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by Trustee in
the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Third Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair value of Third
Awards granted was HK$0.51 per Awarded Share.

Third Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 3 tranches. The first tranche
representing 50% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 2 years
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of first day of employment. The second and third
tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and
would be vested after completing the third year
and fourth year of continuous service to the Group,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fourth Awards

On 1 July 2020, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 45,120,000 Awarded Shares (“Fourth
Awards"”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by the Trustee
in the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Fourth Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fourth
Awards granted was HK$1.37 per Awarded Share.

Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second, third and fourth tranches
each represent 25% of the awards, and would be
vested in the second, third and fourth anniversary
from the date of grant, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fifth Awards

On 30 December 2021, the Board passed a
resolution to grant 36,200,000 Awarded Shares
("Fifth Awards"”) by using the lapsed shares held
by the Trustee in the Trust Fund, of which none was
granted to the directors of the Company. The fair
value of the Fifth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company's share
at the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fifth
Awards granted was HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

Fifth Awards granted to the selected participant

was fully vested on 31 December 2021.

Sixth Awards

On 22 February 2022, the Board passed a
resolution for allotted and issued 350,846,480 new
Awarded Shares (“Sixth Awards”) to Trustee. On
1 April 2022 and 1 December 2022, the Company
granted total 310,801,640 Awarded Shares to
employees of the Group. The fair value of the
Sixth Awards granted was calculated based on
the market price of the Company's share at the
measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Sixth
Awards granted was HK$0.157 and HK$0.184 per

Awarded Share.
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55 A B2 K #547350,846,480
MR RN (TERARK
Bl cR B _HFME—H

“EIF+ZA—B R
REIAAERREERHEH
310,801,640 #Z BN A& 17 © FT#%
HERNTERZAFETLR
BARBRMVRFEERZ
MmEE WEEEBRBGEM
EHRABE Z A AR’
ERET SN 21BN FR
HERNTEBMZAFEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z__F+-B=+—HIFE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 49. RPZfFIE @
(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd) (b) RRDEZENETE @
Sixth Awards (Contd) BNLIZRE (4B)
The Sixth Awards granted to employees are divided EYTEBZENAXEBD
into 4 vesting periods: 300,721,240 Awarded AAEEFEE © 300,721,240
Shares were vested during the year. 10,080,400 RREROMENRFENFESB -
Awarded Shares will be vested on 31 March 2023, 10,080,4008% #Z Bh B 17 8 12
30 June 2023 and 30 September 2023. —EI=F=HA=+—H"Z
Z_—FRA=tHKRZZE
—ZEAB=tHEERERB-
Movements in the number of Awarded Shares held SEAFZEBRMDEE
by the Trustee are as follows: gEur .
Number of Number of
Awarded Awarded
Shares Shares
RERHEE REIRDEE
2022 2021
& T —%
At the beginning of the year REH] 111,871,600 164,083,800
Issued and granted to employees AEEZEITRIEH 310,801,640 -
Issued but not yet granted B ITEERREH 40,044,840 -
Vested and transferred BB N EE (281,516,820) (52,212,200)
Lapsed B (17,349,600) (6,134,700)
Returned Shares BEERD 17,349,600 6,134,700
At end of the year RER 181,201,260 111,871,600
Vested but not transferred as at RERE FEBE M REHE
the end of the year 99,104,720 48,144,000
FEABARAT —T - 4R 339



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(c)

(d)

340

Youzan Technology - Stock Incentive
Plan 2019

Youzan Technology has a Stock Incentive Plan
and Qima Teamwork Inc. is the special vehicle
that holds the shares of Youzan Technology for
the purpose of attracting, retaining and providing
additional incentives to employees and consultants
of Youzan Technology. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, Qima Teamwork Inc. held 106,428,391
and 106,428,391 shares of Youzan Technology,
respectively.

Under the arrangements and rules of the Stock
Incentive Plan 2019, upon the grant and vesting
of the share awards with relevant grantees, Qima
Teamwork Inc. shall issue its own shares to the
relevant grantees in accordance with the rules of
the Stock Incentive Plan 2019. Since the adoption
of the Stock Incentive Plan 2019, no grant of share
awards has been made by the Company and
Youzan Technology thereunder.

Youzan Technology - Share Award
Scheme A

In 2021, Youzan Technology has proposed to amend
and substitute Youzan Technology-Stock Incentive
Plan 2019 by Youzan Technology-Share Award
Scheme A.

On 6 May 2021, all effective conditions of Share
Award Scheme A have been satisfied, and
accordingly, the amendment and substitution of
the Stock Incentive Plan 2019 by the Share Award
Scheme A has become effective. Qima Teamwork
Inc. shall transfer all 106,428,391 shares of Youzan
Technology hold by it to a trustee (“Trustee
A"), who shall hold such shares on trust for the
proposed grantees under Share Award Scheme A.

HE_Z_—

49.

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

(c)

(d)

B8R-S —hER
R G
BEEBREEE —ERMDBE
=t2] > MmQima Teamwork Inc.
ARBBEENERMDZE%
TE BRI BB RE
BEREZ EEKRERRM
HAU B EfR - N 8-
2 F+ZHR=+—
H > Qima Teamwork Inc.7> 8l
FHEBERE 2106,428,391
% 52106,428,391 BRB& 17 ©

RiE_E—NERM BBt
2|2 ZHERFRA) > R EAE R A
BRARH K EFEBRMDERE
Qima Teamwork Inc.fEIR#E
E—NERMBBEE 2R
AREEBRMETTIEE
AN B — T —HER
R GRS /NS E =]
BRI SEEILE SRR
BIE

BER—IR(72R)EE
A

TR —F REREKE
RETBENR-——ZT—N
FRD MBS E L AEER
BRI RS EIAR

N _E-—FHBNNHE KRG
SRENET AN B £ MR HE
EEMN R BT 22 —H
TR D BB 5t B I LABR 19 82
BIstEBAB MK E LK Qima
Teamwork Inc.fERERFH
AERE 280106,428,3910%
RipEETIEA (IZTA
Al ZRFEABUETEAR
AR EREIAB TN ZEE
ABEARFEZERMD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Conta)

(d) Youzan Technology — Share Award

Scheme A (Contad)

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, shares of Youzan Technology held by Qima
Teamwork Inc. are not yet transferred to Trustee A
and no share award has been granted under the

Share Award Scheme A.

(e) Grant of Youzan Technology Shares and
anti-dilution issue to the Company
On 27 April 2022, the board of directors of Youzan
Technology passed a resolution and entered
a share award agreement with Whitecrow
Investment Limited, which is a wholly-owned
company by Mr. Zhu Ning (the director of the
Company) and a non-controlling shareholder of
Youzan Technology. Pursuant to the agreement,
Youzan Technology granted, alloted and issued
84,432,360 new shares of Youzan Technology
to incentivise Mr. Zhu Ning to remain with
Youzan Technology and continue to promote its
future business development. The fair value of
the granted share award was determined by
discounted cash flow method and the fair value
of the granted share award was amounting to
RMB36,920,000. The awarded shares were
vested immediately. The share-based payment
expenses of RMB36,920,000 were recognised in
the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2022.

To ensure that the above share awards did not
dilute the existing equity interest held by the
Company in Youzan Technology, Youzan Technology
entered into an anti-dilution agreement with the
Company. Pursuant to the agreement, Youzan
Technology agreed to issue and allot 91,087205
new shares of Youzan Technology to the Company.

PEEEHARAT T _EFR

HE_Z " —

49.

F+A=+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(d)

(e)

BERR R IEENETE
A#@)

RIE __fE—i— B=+—
BErRZZEZ—F+ZA
=+—H">Qima Teamwork
IncFHBZBEERERMER
HIE TR AAR RS BB 5T
AR BN, R o

REATIREEERER
Pk REHET
RIE__FWBE_++tH>
BEENRESGREBA—ER
BEOUH-—BHEAATE
EREREREEREZ—
LIEERKRREZEEE 2
‘A B]Whitecrow Investment
Limiteds] 32 IR 17 S B 173 2% ©
RiEHZ BB EEE R
2% K 859784,432,3601 B &
ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬂyf‘ ' DUBBN R B R A

BEZTEERE BEED
E%X%%é&@ BERHEM
REZ ATFERBRRER
AET ERERMNREZA
FEAARK36,920,0007T
RERDEREB AR
36,920,0007T 2 f& 19 S 718
HEREE_ZT __F+_
B=1t—BHLEEEZHREW
FIRR MR

7 MR £ MR 1D 2R Bh I A
BANBREFEZBEEN
R BERSEAREE]
IR ERE-REBERE A
BERREARRARNBEITR
Fo 25 B R14%91,087 20582 #

AV
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd)

(e)

Grant of Youzan Technology Shares

and anti-dilution issue to the Company
(Contd)

These transactions were approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 21 June 2022. The Company's
equity interest in Youzan Technology remains
unchanged at 51.9%.

For further details, refer to the announcement of
the Company published on 27 April 2022 and the
poll result on 21 June 2022.

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

342

(a)

Disposal of a subsidiary

The Group's subsidiary entered into the sales and
purchase agreement with a related company to
sell its 100% equity interest of Hangzhou Youzan
Dining Co., Ltd. at nil consideration. The disposal
was completed on 29 July 2022 resulting in a gain
on dispasal of approximately RMB4,603,000.

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

49.

(e)

50.

(a)

g A
[og oy =]

AR ZAFRRIE (@)

mAABREAEER XK
PR REEET @

ZERGN_E__FXAH
TH+—HRTZREBEKX
B LEARBRERME - AA
BAREBRNEZREERTT
> 251.9% °

ERE—THB BF2HER
BRIE_"FNA -+t
AHEZRAERKR T
FRABI+—HAEZRR

+ e
HERANE

RERERRME

HE—RHBAR

7 £ B Y 88 A B 52— ) B Bk
REFIIIEEHZE  USHKE
HEERMINEEEMRETE
BIEAB Z100% R HE - HE
RN_E-__F#tA -+ NH
R EEHERGEHNARE
4,603,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE_ S " F#+_A=+—HIEE
50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. #ZRIREMEMKRMT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contd)
(a) Disposal of a subsidiary (Conta) (a) WE—FHMEBASR @
RMB'000
ANE®BTT
Net liabilities disposal: FRrHEaEREE !
Property, plant and equipment MEBRERZE 1,414
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{fRIE 2% K%
H AR IR 1,122
Bank and cash balances RITRIREAER 188
Accurals and other payables TEiR & A R EMEIE (1,213)
Amount due to the Group FEfT A E B FRIE (6,114)
Net liabilities disposed of R &8 E 48 (4,603)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEESZIREMEIFEE -
Cash consideration received BWIRERE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FTHERENRIBEEEY (188)
(188)

FEEBRERAT —I - CEER 343
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(b)

AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 BE_Z- F#+"B=+—HIEFE
50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. “FeREREHRRMEE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conta)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BEIBELEZEERIK
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TRAFLAEERELTEE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including S8R 8FERERIE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising ReEgy mMBEETHEEZE
from financing activities are those for which cash EnBERERREKRENMN
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EREAERZEFEARERN
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash ERRPOBAMEETEFR
flows as cash flows from financing activities. BREREZEE-
Early
termination
Interest and
1 January Cash Inception expenses  modification Exchange 31 December
2022 flows of leases (note 11) of lease difference 2022
- Sl
- Ja HERE RERIE +ZA
-B-8 REnE &R (Bzk1m) RESHE EREE =t+-f
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEETT AEBFT AEEFT AEBTT AREFT AEEFT
Borrowings fas - 471,060 - 9924 - 2 480,986
Lease libilities (note 42) AEEE () 73652 (47715) 623 15,707 (148,399) 51 93,919
Early
termination
Interest of leases
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent Exchange 31 December
2021 flows of leases (note 11)  concession difference 2021
RRAIL “5-E
“ET-E FEHE% &R +Z8
—A-H Rehg HERR (Bzin) fEE% EREE =t+-f
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBIOO0
ARETR  AR%FR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETH
Lease liabiities fnote 42 BESE (10) 242,261 143,059) 52434 2642 (586) (0] 273,65
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z__F+A=+—HILFE

50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. #ZRIREMEMKRMT @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contd)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) FTHEREBRLAEZE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements FERERERKRPIAHZ
of cash flows for leases comprise the following: HESREEFEUTEIE !

2022 2021

—g-= B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT
Within operating cash flows REREMEN 15,758 35,355
Within investing cash flows HEIRTRENR - -
Within financing cash flows MERSREN 32,008 20,417
Exchange difference b 7 = RB (51) 40
47,715 55,812

PEAEARAR

These amounts relate to the following:

ZEERATIRIERR !

2022 2021
g T

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFRT ARETR

Lease rental paid ENEEEE

i — s

47,715 55,812
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AR AR EE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

51.

346

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

The Group provided transaction services to
facilitate the transactions process between
merchants and consumers. In connection with
provision of such service, Hangzhou Youzan
entered into a payment service agreement with
Beijing Gaohuitong (a subsidiary of the Group),
pursuant to which Beijing Gaohuitong, a licensed
payment company, provided settlement service to
the Group's merchants.

After consulting the Group's legal counsel,
transaction service in the past provided by
Hangzhou Youzan ("“Past Transaction Service”)
might be deemed as having engaged in payment
activities without licence by the relevant authority
in China under Administrative Measures for the
Payment Services Provided by Non-Financial
Institutions ((GFEREEZIIRFBFEEME))
and may give rise to the risk of being required to
terminate such practice according to the relevant
PRC regulations. Furthermore, according to
Measures for Banning lllegal Financial Institutions
and lllegal Financial Business Activities ({3E/A &/
WRENIEZEMERTBEFIDE)) that remain
in force during the year ended 31 December 2020,
confiscation of illegal gains and administrative
fine in the range of one time to five times of any
illegal gains from such operation (in case of no
illegal gains, administrative fine of RMB100,000 to
RMB500,000) could be imposed by the relevant
regulatory authorities.

BE_E- 4+ "A=+—HItFEE
51. TARE
(a) ZAEFEERZBRE > UE

ERREBEEZBNRS
MIZ o R HERBME >
WEBHIERSESR (F&H
Z MW BT 873 24 BRE 1
&I RS ES (—EE
XA AR) AAEERBKRE
HEERT -

KRR ERZEARERER
MMNEERBEREZRS
R (HDBERZRF) A8
WHEIA B ERPIR R GF R
WEXMIRBEENE)ER
RAEFFRIMEE AT TS P AE
TEIRBETBEBRERK
EREIELBEEFZEE -
SN RERB&E_T T F
+TZA=+—HLEEEENZ
CRZZmMEEBMIEEER
EBRPRGEIE) A&
EEBPI R R W R PR 1S K B2
UBEBEBEAIFERFH
—EELENTHREIMR BB
IEEFRSRY ATREUARE
100,0007% E A K #500,0007T
BIITELEIRR) ©
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fe= A
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

51.

PEAEARAR

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Contd)

(a)

(b)

(Contd)

Hangzhou Youzan had not been determined by
the relevant regulatory authorities as engaging in
payment activities without licence. In February
2021, Hangzhou Youzan has ceased providing
transaction service. After consulting the Group's
legal counsel, the Directors are of the view that,
based on that Hangzhou Youzan ceased providing
transaction service, (i) the likelihood that current
business operations of Hangzhou Youzan would
be penalised for having engaged in unlicensed
payment activities is low, and (i) the likelihood
that Hangzhou Youzan would be retrospectively
penalised for having engaged in unlicensed
payment activities is low. As a result, the Directors
are of the opinion that material financial impact to
the Group because of the Past Transaction Service
is not probable.

In September 2021, Hangzhou Youzan and
its merchants had a legal dispute with third
party for patent infringements. The third party
sued for patent infringements and claimed the
merchants and Hangzhou Youzan for damages of
RMB1,000,000. Management and the Group's
legal department assessed the likelihood of the
claim as low and the maximum compensation, if
any, could be RMB1,000,000. The Directors are of
the opinion that it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle
the case, and therefore disclosed as contingent
liabilities.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

it S 35

e

51.

F+A=+—HLEFE

HARERE @

(a)

(b)

-
MMNEERREAERAEES
FIBEAREHFIREXLM
EB R —F"F M
MEEEEILRMERRZ R
KB ER FRERRE
ERTNEEEFILERMER
ZIRT > EFZRA (IMMA
BEREBLEEALERE
SR EBMRES 20
BEM RN B BRI ER
KTFAZNETZMZENE
S AEMRE-RIL - EF
B BERZRBAEGH A
EREENEAMBEE-

RZEZ—FNA mNEE
REBRMEFFEHEEASE =
FEERREUM - ZE=FIE
FEFEE W EERRN
MNEEREBEEEEEBARE
1,000,000 T - BIEE R A&
B AP RB 2 A A
HRE RSEE H) A5k
A ANER#1,000,000cc &%
RATHELEERATEER
KBEMB M AL ERSK
Z=LEE

BrREXFIIREEN R ZT -
+TTRA=t+—H FrEETEAEME
REAREE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

52.

53.

348

COMMITMENTS

Commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting

HE_S__F#+_A=1t—HLI=EFE

52. K

RBREARBITVERHREE Z K

period but not yet incurred are as follows: -3 I
2022 2021
oo —ZFT—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Equity investment in a company R—EABZ REKRE 4,537 6,787
Property, plant and equipment =Y k] - 1,067

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2022 and
2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed in note 20.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had not
entered into any lease which are not yet commenced.

53. EEHERH

FEEERFEBA

AEETEHITUMAERELES
ZHRBPHEE RE_"FR-Z
——HF+ZHA=+—H aiEEH
B M 20 ME 2 EHEER

Z A EE SR

—_—%+=A

RIBZZFR-ZFZ

=+—0B > xEEWETIIEMEAR

ez HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAR

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with its related parties during

the year:

e

F+A=+—HLEFE

54. RAES XS

(a)

PriFE M BmRREMIBO PR
WEE 2 R 77 32 5 RS R b
AEBRENBERFBS A
UTFEXRRS :

2022 2021
g Z——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Fr AR®ET
Loan to an employee m—%EEFHZER - 500
Repayment of loans to employees mEEEEEMN 3,150 -
Advertising service fee received B—EREB AT WE 2
from a related company BEERBE 10 566
Revenue from a related company KRB —RIEB AR 2 Wm 331 4,901
Administrative expenses paid to BN —REME A IR
a non-controlling interest of Bz TR
a subsidiary (1,022) (1,928)
Loans from non-controlling KB B AR IEIER
shareholders of a subsidiary BERZE™M 1,420 -
Repayment of loans from non- B2k B—ERB AR
controlling shareholders of a JEIER IR 2 ER
subsidiary (481) -
Commission paid to associates ENEE AR ZHE (2,926) (4,401)

The related party transactions were conducted

in accordance with terms mutually agreed with
related parties and in the ordinary course of

business.

On 1 March 2022, a subsidiary of the Group,

Beijing Gaohuitong, entered into an agreement

with a related company, to provide payment
service to this related company with nil
consideration.

it S 35

(b)

BB D X 5 T IR IR R R 7T
HEBEZBERKRIKBEBEE
BiBiERET

ATE-_FE=ZRB—H K&
Bz—HBHBASILLRSE
BE— B A L HE
UEREBRZEHEB QB RM
SRS ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Conta)

(c)

HE_Z_—

FE+ZA=t—HLEE

54. RAME RS @

The remuneration of directors and other members () ES=ERHMSHKEEAER
of senior management during the year was as FARAZHFHMAOT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-HF g2
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®TFIT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances T & TEAL R ERL 17,295 19,998
Equity-settled share-based payments FR#E4SE E LD X (S 718 29,560 9,275
Retirement benefit scheme BRIREF ST B (RN
contribution 296 364
47,151 29,637

55. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD 55. #R&EHIESEMH

350

(a)

(b)

On 15 Jan 2023, the Company granted 5,443,040
awarded shares by using the lapsed shares of
Sixth Awards to 81 eligible participants. The
awarded shares are to be vested after the eligible
participants have completed.

On 20 January 2023, the Company announced
that offered 14,450,000 share options to 36
eligible participants. The exercise price for each
share option is HK$0.385. The option is valid for 5
years from the date of grant and 100% of options
shall be vested to grantee on 20 January 2024.
The fair value of the related share options are still
estimated by management up to the date of this
financial statements issue day.

(a)

(b)

RZEZ=F—B+HH 'K
NBEIAERNRIZE) 2 K&
NEIHEERZEHERY
5,443,040 LB R 15 o B2 ED
ROBREEKR2EETR
B

N ZE=F—HAZ+H &
N EHHEICLEERZHE
£ 2 1414,450,0001% B BG4 o
SMHEBREZITEEA0.385
BT o B B IRt B HARES
FREW 100%HEREBR
TETE—-B_+HEB
FEEAN BERPFHERET
A BERB I EGsHERS
BRI ATEe
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RS HE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=+—ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C - -F —T-THF —NE —\F
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETRT
RESULT Ef
Revenue Wz 1,496,977 1,569,991 1,820,723 1,168,857 586,287
Cost of sales HEMA (535,055) (617728) (738,639) (575,455) (388,076)
Gross profit E7 961,922 952,263 1,082,084 593,402 198,211
Investment and other income BREREMBA 49,517 63,786 76,937 29,727 18,523
Other gains and losses, net Hiam 518 F%8 36,100  (2,186,924) 1,569 (198,992) (40,284)
Selling expenses HERY (830,816) (959,106) (781,882) (543,215) (182,366)
Administrative expenses THAX (293,043)  (355,312) (241,438) (196,797) (190,118)
Equity-settled share-based payments REEERN = NFIE (88,068) (53,130) (62,197) (136,428) (250,148)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE (81,648) (124,964) (193,143) (193,366) (136,310)
Other operating expenses HiR &Y (312,268) (609,294) (445,165) (349,927) (189,589)
Loss from operations BEEE (558,304) (3,252,681)  (663,235)  (995596)  (772,081)
Finance costs MR (25,631) (22,642) (27886) (22,044) -
Share of losses of associates, net e A= YNCIPA 5t B (1,135) (217) (1,161) 5,289 (12)
Fair value change in financial assets at fair AT AT ATEERE
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL) (MERTEATERR) 2
FREEZ ATEZE (73,337) 23,758 - - -
LOSS BEFORE TAX [E32T) o] (658,407)  (3,251,782)  (592,282)  (1,012,351)  (772,093)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FEshER/ B 12,647 (41,238) 46,629 96,782 46,186
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FREE (645,760)  (3,293,020) (545,653) (915,569) (725,907)

FEAEAMRAT TR
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R FEERE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-_BA=+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEICE “EC-F TEFTEE “ZT-hE “Z-N\E
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR AREFR ARETRT ARETR
Attributable to: NTFALEEESS
Owners of the Company V/NIEZ 2SN (303,089)  (2,509,498) (294,671) (591,874) (431,459)
Non-controlling interests JEERRER (342,671) (783,522) (250,982) (323,695) (294,448)
(645,760)  (3,293,020) (545,653) (915,569) (725,907)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE BERIEERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,559,725 6,872,975 12,212,480 10,498,860 6,683,935
TOTAL LIABILITIES mefE (5514,730)  (5,536,152)  (7582,381)  (6,599,813)  (2,799,469)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS kD (368,183) (9,643) 771,304 240,579 556,027
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